	UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549	
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE S	FORM 10-K ECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934	
	For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021	
	OR	
☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF T	HE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934	
	For the Transition period from to	
	Commission file number 1-08951	
	M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC. (Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)	
Delaware	(,	84-0622967
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)		(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
4350 South Monaco Street, Suite 500		80237
Denver, Colorado		(Zip code)
(Address of principal executive offices)		
	(303) 773-1100 (Registrant's telephone number, including area code)	
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:		
Title of each class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, \$.01 par value	552676108 552676AQ1	New York Stock Exchange New York Stock Exchange
6.000% Senior Notes due January 2043	3320/0AQ1	New Tork Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None		
Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as d Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursua Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports requir the Registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such fi Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically e	nt to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act. Yes $\Box$ ed to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchauliling requirements for the past 90 days. Yes $\times$ No 0	nge Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period the
12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to submit Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging the state of the state	such files). Yes × No 0 accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting	
Large Accelerated Filer	Accelerated Filer	☐ Emerging Growth Company ☐
Non-Accelerated Filer $\Box$	Smaller Reporting Company	
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the Registrant has to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐ Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has filed a report on and a	· ·	
Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 726(b)) by the registered public accounting firm th	•	
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined As of June 30, 2021, the aggregate market value of the Registrant's common	in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes $\square$ No $\boxtimes$	on based on the closing sales price of \$50.60 per share as reported on the No

York Stock Exchange on June 30, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, the number of shares outstanding of Registrant's common stock was 70,668,093.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of part III of this Form 10-K are incorporated by reference from the Registrant's 2022 definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after the end of the Registrant's fiscal year.

# M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC. FORM 10-K For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

# Table of Contents

		Page No.
PART I		
ITEM 1.	<u>Business</u>	1
	(a) General Development of Business	1
	(c) Description of Business (e) Available Information	1
ITEM 1A.	(g) Available information Risk Factors	
ITEM 1B.	Unresolved Staff Comments	1
ITEM 2.	Properties Properties	13
ITEM 3.	Legal Proceedings	13
ITEM 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	13
PART II		
ITEM 5.	Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities	14
ITEM 6.	[Reserved]	15
ITEM 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	10
ITEM 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	33
ITEM 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	F = 1
ITEM 9.	Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	34
ITEM 9A.	Controls and Procedures	34
ITEM 9B.	Other Information	36
ITEM 9C		36
DADT III	Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections	
PART III ITEM 10.	Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance	30
ITEM 10.	Executive Compensation	30
ITEM 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters	30
ITEM 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence	30
ITEM 14.	Principal Accountant Fees and Services	36
PART IV	Timepar Accountain Fees and Services	30
ITEM 15.	Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules	31
ITEM 16.	Form 10-K Summary	43
SIGNATURES	<u> 10111-10 11 10 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 1</u>	43
J. C. L. II OILLO		**

#### M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC.

#### FORM 10-K

#### PART I

#### Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as statements made by us in periodic press releases, oral statements made by our officials in the course of presentations about the Company and conference calls in connection with quarterly earnings releases, constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements include statements regarding our business, financial condition, results of operation, cash flows, strategies and prospects. These forward-looking statements may be identified by terminology such as "likely," "may," "will," "should," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "predicts," "potential" or "continue," or the negative of such terms and other comparable terminology. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements contained in this Report are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. However, any further disclosures made on related subjects in subsequent reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K should be considered.

#### Item 1. Business.

## (a) General Development of Business

M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. is a Delaware corporation. We refer to M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. as the "Company," "MDC," "we" or "our" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and these designations include our subsidiaries unless we state otherwise. We have two primary operations, homebuilding and financial services. Our homebuilding operations consist of wholly owned subsidiary companies that generally purchase finished lots or develop lots to the extent necessary for the construction and sale primarily of single-family detached homes to first-time and first-time move-up homebuyers under the name "Richmond American Homes." Our homebuilding operations are comprised of various homebuilding divisions that we consider to be our operating segments. For financial reporting, we have aggregated our homebuilding operating segments into reportable segments as follows: (1) West (includes operating segments located in Arizona, California, Nevada, New Mexico, Oregon, Texas and Washington); (2) Mountain (includes operating segments located in Colorado, Idaho and Utah); and (3) East (includes operating segments located in the mid-Atlantic, which includes Maryland, Pennsylvania and Virginia, Florida, and Tennessee).

Our financial services operations consist of (1) HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation ("HomeAmerican"), which originates mortgage loans primarily for our homebuyers, (2) Allegiant Insurance Company, Inc., A Risk Retention Group ("Allegiant"), which provides insurance coverage primarily to our homebuilding subsidiaries on homes that have been delivered and most of our subcontractors for completed work on those delivered homes, (3) StarAmerican Insurance Ltd. ("StarAmerican"), which is a re-insurer of Allegiant claims, (4) American Home Title and Escrow Company, which provides title agency services to our homebuilding subsidiaries and our customers in certain states. For financial reporting, we have aggregated our financial services operating segments into reportable segments as follows: (1) mortgage operations (represents HomeAmerican only) and (2) other (all remaining operating segments).

# (c) Description of Business

Our business consists of two primary operations, homebuilding and financial services. Our homebuilding subsidiaries build and sell primarily single-family detached homes that are designed and built to meet local customer preferences. Each homebuilding subsidiary is the general contractor for its projects and retains subcontractors for land development and home construction. Our homebuilding subsidiaries build a variety of home styles in each of their markets, targeting primarily first-time and first-time move-up homebuyers.

For 2021, the percentage of our home deliveries and home sale revenues by state were as follows:

	Percentage of Deliveries		Percentage of Home Sale Revenues	
Arizona	16	%	12	%
California	23	%	27	%
Nevada	11	%	11	%
Oregon	3	%	3	%
Washington	5	%	5	%
West	58	%	58	%
Colorado	23	%	26	%
Utah	5	%	5	%
Mountain	28	%	31	%
Maryland	2	%	3	%
Virginia	2	%	2	%
Florida	10	%	6	%
East	14	%	11	%
Total	100	%	100	%

Our financial services operations include subsidiaries that provide mortgage financing, place title insurance and homeowner insurance for our homebuyers, and provide general liability insurance for our subsidiaries and most of our subcontractors.

## **Homebuilding Operations**

Operating Divisions. The primary functions of our homebuilding segments include land acquisition and development, home construction, sales and marketing, and customer service. Operating decisions are made by our local management teams under the oversight of our Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM"), or decision-making group, defined as two key executives - our Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Our organizational structure (i.e., the grouping and reporting of divisions) changes based upon the current needs of the Company. We had 21 active homebuilding operating divisions at the end of December 31, 2021. We had 17 active homebuilding operating divisions at the end of December 31, 2020 and 15 active homebuilding operating divisions at the end of December 31, 2019.

Corporate Management. Our homebuilding business is managed primarily through members of senior management in our Corporate segment and our four Asset Management Committees ("AMCs"), three for reviewing real estate transactions and one for reviewing corporate transactions. Each real estate AMC is comprised of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and one of our other corporate officers, with the corporate AMC comprised of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. All real estate acquisition transactions are reviewed to confirm that the transaction is projected to achieve the objectives established by our decision-making group and must be approved by one of the real estate AMCs. Generally, the role of our senior management team and/or AMC includes:  $\frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2} \right) \left( \frac{1}{2}$ 

- review and approval of division business plans and budgets; oversight of land and home inventory levels;
- review of major personnel decisions; and review of capital allocation decisions.

Additionally, our corporate executives and corporate departments generally are responsible for establishing and monitoring compliance with our policies and procedures. Among other things, the corporate office has primary responsibility for:

- asset management and capital allocation;
- treasury; insurance and risk management;
- merchandising and marketing;
- national purchasing contracts;
- accounting, tax and internal audit functions;

#### Table of Contents

- · legal matters;
- human resources and payroll;
- information technology; and
- training and development

Housing. Generally, our homebuilding subsidiaries build single-family detached homes in a number of standardized series, designed to provide variety in the size and style of homes for our potential homebuyers. In certain markets, our homebuilding subsidiaries build and sell duplexes. Within each series of our single-family detached homes, our homebuilding subsidiaries build several different floor plans offering standard and optional features (such as upgraded appliances, cabinetry, flooring, etc.). Differences in sales prices of similar models from market-to-market depend primarily upon homebuyer demand, home prices offered by our competitors, market conditions (such as home inventory supply levels), location, cost of land, optional features and design specifications. The series of homes offered at a particular location is based on perceived customer preferences, lot size, area demographics and, in certain cases, the requirements of major land sellers and local municipalities. In general, our homebuilding subsidiaries focus on selling "build-to-order," also referred to as "dirt sales," and limit the number of homes started without a contract, also known as "spec homes."

Land Acquisition and Development. Our homebuilding subsidiaries acquire lots with the intention of constructing and selling homes on the acquired land. Generally, we prefer to purchase finished lots using option contracts, in phases or in bulk for cash. However, because there often is significant competition for finished lots, more than one-half of the lots we purchase require some level of development. In making land purchases, we consider a number of factors, including projected rates of return, estimated gross margins from home sales, sales prices of the homes to be built, mortgage loan limits within the respective county, population and employment growth patterns, proximity to developed areas, estimated cost and complexity of development including environmental and geological factors, quality of schools, estimated levels of competition and demographic trends.

In their option contracts, our homebuilding subsidiaries generally obtain the right to purchase lots in consideration for an option deposit in the form of cash or letters of credit. In the event they elect not to purchase the lots within a specified period of time, they may be required to forfeit the option deposit. Our option contracts do not contain provisions requiring our specific performance.

Our homebuilding subsidiaries may own or have the right under option contracts to acquire undeveloped parcels of real estate that they intend to develop into finished lots. They generally develop our land in phases in order to limit our risk in a particular subdivision and to efficiently employ available capital resources. Generally, building permits and utilities are available and zoning is suitable for the current intended use of substantially all of our undeveloped land. When developed, these lots generally will be used in our homebuilding activities. See "Forward-Looking Statements" above.

Labor and Raw Materials. Materials used in our homebuilding operations are mainly standard items carried by major suppliers. We generally contract for our materials and labor at a fixed price for the anticipated construction period of our homes. This allows us to mitigate the risks associated with increases in the cost of building materials and labor between the time construction begins on a home and the time it is closed. Increases in the cost of building materials and subcontracted labor may reduce gross margins from home sales to the extent that market conditions prevent the recovery of increased costs through higher home sales prices. From time to time and to varying degrees, we may experience shortages in the availability of building materials and/or labor in each of our markets. These shortages and delays may result in delays in the delivery of homes under construction, reduced gross margins from home sales, or both. See "Forward-Looking Statements" above. Current shortages in the availability of building materials and labor are described in more detail in our description of Risk Factors under the heading "Supply shortages and other risks related to the demand for skilled labor and building materials could continue to increase costs and delay deliveries."

Warranty. Our homebuilding subsidiaries sell their homes with limited third-party warranties that generally provide for ten years of structural coverage, two years of coverage for plumbing, electrical, heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems, and one year of coverage for workmanship and materials. Under our agreement with the issuer of the third-party warranties, our homebuilding subsidiaries perform all of the work for the first two years of the warranty coverage and pay for substantially all of the work required to be performed during years three through ten of the warranties.

Seasonal Nature of Business. The homebuilding industry can experience noticeable seasonality and quarter-to-quarter variability in homebuilding activity levels. The seasonal nature of our business is described in more detail in our description of Risk Factors under the heading "Because of the seasonal nature of our business, our quarterly operating results can fluctuate."

Backlog. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, homes under contract but not yet delivered ("backlog") totaled 7,640 and 6,655, respectively, with an estimated sales value of \$4.30 billion and \$3.26 billion, respectively. We anticipate that homes in backlog at December 31, 2021 generally will close during 2022 under their existing home order contracts or through the replacement of an existing contract with a new home order contract. The estimated backlog sales value at December 31, 2021 may be impacted by, among other things, subsequent home order cancellations, incentives provided, and/or options and upgrades selected. See "Forward-Looking Statements" above.

Customer Service and Quality Control. Our homebuilding divisions are responsible for pre-closing quality control inspections and responding to customers' post-closing needs. We have a product service and quality control program, focused on improving and/or maintaining the quality of our customers' complete home buying and homeownership experience.

Sales and Marketing. Our sales and marketing programs are designed to attract homebuyers in a cost effective manner. We have a centralized in-house advertising and marketing department, including digital marketing, that oversees our efforts to communicate the inherent value of our homes to our prospective homebuyers and distinguish our Richmond American Homes brand from our competitors or other home buying opportunities. The main objective of this team is to generate homebuyer leads, which are actively pursued by our community sales associates. Our centralized in-house merchandising team furnishes our model homes and sales offices.

Another important part of our marketing presentation takes place in our design centers (also known as Home Galleries). Here, homebuyers are able to personalize their homes with a variety of options and upgrades. These locations also serve as an information center for prospective homebuyers and real estate agents who may opt to receive personalized attention from one of our new home specialists, resulting in a more focused and efficient home search across all of our Richmond American communities in a given market place. We believe that the services provided by our Home Galleries represent a key competitive advantage in attracting and retaining prospective homebuyers.

Competition. The homebuilding industry is fragmented and highly competitive. The competitive nature of our business is described in more detail in our description of Risk Factors.

Regulation. Our homebuilding operations are subject to compliance with applicable laws and regulations, which are described in more detail in our description of Risk Factors.

#### Financial Services Operations

Mortgage Lending Operations

General. HomeAmerican is a full-service mortgage lender and the principal originator of mortgage loans for our homebuyers. HomeAmerican has a centralized loan processing center where it originates mortgage loans, primarily for our homebuyers.

HomeAmerican is authorized to originate Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae"), Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac") (together "the government-sponsored enterprises"), Federal Housing Administration-insured ("FHA"), and Department of Veterans Affairs-guaranteed ("VA") mortgages and is an authorized issuer of Government National Mortgage Association ("Ginnie Mae") mortgage-backed securities. Furthermore, HomeAmerican also is an authorized loan servicer for Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae and, as such, is subject to the rules and regulations of these entities.

HomeAmerican uses a mortgage repurchase facility, internally generated funds, and temporary financing provided by its parent, to finance the origination of mortgage loans until they are sold. HomeAmerican sells originated mortgage loans to third-party purchasers on either a bulk or flow basis. Mortgage loans sold on a bulk basis include the sale of a package of substantially similar originated mortgage loans, while sales of mortgage loans sold on third-party purchasers include HomeAmerican's representations and warranties with respect to certain borrower payment defaults, credit quality issues and/or misrepresentations made by HomeAmerican or our homebuyers. Substantially all of the mortgage loans originated by HomeAmerican are sold to third-party purchasers, generally between 5 to 35 days of origination.

Pipeline. HomeAmerican's mortgage loans in process for which a rate and price commitment had been made to a borrower that had not closed (the "locked pipeline") at December 31, 2021 and 2020 had an aggregate principal balance of approximately \$268.8 million and \$230.5 million, respectively, and were under interest rate lock commitments at an average interest rate of 2.91% and 2.69% respectively.

Forward Sales Commitments. HomeAmerican is exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates. HomeAmerican creates certain derivative instruments in the normal course of business, which primarily include commitments to originate mortgage loans (interest rate lock commitments or locked pipeline). HomeAmerican uses forward sales of mortgage-backed securities and commitments from third-parties to purchase loans to hedge the interest rate risk inherent with the locked pipeline, as well as its loan inventory held for sale. The market related risks in our business are described in more detail in our description of Risk Factors.

Competition. HomeAmerican has significant competition with other mortgage bankers to arrange financing for our homebuyers. However, in selling its originated mortgages to third parties, HomeAmerican has benefited from an increased number of smaller non-bank entities entering the third-party purchaser space, resulting in better prices and a potentially wider array of product options. The competitive nature of our mortgage business is described in more detail in our description of Risk Factors.

Regulation. Our mortgage lending operations are subject to compliance with applicable laws and regulations, which are described in more detail in our description of Risk Factors.

# Insurance Operations

General. Allegiant and StarAmerican were formed to provide insurance coverage of homebuilding risks for our homebuilding subsidiaries and most of our homebuilding subcontractors. Allegiant was organized as a risk retention group under the Federal Liability Risk Retention Act of 1981. Allegiant, which began operations in June of 2004, is licensed as a Class 3 Stock Insurance Company by the Division of Insurance of the State of Hawaii and is subject primarily to the regulations of its state of incorporation. StarAmerican is a single parent captive insurance company licensed by the Division of Insurance of the State of Hawaii. Pursuant to agreements executed on an annual basis since June of 2004, StarAmerican has re-insured Allegiant for all claims in excess of \$50,000 per occurrence up to \$3.0 million per occurrence, subject to various aggregate limits.

Allegiant generates premium revenue generally by providing to its customers, comprised of the Company's homebuilding subsidiaries and most subcontractors of the Company's homebuilding subsidiaries, general liability insurance on homes sold by our homebuilding subsidiaries and for work performed in completed subdivisions. Allegiant seeks to provide to its customers coverage and insurance rates that are competitive with other insurers. StarAmerican generates premium revenue by providing re-insurance coverage to Allegiant. Allegiant and StarAmerican incur expenses for actual losses and loss adjustment expenses and for reserves established based on actuarial studies including known facts, such as our experience with similar insurance cases and historical trends involving insurance claim payment patterns, pending levels of unpaid insurance claims, claim severity, claim frequency patterns and interpretations of circumstances including changing regulatory and legal environments.

Regulation. Allegiant and StarAmerican are licensed in the State of Hawaii and, therefore, are subject to regulation by the Hawaii Insurance Division. This regulation includes restrictions and oversight regarding: types of insurance provided; investment options; required capital and surplus; financial and information reporting; use of auditors, actuaries and other service providers; periodic examinations; and other operational items. Additionally, as a risk retention group, Allegiant is also registered in other states where certain MDC homebuilding subsidiaries do business.

## Insurance Agency Operations

American Home Insurance is an insurance agency that sells primarily homeowners' personal property and casualty insurance products in the same markets where our homebuilding subsidiaries operate and primarily to our homebuyers.

#### Title Operations

American Home Title provides title agency services to the Company and its homebuyers in Colorado, Florida, Maryland, Nevada, Pennsylvania and Virginia.

#### **Human Capital Resources**

The table below summarizes the approximate number of employees for our combined Homebuilding, combined Financial Services and Corporate segments at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

_	De	cember 31,
	2021	2020
Homebuilding	1,580	1,350
Financial Services	222	185
Corporate	278	238
Total	2,080	1,773

We believe our employees are one of our greatest assets and our Company is made up of diverse, talented and dedicated employees working together to achieve common and rewarding goals. We value integrity, hard work, dedication, energy and teamwork. Our goal is to promote an environment where employees are encouraged to do their best work with high professional standards, team collaboration and customer excellence.

At MDC we are committed to fostering a diverse and inclusive workplace. Our management teams and all of our employees are expected to exhibit and promote honest, ethical and respectful conduct in the workplace. We have implemented and maintained a corporate compliance program to provide guidance for everyone associated with the Company, including its employees, officers and directors (the "Code"). Annual review of the Code is required and it, in summary, prohibits unlawful or unethical activity, including discrimination, and directs our employees, officers, and directors to avoid actions that, even if not unlawful or unethical, might create an appearance of illegality or impropriety. In addition, the Code includes required annual training on preventing, identifying, reporting and stopping any type of unlawful discrimination.

We recognize that we are in a competitive marketplace when it comes to finding top talent. As a result, talent acquisition and the retention of employees continue to be a priority initiative for the Company. Our leaders across all levels of the organization consistently review their business metrics to determine appropriate workforce planning goals. We offer a variety of career paths for our employees; which includes consistent training and development through online resources, job shadowing, mentoring, etc. Our employees may participate in a robust henefits program, which includes a focus on health and wellness, and we offer a variety of other employee perks. We believe our compensation packages and benefits are competitive with others in our industry. We are committed to consistently evaluating total compensation across all positions within the Company.

As we look to the future, we will continue to leverage the core principles and practices that contributed to our past achievements, while welcoming new perspectives that allow our organization to evolve with the changing economic landscape. We will maintain our commitment to quality craftsmanship, providing excellent customer service, hiring from within when possible and fostering an internal culture that supports collaboration and teamwork as well as work-life balance.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we implemented safety protocols and procedures to protect our employees, our subcontractors and our customers. These protocols include complying with social distancing and other health and safety standards as mandated by state and local government agencies, taking into consideration guidance from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and other public health authorities. Certainly, there has been a significant shift to moving much of our workforce to a work from home/remote environment, particularly in Corporate and Division offices, to minimize in-person interactions. In addition, we have instituted a mandatory COVID-19 vaccination policy at our Corporate office, which was expanded to customer facing sales and home gallery personnel in January 2022.

### (e) Available Information

We make our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, available free of charge on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file or furnish the materials electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). To obtain any of this information, go to our website, <a href="https://www.mdcholdings.com">www.mdcholdings.com</a>, and select "SEC Filings" from the menu. Our website includes our: (1) Corporate Governance Guidelines; (2) Corporate Code of Conduct; (3) Rules for Senior Financial Officers; (4) Audit Committees Procedures for Handling Confidential Complaints; (5) charters for the Audit, Compensation, Legal and Corporate Governance/Nominating Committees; (6) Director Standards of Independence; and (7) Lead Director Description. These materials may be obtained, free of charge, at <a href="https://www.mdcholdings.com">www.mdcholdings.com</a> (select "Governance").

# Item 1A. Risk Factors.

# Public health issues such as the global Coronavirus/COVID-19 pandemic could harm business and results of operations of the Company.

Demand for our homes is dependent on a variety of macroeconomic factors, such as employment levels, availability of financing for homebuyers, interest rates, consumer confidence, wage growth, household formations, levels of new and existing homes for sale, cost of land, labor and construction materials, demographic trends and housing demand. These factors, in particular consumer confidence, can be significantly and adversely affected by a variety of factors beyond our control. In response to the pandemic, many state and local governments instituted restrictions that substantially limited the operations of non-essential businesses and the activities of individuals. As economic activity resumed upon the restrictive orders relating to COVID-19 being eased, demand for our homes improved significantly during the remainder of fiscal 2020 and remained strong throughout fiscal 2021. There is still significant uncertainty as a result of the pandemic and its continuing potential to negatively impact the U.S. economy. The degree to which the pandemic will impact our financial results in the coming periods depends on future developments that are highly uncertain, including new information that may emerge concerning the severity of the pandemic, whether there are additional outbreaks of COVID-19 and related variants and the actions taken to contain or address the virus. If the pandemic continues to cause significant negative impacts to the U.S. economy and consumer confidence, our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be significantly and adversely impacted.

## Changes in general economic, real estate and other business conditions may have an adverse effect on the homebuilding and mortgage industries, which could have a negative impact on our business.

The homebuilding industry is cyclical and is significantly affected by changes in industry conditions, the national political environment and general economic conditions such as:

- employment levels
- · availability of financing for homebuyers;
- interest rates;
- · consumer confidence:
- · wage growth;
- · household formations;
- · levels of new and existing homes for sale;
- · cost of land, labor and construction materials;
- · demographic trends; and
- · housing demand.

These conditions may exist on a national level or may affect some of the regions or markets in which we operate more than others. When adverse conditions affect any of our larger markets, they could have a proportionately greater impact on us than on some other homebuilding companies.

Changes to monetary policy or other actions by the Federal Reserve could have an adverse effect on interest rates (including mortgage interest rates), equity markets and consumer confidence. Such effects could cause us to experience declines in the market value of our inventory and the demand for our homes, resulting in a negative impact to our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

An oversupply of alternatives to new homes, including foreclosed homes, homes held for sale or rent by investors and speculators, other existing homes, and rental properties, can also reduce our ability to sell new homes, depress new home prices

and reduce our margins on the sale of new homes. High levels of foreclosures and short-sales not only contribute to additional inventory available for sale, but also can reduce appraisal valuations for new homes, potentially resulting in lower sales prices.

Terrorist attacks, acts of war, other acts of violence or threats to national security, and any corresponding response by the United States or others, or related domestic or international instability, may adversely affect general economic conditions or cause a slowdown of the economy.

As a result of the foregoing matters, potential customers may be less willing or able to buy our homes. In the future, our pricing strategies may be limited by market conditions. We may be unable to change the mix of our home offerings, reduce the costs of the homes we build or offer more affordable homes to maintain our gross margins or satisfactorily address changing market conditions in other ways. In addition, cancellations of home sales contracts in backlog may increase as homebuyers choose to not honor their contracts.

Additionally, the factors discussed above may increase our counterparty risk, which may include, among others, banks under our credit facilities and mortgage purchasers who may not be willing or able to perform on obligations to us. To the extent a third-party is unable or unwilling to meet its obligations, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows could be negatively impacted.

Our mortgage operations are closely related to our homebuilding business, as HomeAmerican originates mortgage loans principally to purchasers of the homes we build. Therefore, a decrease in the demand for our homes because of the preceding matters may also adversely affect the financial results of this segment of our business. Furthermore, any adverse changes in the economic conditions discussed previously could increase the default rate on the mortgages we originate, which may adversely affect our ability to sell the mortgages, the pricing we receive upon the sale of mortgages, or our potential exposure to recourse regarding mortgage loan sales.

These challenging conditions are complex and interrelated. We cannot predict their occurrence or severity, nor can we provide assurance that our responses would be successful.

# Increased competition levels in the homebuilding and mortgage lending industries could have a negative impact on our homebuilding and mortgage operations.

The homebuilding industry is fragmented and highly competitive. Our homebuilding subsidiaries compete with numerous public and private homebuilders, including a number that are substantially larger than us and may have greater financial resources than we do. Our homebuilding subsidiaries also compete with subdivision developers and land development companies, some of which are themselves homebuilders or affiliates of homebuilders compete for customers, land, building materials, subcontractor labor and desirable financing. Competition for home orders is based primarily on home sales price, location of property, home style, financing available to prospective homebuyers, quality of homes built, customer service and general reputation in the community, and may vary market-by-market and/or submarket-by-submarket. Additionally, competition within the homebuilding industry can be impacted by an excess supply of new and existing homes available for sale resulting from a number of factors, including, among other things, increases in the number of new home communities, increases in speculative homes available for sale and increases in home foreclosures. Increased competition can result in a decrease in our net new home orders, a decrease in our home sales prices and/or an increase in our home sales incentives in an effort to generate new home sales and maintain homes in backlog until they close. These competitive pressures may negatively impact our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Our mortgage lending subsidiary, HomeAmerican, experiences competition from numerous banks and other mortgage bankers and brokers, many of which are larger and may have greater financial resources. As a result, these competitors may be able to offer better pricing and/or mortgage loan terms, more relaxed underwriting criteria and a greater range of products, which could negatively impact the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of our mortgage operations.

#### If land is not available at reasonable prices or terms, we could be required to scale back our operations in a given market and/or we may operate at lower levels of profitability

Our operations depend on our homebuilding subsidiaries' ability to obtain land for the development of our residential communities at reasonable prices and with terms that meet our underwriting criteria. Our ability to obtain land for new residential communities may be adversely affected by changes in the general availability of land, the willingness of land sellers to sell land at reasonable prices, competition for available land, availability of financing to acquire land, zoning, regulations that limit housing density, and other market conditions. If the supply of land, and especially finished lots, appropriate for development of residential communities is limited because of these factors, or for any other reason, the number of homes that

our homebuilding subsidiaries build and sell may decline. To the extent that we are unable to purchase land timely or enter into new contracts for the purchase of land at reasonable prices, due to the lag time between the time we acquire land and the time we begin selling homes, we may be required to scale back our operations in a given market and/or we may operate at lower levels of profitability. As a result, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows could be negatively impacted.

# Supply shortages and other risks related to the demand for skilled labor and building materials could continue to increase costs and delay deliveries.

The residential construction industry experiences price fluctuations and shortages in labor and materials from time to time. Shortages in labor can be due to: competition for labor, work stoppages, labor disputes, shortages in qualified trades people, lack of availability of adequate utility infrastructure and services, or our need to rely on local subcontractors who may not be adequately capitalized or insured. Labor and material shortages can be more severe during periods of strong demand for housing or during periods in which the markets where we operate experience natural disasters that have a significant impact on existing residential and commercial structures. Additionally, we could experience labor shortages as a result of subcontractors going out of business or leaving the residential construction market due to low levels of housing production and volumes. Pricing for labor and materials can be affected by the factors discussed above, changes in energy prices, and various other national, regional and local economic factors. In addition, environmental and other regulations and import tariffs and trade restrictions have had, and in the future could continue to have, an adverse impact on the cost of certain raw materials such as lumber. Recalls of materials driven by manufacturing defects can drive shortages in materials and delay the delivery of homes. Any of these circumstances could give rise to delays in the start or completion of our residential communities, increase the cost of developing one or more of our residential communities and/or increase the construction cost of our homes. The effects of the pandemic combined with the strong demand for new homes has caused disruptions in our supply chain and has resulted in shortages of certain building materials and increased demand in the labor market, which has caused our land development and construction cycle times to lengthen and the costs of building materials and labor to increase.

We generally are unable to pass on increases in construction costs to customers who have already entered into sales contracts, as those sales contracts fix the price of the homes at the time the contracts are signed, which generally is in advance of the construction of the home. To the extent that market conditions prevent the recovery of increased costs, including, among other things, subcontracted labor, finished lots, building materials, and other resources, through higher selling prices, our financial position, cash flows and operating results, including our gross margin from home sales, could be negatively impacted.

## If mortgage interest rates rise, if down payment requirements are increased, if loan limits are decreased, or if mortgage financing otherwise becomes less available, it could adversely affect our business.

Mortgage liquidity influenced by governmental entities like the FHA, VA, USDA and Ginnie Mae or government-sponsored enterprises ("GSEs") like Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac continue to be an important factor in marketing our homes. Financial losses or other factors may limit, restrict or otherwise curtail their ability or willingness to insure mortgage loans, offer insurance at rates and on terms that are not prohibitive, or purchase mortgage loans. Should this occur, it may negatively impact the availability of mortgage financing and our sales of new homes.

We believe that the liquidity provided by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae to the mortgage industry has been very important to the housing market. The future of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are in question and any reduction in the availability of the liquidity provided by these institutions could adversely affect interest rates, mortgage availability and our sales of new homes and mortgage loans.

Loans sold to or insured by the GSEs are subject to various loan limits. Decreases in these loan limits may require homebuyers to make larger down payments or obtain more restrictive non-conforming or "jumbo" mortgages, which could adversely impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Even if potential customers do not need financing, changes in the availability of mortgage products may make it harder for them to sell their current homes to potential buyers who need financing.

If interest rates increase, the costs of owning a home may be affected and could result in further reductions in the demand for our homes.

## Changes to tax laws, incentives or credits currently available to our customers may negatively impact our business.

Many homeowners receive substantial tax benefits in the form of tax deductions against their personal taxable income for mortgage interest and property tax payments and the loss or reduction of these deductions could affect homeowners' net

cost of owning a home. Significant changes to existing tax laws, such as the ability to deduct mortgage interest and real property taxes, may result in an increase in the total cost of home ownership and may make the purchase of a home less attractive to buyers. This could adversely impact demand for and/or sales prices of new homes, which would have a negative impact on our business.

#### A decline in the market value of our homes or carrying value of our land would have a negative impact on our business.

Our homebuilding subsidiaries acquire land for the replacement of land inventory and/or expansion within our current markets and may, from time to time, purchase land for expansion into new markets. The fair value of our land and land under development inventory and housing completed or under construction inventory depends on market conditions. Factors that can impact our determination of the fair value of our inventory primarily include home sale prices, levels of home sale incentives and home construction and land costs. Our home sale prices and/or levels of home sale incentives can be impacted by, among other things, uncertainty in the homebuilding and mortgage industries or the United States/global economy overall, decreased demand for new homes, decreased home prices offered by our competitors, home foreclosure and short-sale levels, decreased ability of our homebuyers to obtain suitable mortgage loan financing and high levels of home order cancellations. Under such circumstances, we may be required to record impairments of our inventory. Any such inventory impairments would have a negative impact on our financial position and results of operations.

### Natural disasters could cause an increase in home construction costs, as well as delays, and could negatively impact our business.

The climates and geology of many of the markets in which we operate present increased risks of natural disasters. To the extent that hurricanes, severe storms, earthquakes, droughts, floods, heavy or prolonged precipitation, wildfires or other natural disasters or similar events occur, the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of our business may be negatively impacted.

## Changes in energy prices or regulations may have an adverse effect on our cost of building homes.

Some of the markets in which we operate are impacted by regulations related to energy, such as setbacks required from oil / gas drilling operations or restrictions on the use of land. To the extent that these regulations are modified, the value of land we already own or the availability of land we are looking to purchase may decline, which may adversely impact the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of our business. Furthermore, pricing offered by our suppliers and subcontractors can be adversely affected by increases in various energy costs resulting in a negative impact to our financial position, results of operations and cash flows of our business.

#### We have financial needs that we meet through the capital markets, including the debt and secondary mortgage markets, and disruptions in these markets could have an adverse impact on the results of our business.

We have financial needs that we meet through the capital markets, including the debt and secondary mortgage markets. Our requirements for additional capital, whether to finance operations or to service or refinance our existing indebtedness, fluctuate as market conditions and our financial performance and operations change. We cannot provide assurance that we will maintain cash reserves and generate sufficient cash flow from operations in an amount to enable us to service our debt or to fund other liquidity needs.

The availability of additional capital, whether from private capital sources or the public capital markets, fluctuates as our financial condition and market conditions in general change. There may be times when the private capital markets and the public debt or equity markets lack sufficient liquidity or when our securities cannot be sold at attractive prices, in which case we would not be able to access capital from these sources. Additionally, any reduction in our credit ratings and/or a weakening of our financial condition, could adversely affect our ability to obtain necessary funds. Even if financing is available, it could be costly or have other adverse consequences.

In addition, the sources and terms and conditions of our mortgage repurchase facility are subject to change. These changes may impact, among other things, availability of capital, cost of borrowings, collateral requirements and collateral advance rates.

Our business is subject to numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations concerning land development, construction of homes, sales, mortgage lending, environmental and other aspects of our business. These laws and regulations could give rise to additional liabilities or expenditures, or restrictions on our business.

Our operations are subject to continuing compliance requirements mandated by applicable federal, state and local statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations, including zoning and land use ordinances, building, plumbing and electrical codes, contractors' licensing laws, state insurance laws, federal and state human resources laws and regulations, and health and safety laws and regulations. Various localities in which we operate have imposed (or may impose in the future) fees on developers to fund schools, road improvements and low and moderate-income housing.

Availability of and costs related to permit, water/sewer tap, and impact fees can impact our homebuilding operations. From time to time, various municipalities in which our homebuilding subsidiaries operate restrict or place moratoria on the availability of utilities, including water and sewer taps. Additionally, certain jurisdictions in which our homebuilding subsidiaries operate have proposed or enacted "slow growth" or "no growth" initiatives and other measures that may restrict the number of building permits available in any given year. These initiatives or other similar measures could reduce our ability to open new subdivisions and build and sell homes in the affected markets. The availability issues previously discussed and any increases in costs of these fees may negatively impact our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Our homebuilding operations also are affected by regulations pertaining to availability of water, municipal sewage treatment capacity, land use, dust controls, oil and gas operations, building materials, population density and preservation of endangered species, natural terrain and vegetation.

We are subject to growing local, state and federal statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations concerning the protection of public health and the environment. These include regulating the emission or discharge of materials into the environment such as greenhouse gas emissions, storm water runoff, the handling, use, storage and disposal of hazardous substances, and impacts to wetlands and other sensitive environments. These restrictions and requirements could increase our operating costs and require additional capital investment, which could negatively impact our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Further, we have extensive operations in the western United States, where some of the most extensive environmental laws and building construction standards in the country have been enacted. We believe we are in compliance in all material respects with existing governmental environment restrictions, standards and regulations applicable to our business, and such compliance has not had a material impact on our business. Given the emerging and rapid changes of environmental laws and other matters that may arise that are not currently known, we cannot predict our future exposure, and our future costs to achieve compliance or remedy potential violations could be significant.

The particular environmental laws and regulations that apply to any given homebuilding project vary greatly according to a particular site's location, the site's environmental conditions and the present and former uses. These environmental laws may result in project delays, cause us to incur substantial compliance and other costs and/or prohibit or severely restrict homebuilding activity in certain environmentally sensitive locations. Environmental laws and regulations may also have a negative impact on the availability and price of certain raw materials, such as lumber.

Our revolving credit facility contains representations regarding anti-corruption and sanctions laws, a violation of which could result in an event of default.

We also are subject to rules and regulations with respect to originating, processing, selling and servicing mortgage loans, which, among other things: prohibit discrimination and establish underwriting guidelines; provide for audits and inspections; require appraisals and/or credit reports on prospective borrowers and disclosure of certain information concerning credit and settlement costs; establish maximum loan amounts; prohibit predatory lending practices; and regulate the referral of business to affiliated entities.

The regulatory environment for mortgage lending is complex and ever changing and has led to an increase in the number of audits and examinations in the industry. These examinations can include consumer lending practices, sales of mortgages to financial institutions and other investors and the practices in the financial services segments of homebuilding companies. New rules and regulations or revised interpretations of existing rules and regulations applicable to our mortgage lending operations could result in more stringent compliance standards, which may substantially increase costs of compliance.

#### In the ordinary course of business, we are required to obtain surety bonds, the unavailability of which could adversely affect our business.

As is customary in the homebuilding industry, we often are required to provide surety bonds to secure our performance under construction contracts, development agreements and other arrangements. Our ability to obtain surety bonds primarily depends upon our credit rating, capitalization, working capital, past performance, management expertise and certain external factors, including the overall capacity of the surety market and the underwriting practices of surety bond issuers. The ability to

obtain surety bonds also can be impacted by the willingness of insurance companies to issue surety bonds. If we are unable to obtain surety bonds when required, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely impacted.

## Product liability litigation and warranty claims that arise in the ordinary course of business may be costly.

As a homebuilder, we are subject to construction defect and home warranty claims, as well as claims associated with the sale and financing of our homes arising in the ordinary course of business. These types of claims can be costly. The costs of insuring against or directly paying for construction defect and product liability claims can be high and the amount of coverage offered by insurance companies may be limited. If we are not able to obtain adequate insurance against these claims, we may incur additional expenses that would have a negative impact on our results of operations in future reporting periods. Additionally, changes in the facts and circumstances of our pending litigation matters could have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

# Repurchase requirements associated with HomeAmerican's sale of mortgage loans, could negatively impact our business.

We are subject to risks associated with mortgage loans, including conventional mortgage loans, FHA and VA mortgage loans, second mortgage loans, high loan-to-value mortgage loans and jumbo mortgage loans (mortgage loans with principal balances that exceed various thresholds in our markets). These risks may include, among other things, compliance with mortgage loan underwriting criteria and the associated homebuyers' performance, which could require HomeAmerican to repurchase certain of those mortgage loans or provide indemnification. Repurchased mortgage loans and/or the settlement of claims associated with such loans could have a negative impact on HomeAmerican's financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

#### Because of the seasonal nature of our business, our quarterly operating results can fluctuate.

We may experience noticeable seasonality and quarter-to-quarter variability in homebuilding activity levels. In general, the number of homes delivered and the associated home sale revenues increase during the third and fourth quarters, compared with the first and second quarters. We believe that this type of seasonality reflects the historical tendency of homebuyers to purchase new homes in the spring and summer with deliveries scheduled in the fall or winter, as well as the scheduling of construction to accommodate seasonal weather conditions in certain markets.

#### We are dependent on the services of key employees, and the loss of their services could hurt our business.

Although we believe that we have made provision for adequately staffing current operations, because of competition for experienced homebuilding industry personnel, retaining our skilled people is an important area of focus. Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to attract, train and retain skilled personnel in the future, it could have an adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

## The interests of certain controlling shareholders may be adverse to other investors

Larry A. Mizel and David D. Mandarich beneficially own, directly or indirectly through their affiliates, in the aggregate, approximately 23% of our common stock. To the extent they and their affiliates vote their shares in the same manner, their combined stock ownership may effectively give them the power to influence the election of members of our board of directors and other matters reserved for our shareholders.

# Information technology failures and data security breaches could harm our business.

We use information technology and other computer resources to carry out important operational activities and to maintain our business records. These information technology systems are dependent upon electronic systems and other aspects of the internet infrastructure. A material breach in the security of our information technology systems or other data security controls could result in third parties obtaining or corrupting customer, employee or company data. To date, we have not had a material breach of data security, however such occurrences could have a material and adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

## Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

# Item 2. Properties.

Our corporate office is located at 4350 South Monaco Street, Denver, Colorado 80237, where we lease all 144,000 square feet of office space in the building. In many of our markets, our homebuilding divisions and other MDC subsidiaries lease additional office space. While we are currently satisfied with the suitability and capacity of our office locations to meet our current business needs, we continue to evaluate them in view of market conditions and the size of our operations.

## Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Because of the nature of the homebuilding business, we and certain of our subsidiaries and affiliates have been named as defendants in various claims, complaints and other legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, including product liability claims and claims associated with the sale and financing of our homes. In the opinion of management, the outcome of these ordinary course matters will not have a material adverse effect upon our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

# Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

# PART II

# Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

At December 31, 2021, we had 546 shareholders of record. The shares of our common stock are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol MDC. On January 28, 2019, the Company declared an 8% stock dividend that was distributed on February 28, 2019 to shareholders of record on February 14, 2019. On January 25, 2021, the Company declared an 8% stock dividend that was distributed on March 17, 2021 to shareholders of record on March 3, 2021. In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 260, "Earnings per Share", basic and diluted earnings per share amounts, weighted-average shares outstanding, and dividends declared per share have been restated for all periods presented to reflect the effect of these stock dividends.

The table below sets forth the cash dividends declared and paid in 2021, 2020 and 2019  $\,$ 

	Date of Declaration	Date of Payment		vidend : Share	Total Dividends Paid
			(In thousands)		
2021					
First Quarter	01/25/21	02/24/21	\$	0.37	\$ 25,978
Second Quarter	04/26/21	05/26/21		0.40	28,249
Third Quarter	07/26/21	08/25/21		0.40	28,276
Fourth Quarter	10/25/21	11/24/21		0.50	35,339
		•	\$	1.67	\$ 117,842
2020		-			
First Quarter	01/27/20	02/26/20	\$	0.31	\$ 20,768
Second Quarter	04/01/20	05/20/20		0.31	20,914
Third Quarter	07/27/20	08/26/20		0.31	21,374
Fourth Quarter	10/26/20	11/24/20		0.37	25,952
		•	\$	1.29	\$ 89,008
2019					
First Quarter	01/28/19	02/27/19	\$	0.26	\$ 17,019
Second Quarter	04/29/19	05/29/19		0.28	18,521
Third Quarter	07/22/19	08/21/19		0.28	18,700
Fourth Quarter	10/28/19	11/27/19		0.28	18,780
			\$	1.09	\$ 73,020

The following table provides information about our repurchases of common stock during the Three Months Ended December 31, 2021:

				Shares Purchased	Shares that
		Ax	erage	as Part of Publicly	may yet be
	Total Number of	Price Pa		Announced Plan	Purchased under the
Period:	Shares Purchased (1)	Per Shar		or Program (2)	Plan or Program (2)
October 1 to October 31, 2021			N/A		4,000,000
November 1 to November 30, 2021	_		N/A	_	4,000,000
December 1 to December 31, 2021	11,872	\$	55.83	_	4,000,000

Total Number of

Maximum Number of

- (1) Represents shares of common stock withheld by us to cover withholding taxes due upon the vesting of restricted stock award shares, at the election of certain holders of nonvested shares, with market value approximating the amount of withholding taxes due.
- (2) We are authorized to repurchase up to 4,000,000 shares of our common stock. There were no shares of MDC common stock repurchase dunder this repurchase program during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 or 2019. This repurchase authorization has no expiration.

#### Performance Graph

Set forth below is a graph comparing the yearly change in the cumulative total return of MDC's common stock with the cumulative total return of the S&P 500® Stock Index and with that of a peer group of other homebuilders over the five-year period ended December 31, 2021, weighted as of the beginning of that period.

It is assumed in the graph that \$100 was invested (1) in our common stock; (2) in the stocks of the companies in the S&P 500® Stock Index; and (3) in the stocks of the peer group companies, just prior to the commencement of the period and that all dividends received within a quarter were reinvested in that quarter. The peer group index is composed of the following companies: Beazer Homes USA, Inc., D.R. Horton, Inc., Hovnanian Enterprises, Inc., KB Home, Lennar Corporation, M/I Homes, Inc., Meritage Homes Corporation, NVR, Inc., PulteGroup, Inc. and Toll Brothers, Inc.

The stock price performance shown on the following graph is not indicative of future price performance.



Item 6. [Reserved]

# Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This item contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those indicated in such forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause such a difference include, but are not limited to, those discussed in "Item 1A, Risk Factors Relating to our Business." This section of this Form 10-K generally discusses 2021 and 2020 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2021 and 2020. Discussions of 2019 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2020 and 2019 that are not included in this Form 10-K can be found in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in Part II, Item 7 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

		2021			2020			2019
				(Dollars in th	ousands, except per sha	are amounts)		
Homebuilding:								
Home sale revenues	\$	5,102,456		\$	3,765,379		\$	3,205,248
Home cost of sales		(3,924,093)			(2,982,668)			(2,600,196)
Inventory impairments		(1,600)			_			(935)
Total cost of sales		(3,925,693)			(2,982,668)			(2,601,131)
Gross profit		1,176,763			782,711			604,117
Gross margin %	_	23.1	%		20.8	%		18.8
Selling, general and administrative expenses		(493,993)			(403,218)			(362,790)
Loss on debt retirement		(23,571)						_
Interest and other income		5,965			4,233			9,070
Other expense		(5,476)			(5,209)			(5,635)
Homebuilding pretax income		659,688			378,517			244,762
Financial Services:		150.010			105.000			
Revenues		152,212			135,832			88,005
Expenses		(64,477)			(52,465)			(45,001)
Other income (expense), net		4,271			(4,372)			17,223
Financial services pretax income		92,006			78,995			60,227
Income before income taxes		751,694			457,512			304,989
Provision for income taxes		(178,037)			(89,930)			(66,677)
Net income	\$	573,657		\$	367,582		\$	238,312
Earnings per share:		0.40		•	= 00			0.00
Basic	\$	8.13		\$	5.33		\$	3.56
Diluted	\$	7.83		\$	5.17		\$	3.44
Weighted average common shares outstanding:								
Basic		70,174,281			68,531,856			66,546,347
Diluted		72,854,601			70,676,581			68,798,879
Cash dividends declared per share	\$	1.67		\$	1.29		\$	1.09
Casii dividends decialed per share	3	1.07		3	1.29		Ф	1.09
Cash provided by (used in):								
Operating Activities	\$	(207,990)		\$	(23,095)		\$	57,833
Investing Activities	\$	(27,679)		\$	21,685		\$	(28,785)
Financing Activities	\$	335,156		S	31,170		\$	(24,975)

## EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

## Overview

Industry Conditions and Outlook for MDC\*

The Coronavirus/COVID-19 pandemic began impacting the U.S. economy during the latter part of March 2020, adversely affecting consumer demand, financial markets and employment levels. The homebuilding industry was not immune to the impact of the pandemic as we experienced an industry-wide decrease in traffic and order activity as well as increased cancellation levels during the months of March and April 2020. As economic activity resumed and restrictive orders relating to COVID-19 were eased, demand for our homes improved significantly during the remainder of 2020. While we have seen a return of more normal seasonal patterns during 2021, demand has remained strong throughout the year, driven by an improving economy, low interest rates and a continued focus on suburban homeownership. We believe many of these factors will continue to support new home demand in future periods. In contrast, the supply of new and existing homes has remained constrained, due in large part to the underproduction of new homes over the past decade. As a result of this supply-demand imbalance, we raised sales prices in the majority of our communities throughout the year in order to (1) offset cost increases, which have been significant due to cost inflation and labor and material shortages; (2) improve the profitability per home closed given current demand and limits on construction capacity, and; (3) reduce our sales absorption rate to keep our backlog at a level that is manageable for our construction personnel and trade suppliers.

Like many within the industry, we continue to experience shortages of certain building materials and tightness in labor markets for a variety of reasons, including the current supply-demand imbalance and disruptions caused by the pandemic. These disruptions have caused both our construction and land development times to extend. For instance, our average sale-to-close cycle time during the fourth quarter of 2021 was over nine months as compared to our more typical build time of six to eight months. We do not expect material or labor conditions to significantly improve in the near term.

Despite these challenges, we achieved record levels of home sale revenues and consolidated net income for the full year ended December 31, 2021. Our backlog at December 31, 2021 was 7,640 homes with an estimated dollar value of \$4.30 billion, up 15% and 32%, respectively, as compared to our backlog at December 31, 2020. This was our highest ever year-end backlog in both units and dollars. In addition, we approved over 20,000 lots for acquisition during the year, resulting in a 29% year-over-year increase in lots owned and optioned to approximately 38,000 lots as of year-end. These metrics bode well for our growth prospects, as does our strategic entry into the Boise, Nashville, Austin and Albuquerque markets during the year. Financial services pretax income reached record levels in 2021, driven largely by our mortgage operations, which has benefited from increased profitability per loan originated during 2020 and early 2021. As competition in the primary mortgage market has increased, we have seen these profit margins return to more historical levels. Overall, we remain cautious and continue to closely monitor developments related to COVID-19, which are highly uncertain and could adversely and materially impact our operations and financial results in future periods.

We ended the year with total liquidity of \$1.75 billion following the optional redemption in December 2021 of the remaining \$126.4 million of our 5.500% senior notes, which were scheduled to mature in January 2024. This lowered our debt to capital ratio quarter-over-quarter to 36.5% as of December 31, 2021. We believe that our financial position ranks among the best in the homebuilding industry and provides us with the capital resources to drive the continued growth of our business.

Results for the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2021

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we reported net income of \$573.7 million, or \$7.83 per diluted share, a 56% increase compared to net income of \$367.6 million, or \$5.17 per diluted share, for the prior year period. Both our homebuilding and financial services businesses contributed to these year-over-year improvements, as pretax income from our homebuilding operations increased \$281.2 million, or 74%, and our financial services pretax income increased \$13.0 million, or 16%. The increase in homebuilding pretax income was the result of a 330 basis point increase in our operating margin and a 36% increase in home sale revenues. These increases were partially offset by a loss on debt retirement of \$23.6 million. The increase in operating margin is the result of our improved pricing over the last twelve months as well as better operating leverage as we continue to grow our homebuilding operations, partially offset by increased supply costs. The increase in financial services pretax income was primarily due to the overall increase in volume of our homebuilding operations. Additionally, \$8.3 million of net losses on equity securities were recognized in the prior year period, Both

The dollar value of our net new home orders increased 11% from the prior year, due to a 11% increase in the average selling price of orders. The increase in the average selling price was the result of price increases implemented over the past twelve months.

\* See "Forward-Looking Statements" abov

## Homebuilding

Pretax Income (Loss)

	Year Ended December 31,												
			C	hange					Cl	nange			
	 2021		Amount	Amount %			2020		Amount				2019
						(Doll	ars in thousands)						
West	\$ 463,302	\$	233,351	101	%	\$	229,951	\$	66,882	41	%	\$	163,069
Mountain	231,523		56,522	32	%		175,001		38,688	28	%		136,313
East	59,494		39,488	197	%		20,006		10,149	103	%		9,857
Corporate	(94,631)		(48,190)	104	%		(46,441)		18,036	(28)	%		(64,477)
Total homebuilding pretax income	\$ 659,688	\$	281,171	74	%	\$	378,517	\$	133,755	55	%	\$	244,762

Homebuilding pretax income for 2021 was \$659.7 million, an increase of \$281.2 million from \$378.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to a 36% increase in home sale revenues, a 230 basis point improvement in gross margin from home sales and a 100 basis point decrease in our selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue.

Our West segment experienced a \$233.4 million year-over-year increase in pretax income, due to a 41% increase in home sale revenues and an improved gross margin. Our Mountain segment experienced a \$56.5 million increase in pretax income from the prior year, as a result of a 21% increase in home sale revenues and an improved gross margin. Our East segment experienced a \$39.5 million increase in pretax income from the prior year, primarily due to a 56% increase in home sale revenues and an improved gross margin. Each of our homebuilding segments also benefited from decreased selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue driven by improved operating leverage. Our Corporate segment experienced an \$48.2 million increase in pretax loss, due to the \$23.6 million loss on retirement of debt recognized in the current year, increased stock-based and deferred compensation expenses, increased payroll expense due to higher headcount and increased bonus expense.

Assets

	De	cember 31,		Change					
	2021			Amount %					
			s in thousands)						
West	\$ 2,472,378	\$	1,855,567	\$	616,811	33	%		
Mountain	1,072,717		905,007		167,710	19	%		
East	450,675		274,937		175,738	64	%		
Corporate	547,364		470,909		76,455	16	%		
Total homebuilding assets	\$ 4,543,134	\$	3,506,420	\$	1,036,714	30	%		

Total homebuilding assets increased 30% from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021. Increases in each of our homebuilding segments were the result of increases in our inventory balances. These increases were driven by an increase in homes completed or under construction as of period end and, with the exception of our Mountain segment, a greater number of lots acquired during the period than those delivered to homebuyers. The increase in our Corporate segment was due to the proceeds from the issuance of senior notes during the year. This increase was partially offset by the funding of land acquisitions and construction activity by our Corporate Segment as well as the retirement of our \$250 million 5.500% senior notes, which were scheduled to mature in January 2024.

New Home Deliveries & Home Sale Revenues:

Changes in home sale revenues are impacted by changes in the number of new homes delivered and the average selling price of those delivered homes. Commentary for each of our segments on significant changes in these two metrics is provided below.

		December 31,														
-			2021					2020					% C	hange		
_	Homes		Dollar Value		Average Price	Homes		Dollar Value		Average Price	Н	omes		ollar alue		verage Price
-								(Dollars in thousar	nds)							
West	5,732	\$	2,964,766	\$	517.2	4,412	\$	2,106,241	\$	477.4	30	%	41	%	8	
Mountain	2,770		1,567,198		565.8	2,530		1,293,779		511.4	9	%	21	%	11	
East	1,480		570,492		385.5	1,216		365,359		300.5	22	%	56	%	28	
Total	9,982	\$	5,102,456	\$	511.2	8,158	\$	3,765,379	\$	461.6	22	%	36	%	11	- 1

December 31

					December 51,						
		2020			2019			% Change			
	Dollar Homes Value		Average Price	Homes	Dollar Value	Average Price	Homes	Dollar Value	Average Price		
					(Dollars in thousand	ds)					
West	4,412	\$ 2,106,241	\$ 477.4	3,763	\$ 1,771,061	\$ 470.7	17 %	19 %	1 %		
Mountain	2,530	1,293,779	511.4	2,242	1,131,568	504.7	13 %	14 %	1 %		
East	1,216	365,359	300.5	969	302,619	312.3	25 %	21 %	(4)%		
Total	8,158	\$ 3,765,379	\$ 461.6	6,974	\$ 3,205,248	\$ 459.6	17 %	17 %	— %		

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the number of new homes delivered in each of our segments was negatively impacted by an increase in construction cycle times. Our average sale-to-close cycle time during the year ended December 31, 2021 was approximately 36 weeks. Cycle times increased approximately five weeks year-over-year, from the year-ended December 31, 2020 to the year-ended December 31, 2021. This increase was primarily the result of extended permitting times, supply chain disruptions and labor shortages as a result of the pandemic as well as the increased demand for new homes.

## West Segment Commentary

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the increase in new home deliveries was the result of an increase in the number of homes in backlog to begin the year. This increase was partially offset by a decrease in backlog conversion rates in most of our markets within this segment as a result of the increased construction cycle times discussed above. The average selling price of homes delivered increased as a result of price increases implemented over the last twelve months as well as a shift in geographic mix of homes delivered from Arizona to Southern California. These increases were partially offset by a shift in mix to lower priced communities.

Mountain Segment Commentary

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the increase in new home deliveries was the result of an increase in the number of homes in backlog to begin the year. This increase was partially offset by a decrease in backlog conversion rates as a result of the increased construction cycle times discussed above. The average selling price of homes delivered increased as a result of price increases implemented over the last twelve months

East Segment Commentary.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the increase in new home deliveries was the result of an increase in the number of homes in backlog to begin the year. This increase was partially offset by a decrease in backlog conversion rates as a result of the increased construction cycle times discussed above. The average selling price of homes delivered increased as a result of price increases implemented over the last twelve months. Additionally, we experienced a shift in mix within several markets to higher priced communities.

## Gross Margin

Our gross margin from home sales for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased 230 basis points year-over-year from 20.8% to 23.1%. Gross margin from home sales increased across each of our segments driven by price increases implemented across nearly all of our communities over the past twelve months. Our gross margin from home sales was also positively impacted by a decrease in our capitalized interest in cost of sales as a percentage of home sale revenues. These improvements were partially offset by an increase in building material and labor costs year-over-year.

#### Inventory Impairment

Inventory impairments recognized by segment for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 are shown in the table below.

		Year Ended	December 31,			
	2021	-	2020		2019	
		(Dollars i	n thousands)		<u>.</u>	
Housing Completed or Under Construction:						
West	\$ 1,600	\$	_	\$	100	
Mountain	_		_		0	
East	_		_		435	
Subtotal	1,600				535	
Land and Land Under Development:						
West	_		_		_	
Mountain	_		_		400	
East	_		_		_	
Subtotal					400	
Total Inventory Impairments	\$ 1,600	\$		\$	935	

The table below provides quantitative data, for the periods presented, where applicable, used in determining the fair value of the impaired inventory.

		]		Quantitative Data		
Three Months Ended	Number of Subdivisions Impaired	In Impairm	ventory ents	Fa Inventory After	ir Value of Impairments	Discount Rate
		(De	ollars in thous	sands)		
December 31, 2021	1		1,600	\$	6,903	N/A
Total	_	\$	1,600			
	_					
March 31, 2019	2	\$	610	\$	10,476	N/A
December 31, 2019	2		325		3,948	N/A
Total	_	\$	935			

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

			Year Ended December 31,		
•	2021	Change	2020	Change	2019
•			(Dollars in thousands)		
General and administrative expenses	\$246,042	\$61,322	\$184,720	\$9,693	\$175,027
General and administrative expenses as a percentage of home sale revenues	4.8%	(10) bps	4.9%	(60) bps	5.5%
Marketing expenses	\$104,435	\$9,332	\$95,103	\$13,488	\$81,615
Marketing expenses as a percentage of home sale revenues	2.0%	(50) bps	2.5%	0 bps	2.5%
Commissions expenses	\$143,516	\$20,121	\$123,395	\$17,247	\$106,148
Commissions expenses as a percentage of home sale revenues	2.8%	(50) bps	3.3%	0 bps	3.3%
Total selling, general and administrative expenses	\$493,993	\$90,775	\$403,218	\$40,428	\$362,790
Total selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of home sale revenues (SG&A Rate)	9.7%	(100) bps	10.7%	(60) bps	11.3%

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the increase in our general and administrative expenses was primarily due to (1) increased stock-based and deferred compensation expenses, (2) increased bonus expense and (3) increased salary related expenses due to higher average headcount.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, marketing expenses increased as a result of increased deferred selling amortization and master marketing fees resulting from increased closings.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, commissions expenses increased as a result of the increase in home sale revenues year-over-year.

## Other Homebuilding Operating Data

Net New Orders and Active Subdivisions:

Changes in the dollar value of net new orders are impacted by changes in the number of net new orders and the average selling price of those homes. Commentary for each of our segments on significant changes in these two metrics is provided below

								1	December 31,				
_				2021					2020				
_	Homes	V	Dollar alue	Pric	Average e	Monthly Absorption Rate *	Homes	Dollar Value	Average Pric	Monthly Absorption Rate *	Н	Iomes	Do
								(Dol	lars in thousands)				
West	6,238	\$	3,417,437	\$	547.8	5.25	6,099	\$ 3,078,584	\$ 504	.8 5.29	2	%	11
Mountain	2,926		1,831,755		626.0	4.33	3,337	1,818,833	54	.1 4.46	(12)	%	1
East	1,803		789,810		438.1	4.05	1,576	562,419	35	i.9 4.27	14	%	40
Total	10,967	\$	6,039,002	\$	550.7	4.75	11,012	\$ 5,459,836	\$ 495	.8 4.85	_	%	11

							Dec	embe	r 31,					
			2020	1				2019					% Change	
	Homes	Dollar Value		Average Price	Monthly Absorption Rate *	Homes	Dollar Value	A	verage Price	Monthly Absorption Rate *	Homes	Dollar Value	Average Price	Monthly Absorption Rate *
							(Dollars	in the	ousands)					
West	6,099	\$ 3,078,584	\$	504.8	5.29	4,263	\$ 1,963,489	\$	460.6	3.91	43 %	57 %	10 %	35 %
Mountain	3,337	1,818,833		545.1	4.46	2,410	1,189,193		493.4	3.04	38 %	53 %	10 %	47 %
East	1,576	562,419		356.9	4.27	1,166	342,469		293.7	3.68	35 %	64 %	22 %	16 %
Total	11,012	\$ 5,459,836	\$	495.8	4.85	7,839	\$ 3,495,151	\$	445.9	3.56	40 %	56 %	11 %	36 %

\*Calculated as total net new orders in period ÷ average active communities during period ÷ number of months in period

		Active Subdivisions			Average Active Subdivisions						
		December 31,				Year Ended Dece	mber 31,				
	2021	2020	% Change		2021	2020	% Change				
West	96	103	(7)	%	99	96	3	%			
Mountain	54	60	(10)	%	56	62	(10)	%			
East	37	31	19	%	37	31	19	%			
Total	187	194	(4)	%	192	189	2	%			

# West Segment Commentary

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the increase in average selling price was due to price increases implemented over the past twelve months within nearly all of our communities. This increase was slightly offset by a shift in mix to lower priced communities.

Mountain Segment Commentary

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the decrease in net new orders was due to a decrease in average active subdivisions within our Colorado markets. The increase in average selling price was due to price increases implemented over the last twelve months within nearly all of our communities.

East Segment Commentary.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the increase in net new orders was due to an increase in average active subdivisions within our Florida markets. This increase was partially offset by a decrease in the monthly sales absorption rate. The processes in average selling price was due to price increases implemented over the last twelve months within nearly all of our communities. Additionally, we experienced a shift in mix within several markets to higher priced communities.

Cancellation Rate:

				Cancellations As a Percer	ntage of Gros	ss Sales		
	-			December	r 31,			
	2021		Change	2020		Change		2019
West	16	%	(1) %	17	%	(1)	%	18 %
Mountain	18	%	(4) %	22	%	(2)	%	24 %
East	18	%	(6) %	24	%	_	%	24 %
Total	17	%	(2) %	19	%	(2)	%	21 %

Our cancellations as a percentage of gross sales ("cancellation rate") decreased from 19% for the year ended December 31, 2020 to 17% for the year ended December 31, 2021. This was driven by the higher cancellation rates incurred during the first and second quarter of 2020 as a result of general economic uncertainty surrounding the pandemic.

Consistent with our quarterly homebuilding operating data provided, we have also included below the cancellations as a percentage of homes in beginning backlog for each quarter during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

		Cancenations As a Feternage of Homes in Deginning Backlog														
					2021								2020			
•								Three M	Months Ended							
	Dec	31	Se	p 30	Jui	n 30	Ma	ar 31 Dec 31			Sep	30	Jun	30	Mā	ar 31
West	9	%	8	%	5	%	7	%	7	%	11	%	14	%	15	%
Mountain	8	%	7	%	5	%	8	%	9	%	12	%	20	%	22	%
East	10	%	7	%	9	%	13	%	10	%	18	%	22	%	23	%
Total	9	%	7	%	6	%	8	%	8	%	12	%	17	%	18	%

Backlog:

													_
					December 31,								
		2021			2020					% C	hange		
		Dollar	Average		Dollar		Average				ollar		
	Homes	Value	Price	Homes	Value		Price	Ho	mes	Va	alue	Averag	ge Pric
					(Dollars in thousand	ds)							
West	4,216	\$ 2,328,949	\$ 552.4	3,710	\$ 1,831,205	\$	493.6	14	%	27	%	12	
Mountain	2,174	1,402,052	644.9	2,018	1,090,557		540.4	8	%	29	%	19	
East	1,250	567,695	454.2	927	341,439		368.3	35	%	66	%	23	
Total	7,640	\$ 4,298,696	\$ 562.7	6,655	\$ 3,263,201	\$	490.3	15	%	32	%	15	-

At December 31, 2021, we had 7,640 homes in backlog with a total value of \$4.30 billion, representing respective increases of 15% and 32% from December 31, 2020. The increase in the number of homes in backlog is primarily a result of an increase in cycle times within nearly all of our markets. The increase in the average selling price of homes in backlog is due to price increases implemented over the past twelve months in nearly all of our communities as well as a shift in our net new order mix in our East segment as discussed above. Our ability to convert backlog into closings could be adversely and materially impacted in future periods by the pandemic, the extent to which is highly uncertain and depends on future developments.

Homes Completed or Under Construction:

	D	ecember 31,		
	2021	2020	% Change	
Unsold:				
Completed	25	48	(48)	%
Under construction	312	131	138	%
Total unsold started homes	337	179	88	%
Sold homes under construction or completed	6,379	4,797	33	%
Model homes under construction or completed	479	498	(4)	%
Total homes completed or under construction	7,195	5,474	31	%

The increase in sold homes under construction or completed is due to the year-over-year increase in the number of homes in backlog noted above as well as a 1,100 basis point decrease year-over-year in the number of homes in backlog that were sold but where construction had not yet started as of period end.

Lots Owned and Optioned (including homes completed or under construction):

		December 31, 20	21		December 31, 202	0		
	Lots Owned	Lots Optioned	Total	Lots Owned	Lots Optioned	Total	Total % Change	
West	15,9	68 4,534	20,502	12,335	3,460	15,795	30	%
Mountain	6,6	60 4,171	10,831	6,279	2,591	8,870	22	%
East	4,3	04 2,443	6,747	2,868	1,936	4,804	40	%
Total	26,9	32 11,148	38,080	21,482	7,987	29,469	29	%

Our total owned and optioned lots at December 31, 2021 were 38,080, up 29% from December 31, 2020. We believe that our total lot supply can support growth in future periods. See "Forward-Looking Statements" above.

Financial Services Year Ended December 31, 2019 2021 2020 (Dollars in thousands) Amount Amount Financial services revenues Mortgage operations 107,535 5,860 6 % 101,675 46,453 84 % 55,222 Other 44,677 10,520 31 % 34,157 1,374 4 % 32,783 Total financial services revenues 152,212 16,380 12 % 135,832 47,827 54 % 88,005 Financial services pretax income 142 % \$ Mortgage operations Other (2)% 183 % 69,455 \$ (1,562) 71,017 \$ 41,705 29,312 (22,937) 18,768 (74)% 22.551 14.573 7.978 30.915 13,011 31 % Total financial services pretax income 16 %

For the year ended December 31, 2021, our financial services revenues increased \$16.4 million, or 12% from the same period in the previous year. The increase was due to our other financial services segment, which saw an increase in revenue of \$10.5 million. This increase was the result of increased homebuilding volume, mostly offset by increased competition in the primary mortgage market.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, our financial services pretax income increased \$13.0 million or 16% from the same period in the prior year. The increase was due to our other financial services segment, which saw an increase in pretax income of \$14.6 million. This increase was the result of \$8.3 million of net losses on equity securities recognized during the prior year period and to a lesser extent the increase in volume of our homebuilding operations. The decrease to our mortgage

operations was due to increased compensation related costs, partially offset by a \$3.5 million gain recognized on the sale of conventional mortgage servicing rights during the period and increased homebuilding volume.

 $The \ table \ below \ sets \ for th \ information \ for \ our \ mortgage \ operations \ relating \ to \ mortgage \ loans \ originated \ and \ capture \ rate.$ 

	Year Ended December 31, % or Percentage % or Percentage												
		2021		% or Perce Change	entage		2020		% or Perce Change	entage		2019	
							(Dollars in thousands)						
Total Originations:													
Loans		6,247		10	%		5,688		30	%		4,361	
Principal	\$	2,622,158		23	%	\$	2,140,229		35	%	\$	1,585,487	
Capture Rate Data:													
Capture rate as % of all homes delivered		62	%	(7)	%		69	%	7	%		62	%
Capture rate as % of all homes delivered (excludes cash sales)		65	%	(7)	%		72	%	5	%		67	%
Mortgage Loan Origination Product Mix:													
FHA loans		16	%	(6)	%		22	%	3	%		19	%
Other government loans (VA & USDA)		19	%	(2)	%		21	%	1	%		20	%
Total government loans		35	%	(8)	%		43	%	4	%		39	%
Conventional loans		65	%	8	%		57	%	(4)	%		61	%
		100	%	_	%		100	%	_	%		100	%
Loan Type:			_					_		_			
Fixed rate		100	%	_	%		100	%	2	%		98	%
ARM		_	%	_	%		_	%	(2)	%		2	%
Credit Quality:													
Average FICO Score		740		1	%		735		_	%		738	
Other Data:													
Average Combined LTV ratio		84	%	(1)	%		85	%	2	%		83	%
Full documentation loans		100	%	_	%		100	%	_	%		100	%
Loans Sold to Third Parties:													
Loans		6,210		10	%		5,620		33	%		4,217	
Principal	\$	2,563,637		22	%	\$	2,104,624		37	%	\$	1,532,214	

## Income Taxes

We recorded an income tax provision of \$178.0 million, \$89.9 million and \$66.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and our resulting effective income tax rates were 23.7%, 19.7% and 21.9%, respectively. Our tax provision and effective tax rate is driven by (i) pre-tax book income for the full year, adjusted for items that are deductible/non-deductible for tax purposes only (i.e., permanent items); (ii) benefits from federal energy credits; (iii) taxable income generated in state jurisdictions that varies from consolidated income and (iv) stock based compensation windfalls recorded as discrete items. The difference between our effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the federal statutory rate was primarily due to 3.5% in state taxes and 2.0% for limitations on deductible executive compensation, partially offset by (1.9)% in benefits for federal energy credits and (0.5)% in benefits for the reversal of uncertain tax positions related to expiration of statutory limitations.

#### LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We use our liquidity and capital resources to (1) support our operations, including the purchase of land, land development and construction of homes; (2) provide working capital; and (3) provide mortgage loans for our homebuyers. Our liquidity includes our cash and cash equivalents, Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below) and Mortgage Repurchase Facility (as defined below). Additionally, we have an existing effective shelf registration statement that allows us to issue equity, debt or hybrid securities up to \$2.0 billion, of which \$1.0 billion remains.

#### Material Cash Requirements

We are a party to many contractual obligations involving commitments to make payments to third parties. These obligations impact our short-term and long-term liquidity and capital resource needs. Certain contractual obligations are reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2021, while others are considered future commitments. Our contractual obligations primarily consist of long-term debt and related interest payments, payments due on our Mortgage Repurchase Facility, purchase obligations related to expected acquisition of land under purchase agreements and land development agreements (many of which are secured by letters of credit or surety bonds) and operating leases. Other material cash requirements include land acquisition and development costs not yet contracted for, home construction costs, operating expenses, including our selling, general and administrative expenses, investments and funding of capital improvements and dividend payments.

At December 31, 2021, we had outstanding senior notes with varying maturities totaling an aggregate principal amount of \$1.5 billion, with none payable within 12 months. Future interest payments associated with the notes total \$1.4 billion, with \$64.2 million payable within 12 months. As of December 31, 2021, we had \$34.7 million of required operating lease future minimum payments.

At December 31, 2021, we had deposits of \$41.6 million in the form of cash and \$19.6 million in the form of letters of credit that secured option contracts to purchase 11,148 lots for a total estimated purchase price of \$1.0 billion.

At December 31, 2021, we had outstanding surety bonds and letters of credit totaling \$371.3 million and \$215.5 million, respectively, including \$175.4 million in letters of credit issued by HomeAmerican. The estimated cost to complete obligations related to these bonds and letters of credit were approximately \$201.7 million and \$161.6 million, respectively. We expect that the obligations secured by these performance bonds and letters of credit generally will be performed in the ordinary course of business and in accordance with the applicable contractual terms. To the extent that the obligations are performed, the related performance bonds and letters of credit should be released and we should not have any continuing obligations. However, in the event any such performance bonds or letters of credit are called, our indemnity obligations could require us to reimburse the issuer of the performance bond or letter of credit. We have made no material guarantees with respect to third-party obligations.

## Capital Resources

Our capital structure is primarily a combination of (1) permanent financing, represented by stockholders' equity; (2) long-term financing, represented by our 3.850% senior notes due 2030, 2.500% senior notes due 2031, 6.000% senior notes due 2043, and 3.966% senior notes due 2061; (3) our Revolving Credit Facility and (4) our Mortgage Repurchase Facility. During the year-ended December 31, 2021, we accelerated the retirement of all of our \$250 million 5.500% senior notes, which were scheduled to mature in January 2024 (see Note 16, *Lines of Credit and Total Debt Obligations*, in the notes to the financial statements for further discussion). Because of our current balance of cash, cash equivalents, ability to access the capital markets, and available capacity under both our Revolving Credit Facility and Mortgage Repurchase Facility, we believe that our capital resources are adequate to satisfy our short and long-term capital requirements, including meeting future payments on our senior notes as they become due. See "Forward-Looking Statements" above.

We may from time to time seek to retire or purchase our outstanding senior notes through cash purchases, whether through open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. Such repurchases, if any, will depend on prevailing market conditions, our liquidity requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors. The amounts involved may be material.

#### Senior Notes, Revolving Credit Facility and Mortgage Repurchase Facility

Senior Notes. Our senior notes are not secured and, while the senior note indentures contain some restrictions on secured debt and other transactions, they do not contain financial covenants. Our senior notes are fully and unconditionally

guaranteed on an unsecured basis, jointly and severally, by most of our homebuilding segment subsidiaries. We believe that we are in compliance with the representations, warranties and covenants in the senior note indentures.

Revolving Credit Facility. We have an unsecured revolving credit agreement ("Revolving Credit Facility") with a group of lenders, which may be used for general corporate purposes. This agreement was amended on December 28, 2020 to (1) increase the aggregate commitment from \$1.0 billion to \$1.2 billion (the "Commitment"), (2) extend the Revolving Credit Facility maturity of \$1.125 billion of the Commitments to December 18, 2025 with the remaining Commitments continuing to terminate on December 18, 2023 and (3) provide that the aggregate amount of the commitments may increase to an amount not to exceed \$1.7 billion upon our request, subject to receipt of additional commitments from existing or additional lenders and, in the case of additional lenders, the consent of the co-administrative agents. As defined in the Revolving Credit Facility, interest rates on base rate borrowings are equal to the highest of (1) 0.0%, (2) a prime rate, (3) a federal funds effective rate plus 1.50%, and (4) a specified eurocurrency rate plus 1.00% and, in each case, plus a margin that is determined based on our credit ratings and leverage ratio. Interest rates on eurocurrency borrowings are equal to a specified eurocurrency rate plus a margin that is determined based on our credit ratings and leverage ratio. At any time at which our leverage ratio, as of the last day of the most recent calendar quarter, exceeds 55%, the aggregate principal amount of all consolidated senior debt borrowings outstanding may not exceed the borrowing base. There is no borrowing base requirement if our leverage ratio, as of the last day of the most recent calendar quarter, is 55% or less.

The Revolving Credit Facility provides for a transition from the eurocurrency rate to a benchmark replacement upon the occurrence of certain events.

The Revolving Credit Facility is fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by most of our homebuilding segment subsidiaries. The facility contains various representations, warranties and covenants that we believe are customary for agreements of this type. The financial covenants include a consolidated tangible net worth test and a leverage test, along with a consolidated tangible net worth covenant, all as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility. A failure to satisfy the foregoing tests does not constitute an event of default, but can trigger a "term-out" of the facility. A breach of the consolidated tangible net worth covenant (but not the consolidated tangible net worth test) or a violation of anti-corruption or sanctions laws would result in an event of default.

The Revolving Credit Facility is subject to acceleration upon certain specified events of default, including breach of the consolidated tangible net worth covenant, a violation of anti-corruption or sanctions laws, failure to make timely payments, breaches of certain representations or covenants, failure to pay other material indebtedness, or another person becoming beneficial owner of 50% or more of our outstanding common stock. We believe we were in compliance with the representations, warranties and covenants included in the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, we had \$10.0 million in borrowings and \$40.1 million in letters of credit outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility, leaving remaining borrowing capacity of \$1.15 billion.

Mortgage Repurchase Facility. HomeAmerican has a Master Repurchase Agreement (the "Mortgage Repurchase Facility") with U.S. Bank National Association ("USBNA"). The Mortgage Repurchase Facility provides liquidity to HomeAmerican by providing for the sale of up to an aggregate of \$75 million (subject to increase by up to \$75 million under certain conditions) of eligible mortgage loans to USBNA with an agreement by HomeAmerican to repurchase the mortgage loans at a future date. Until such mortgage loans are transferred back to HomeAmerican, the documents relating to such loans are held by USBNA, as custodian, pursuant to the Custody Agreement ("Custody Agreement"), dated as of November 12, 2008, by and between HomeAmerican and USBNA. In the event that an eligible mortgage loan becomes ineligible, as defined under the Mortgage Repurchase Facility, MomeAmerican may be required to repurchase the ineligible mortgage loan immediately. The Mortgage Repurchase Facility was amended on September 24, 2020, March 25, 2021, May 20, 2021, and December 21, 2021 to adjust the commitments to purchase for specific time periods. As part of the amendments, the commitments to purchase (subject to increase by up to \$75 million under certain conditions) were increased as follows: (1) \$200 million for the periods March 25, 2021 through April 22, 2021, June 23, 2021 through July 22, 2021, September 22, 2021 through October 21, 2021, and March 23, 2022 through April 21, 2022 and (3) \$400 million for the period December 21, 2021 through February 15, 2022. The Mortgage Repurchase Facility is scheduled to terminate on May 19, 2022.

The maximum aggregate commitment of the Mortgage Repurchase Facility was not temporarily increased as of December 31, 2021. The maximum aggregate commitment of the Mortgage Repurchase Facility was temporarily increased by \$50 million on December 28, 2020 effective through January 27, 2021. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, HomeAmerican had \$256.3 million and \$202.4 million, respectively, of mortgage loans that HomeAmerican was obligated to repurchase under the Mortgage Repurchase Facility. Mortgage loans that HomeAmerican is obligated to repurchase under the Mortgage Repurchase

#### Table of Contents

Facility are accounted for as a debt financing arrangement and are reported as mortgage repurchase facility in the consolidated balance sheets. The Mortgage Repurchase Facility was amended on December 21, 2021 to provide for a transition from a pricing rate based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) to one based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR).

The Mortgage Repurchase Facility contains various representations, warranties and affirmative and negative covenants that we believe are customary for agreements of this type. The negative covenants include, among others, (i) a minimum Adjusted Tangible Net Worth requirement, (ii) a minimum Adjusted net income requirement, and (iv) a minimum Liquidity requirement. The foregoing capitalized terms are defined in the Mortgage Repurchase Facility. We believe HomeAmerican was in compliance with the representations, warranties and covenants included in the Mortgage Repurchase Facility as of December 31, 2021.

#### Dividends

In the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we paid dividends of \$1.67 per share and \$1.29 per share, respectively. In addition to the cash dividends paid, the Company distributed a stock dividend of 8% during 2021.

#### MDC Common Stock Repurchase Program

At December 31, 2021, we were authorized to repurchase up to 4,000,000 shares of our common stock. We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock under this repurchase program during the year ended December 31, 2021.

#### Consolidated Cash Flow

Our operating cash flows are primarily impacted by: (1) land purchases and construction of homes; (2) closing homes and the associated timing of collecting receivables from home closings; (3) sales of mortgage loans originated by HomeAmerican; (4) payments on accounts payables and accrued liabilities; and (5) funding for payroll. When we close on the sale of a house, our homebuilding subsidiaries will generally receive the proceeds from the sale of the homes within a few days of the home being closed. Therefore, our home sales receivable balance can increase or decrease from period to period based upon the timing of our home closings. Additionally, the amount of mortgage loans held-for-sale can be impacted period to period based upon the number of mortgage loans that were originated by HomeAmerican that have not been sold to third party purchasers and by the timing of fundings by third party mortgage loans held-for-sale may increase if HomeAmerican originates more homes towards the end of one reporting period when compared with the same period in the previous year. HomeAmerican will generally sell mortgage loans it originates between 5 to 35 days after origination.

### Operating Cash Flow Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash used in operating activities was \$208.0 million compared with net cash used in operating activities of \$23.1 million in the prior year. Cash used to increase housing completed or under construction was \$431.9 million and \$449.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2021, cash used to increase land and land under development was \$497.4 million compared to \$15.0 million in the prior year. The increase was driven by the acquisition of 15,435 lots during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 11,195 lots during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 11,195 lots during the year ended December 31, 2020. Cash used because of an increase in trade and other receivables for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was \$25.3 million and \$12.8 million, respectively, due to the year-over-year increases in home deliveries during both periods. Cash provided by the change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was \$126.4 million and \$91.3 million, respectively, due to the increased construction spend during both periods as a result of the year-over-year increases in home deliveries as well as the increase in homes in inventory at both period ends. The most significant source of cash provided by operating activities in both years was net income.

#### Investing Cash Flow Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash used in investing activities was \$27.7 million compared with net cash provided by investing activities of \$21.7 million in the prior year. The primary driver of this increase in cash from investing activities relates to \$48.5 million in net cash provided by the sale of marketable securities during the prior year. Cash used to purchase property and equipment remained materially consistent year-over-year.

#### Financing Cash Flow Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash provided by financing activities was \$335.2 million compared with \$31.2 million in the prior year. The primary driver of this increase in cash provided by financing activities is the proceeds from the issuance of senior notes of \$694.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2021, which was partially offset by \$277.0 million used to accelerate the retirement of our unsecured notes scheduled to mature in January 2024. Net proceeds from the issuance of senior notes was \$48.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2020. Cash used to fund dividend payments increased year-over year as a result of the 25% increase in the cash dividend declared in October 2021 and the 8% stock dividend declared in January 2021.

### CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Management evaluates such estimates and judgments on an on-going basis and makes adjustments as deemed necessary. Actual results could differ from these estimates if conditions are significantly different in the future. See "Forward-Looking Statements" above.

Listed below are those estimates and policies that we believe are critical and require the use of complex judgment in their application. Our critical accounting estimates and policies are as follows and should be read in conjunction with the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Homebuilding Inventory Valuation, Refer to Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the notes to the financial statements for information on the composition of the inventory balances,

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 360, *Property, Plant, and Equipment* ("ASC 360"), homebuilding inventories, excluding those classified as held for sale, are carried at cost unless events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the underlying subdivision may not be recoverable. We evaluate inventories for impairment at each quarter end on a subdivision level basis as each such subdivision represents the lowest level of identifiable cash flows. In making this determination, we review, among other things, the following for each subdivision:

- actual and trending "Operating Margin" (which is defined as home sale revenues less home cost of sales and all incremental costs associated directly with the subdivision, including sales commissions and marketing costs);
- estimated future undiscounted cash flows and Operating Margin;
- forecasted Operating Margin for homes in backlog;
- actual and trending net home orders;
- · homes available for sale;
- · market information for each sub-market, including competition levels, home foreclosure levels, the size and style of homes currently being offered for sale and lot size; and
- · known or probable events indicating that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of our inventory may not be recoverable, assets are reviewed for impairment by comparing the undiscounted estimated future cash flows from an individual subdivision (including capitalized interest) to its carrying value. We generally determine the estimated fair value of each subdivision by calculating the present value of the estimated future cash flows using discount rates, which are Level 3 inputs (see Note 6, Fair Value Measurements, in the notes to the financial statements for definitions of fair value inputs), that are commensurate with the risk of the subdivision under evaluation. The evaluation for the recoverability of the carrying value of the assets for each individual subdivision can be impacted significantly by our estimates of future home sale revenues, home construction costs, and development costs per home, all of which are Level 3 inputs. These estimates of undiscounted future cash flows are dependent on specific market or sub-market conditions for each subdivision. While we consider available information to determine what we believe to be our best estimates as of the end of a reporting period, these estimates are subject to change in future reporting periods as facts and circumstances change. Local market-specific conditions that may impact these estimates for a subdivision include:

· historical subdivision results, and actual and trending Operating Margin, base selling prices and home sales incentives;

- forecasted Operating Margin for homes in backlog;
- the intensity of competition within a market or sub-market, including publicly available home sales prices and home sales incentives offered by our competitors;
- increased levels of home foreclosures;
- the current sales pace for active subdivisions; subdivision specific attributes, such as location, availability and size of lots in the sub-market, desirability and uniqueness of subdivision location and the size and style of homes currently being offered;
- potential for alternative home styles to respond to local market conditions;
- changes by management in the sales strategy of a given subdivision; and
- current local market economic and demographic conditions and related trends and forecasts.

These and other local market-specific conditions that may be present are considered by personnel in our homebuilding divisions as they prepare or update the forecasted assumptions for each subdivision. Quantitative and qualitative factors other than home sales prices could significantly impact the potential for future impairments. The sales objectives can differ among subdivisions, even within a given sub-market. For example, facts and circumstances in a given subdivision may lead us to price our homes with the objective of yielding a higher sales absorption pace, while facts and circumstances in another subdivision may lead us to price our homes to minimize deterioration in our gross margins from home sales, even though this could result in a slower sales absorption pace. Furthermore, the key assumptions included in our estimated future undiscounted cash flows may be interrelated. For example, a decrease in estimated base sales price or an increase in home sales incentives may result in a corresponding increase in sales absorption pace. Additionally, a decrease in the average sales price of homes to be sold and closed in future reporting periods for one subdivision that has not been generating what management believes to be an adequate sales absorption pace may impact the estimated cash flow assumptions of a nearby subdivision. Changes in our key assumptions, including estimated construction and land development costs, absorption pace and selling strategies could materially impact future cash flow and fair value estimates. Due to the number of possible scenarios that would result from various changes in these factors, we do not believe it is possible to develop a sensitivity analysis with a level of precision that would be meaningful to an investor

If the undiscounted future cash flows of a subdivision are less than its carrying value, the carrying value of the subdivision is written down to its then estimated fair value. We determine the estimated fair value of each subdivision either: (1) by determining the present value of the estimated future cash flows at discount rates that are commensurate with the risk of the subdivision under evaluation; or (2) assessing the market value of the land in its current condition by considering the estimated price a willing buyer would pay for the land (other than in a forced liquidation), and recent land purchase transactions that we believe are indicators of fair value. The estimated future cash flows are the same for both our recoverability and fair value assessments. Factors we consider when determining the discount rate to be used for each subdivision include, among others:

- the number of lots in a given subdivision;
- the amount of future land development costs to be incurred;
- risks associated with the home construction process, including the stage of completion for the entire subdivision and the number of owned lots under construction; and
- the estimated remaining lifespan of the subdivision.

We allocate the impairments recorded between housing completed or under construction and land and land under development for each impaired subdivision based upon the status of construction of a home on each lot (i.e., if the lot is in housing completed or under construction, the impairment for that lot is recorded against housing completed or under construction). The allocation of impairment is the same with respect to each lot in a given subdivision. Changes in management's estimates, particularly the timing and amount of the estimated future cash inflows and outflows and forecasted average selling prices of homes to be sold and closed can materially affect any impairment calculation. Because our forecasted cash flows are impacted significantly by changes in market conditions, it is reasonably possible that actual results could differ significantly from those estimates. Please see the "Inventory Impairments" section for a detailed discussion and analysis of our asset impairments.

If land is classified as held for sale, we measure it at the lower of the carrying value or fair value less estimated costs to sell. In determining fair value, we primarily rely upon the most recent negotiated price. If a negotiated price is not available, we will consider several factors including, but not limited to, current market conditions, recent comparable sales transactions and market analysis studies. If the fair value less estimated costs to sell is lower than the current carrying value, the land is impaired down to its estimated fair value less costs to sell.

Warranty Accrual. Our homes are sold with limited third-party warranties. We record expenses and warranty accruals for general and structural warranty claims, as well as accruals for known, unusual warranty-related expenditures. A warranty accrual is recorded for each home closed based upon historical payment experience in an amount estimated to be adequate to cover expected costs of materials and outside labor during warranty periods. The determination of the warranty accrual rate for closed homes and the evaluation of our warranty accrual balance at period end are based on an internally developed analysis that includes known facts and interpretations of circumstances, including, among other things, our trends in historical warranty payment levels and warranty payments for claims not considered to be normal and recurring. Actual future warranty costs could differ from currently estimated amounts. A 10% change in the historical warranty rates used to estimate our warranty accrual would not result in a material change in our accrual.

Insurance Reserves. The establishment of reserves for estimated losses associated with insurance policies issued by Allegiant and re-insurance agreements issued by StarAmerican are based on actuarial studies that include known facts and interpretations of circumstances, including our experience with similar cases and historical trends involving claim payment patterns, pending levels of unpaid claims, product mix or concentration, claim severity, frequency patterns depending on the business conducted, and changing regulatory and legal environments. Historical trends in claim severity and frequency patterns have been inconsistent and we believe they may continue to fluctuate. It is possible that changes in the insurance payment experience used in estimating our ultimate insurance losses could have a material impact on our insurance reserves. A 10% increase in both the claim frequency and the average cost per claim used to estimate the reserves would result in an increase in our insurance reserves and an associated increase in expense of \$13.9 million. A 10% decrease in our insurance reserves and an associated reduction in expense of \$13.9 million.

Litigation Accruals. In the normal course of business, we are a defendant in claims primarily relating to premises liability, product liability and personal injury claims. These claims seek relief from us under various theories, including breach of implied and express warranty, negligence, strict liability, misrepresentation and violation of consumer protection statutes. We have accrued for losses that may be incurred with respect to legal claims based upon information provided by our legal counsel, including counsel's on-going evaluation of the merits of the claims and defenses and the level of estimated insurance coverage. Due to uncertainties in the estimation process, actual results could vary from those accruals and could have a material impact on our results of operations.

Revenue Recognition for Homebuilding Segments. We recognize home sale revenues from home deliveries when we have satisfied the performance obligations within the sales agreement, which is generally when title to and possession of the home are transferred to the buyer at the home closing date. Revenue from a home delivery includes the base sales price and any purchased options and upgrades and is reduced for any sales price incentives.

In certain states where we build, we are not always able to complete certain outdoor features (such as landscaping or pools) prior to closing the home. To the extent these separate deliverables are not complete upon the closing of a home, we defer home sale revenues related to incomplete outdoor features, and recognize that revenue upon completion of the outdoor features.

Revenue Recognition for HomeAmerican: Revenues recorded by HomeAmerican primarily reflect (1) origination fees and (2) the corresponding sale, or expected future sale, of a loan, which will include the estimated earnings from either the release or retention of a loan's servicing rights. Origination fees are recognized when a loan is originated. When an interest rate lock commitment is made to a customer, we record the expected gain on sale of the mortgage, plus the estimated earnings from the expected sale of the associated servicing tipts, adjusted for a pull-through percentage (which is defined as the likelihood that an interest rate lock commitment will be originated), as revenue. As the interest rate lock commitment gets closer to being originated, the expected gain on the sale of that loan plus its servicing rights is updated to reflect current market value and the increase or decrease in the fair value of that interest rate lock commitment is recorded through revenues. At the same time, the expected pull-through percentage of the interest rate lock commitment to be originated is updated (typically an increase as the interest lock commitment gets closer to origination) and, if there has been a change, revenues are adjusted as necessary. After origination, our mortgage loans, generally including their servicing rights, are sold to third-party purchasers in accordance with sale agreements that the party purchaser of the loans. We make representations and warranties with respect to the status of loans transferred in the sale agreements. The sale agreements generally include statements acknowledging the transfer of the loans is intended by both parties to constitute a sale. Sale of a mortgage loan has occurred when the following criteria, among others, have been met: (1) fair consideration has been paid for transfer of the loan by a third party in an arms-length transaction, (2) all the usual risks and rewards of ownership that are in substance a sale have been transferred by us to the third party purchaser; a

We carry interest rate lock commitments and mortgage loans held-for-sale at fair value.

Home Cost of Sales. Refer to the Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the notes to the financial statements for information on the composition of home cost of sales. When a home is closed, we generally have not yet paid or incurred all costs necessary to complete the construction of the home and certain land development costs. At the time of a home closing, we compare the home construction budgets to actual recorded costs to determine the additional estimated costs remaining to be paid on each closed home. For amounts not incurred or paid as of the time of closing a home, we record an estimated accrual associated with certain home construction and land development costs. Generally, these accruals are established based upon contracted work which has yet to be paid, open work orders not paid at the time of home closing, as well as land completion costs more likely than not to be incurred, and represent estimates believed to be adequate to cover the expected remaining home construction and land development costs. We monitor the adequacy of these accruals on a house-by-house basis and in the aggregate on both a market-by-market and consolidated basis.

Stock-Based Compensation. ASC Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation ("ASC 718") requires that share-based compensation expense be measured and recognized at an amount equal to the fair value of share-based payments granted under compensation arrangements. Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of stock option awards requires judgment, including estimating stock price volatility, annual forfeiture rates and the expected life of an award. For stock option awards granted with just service and/or performance conditions, we estimate the fair value using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. For any stock option awards granted that contain a market condition, we estimate the fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation model. Both the Black-Scholes option pricing model and Monte Carlo simulation utilize the following inputs to calculate the estimated fair value of stock options: (1) closing price of our common stock on the measurement date (generally the date of grant); (2) exercise price; (3) expected stock option life; (4) expected volatility; of insk-free interest rate; and (6) expected dividend yield rate. The expected life of employee stock options represents the period for which the stock options are expected to remain outstanding and is derived primarily from historical exercise patterns. The expected volatility is determined based on our review of the implied volatility that is derived from the price of exchange traded options of the Company. The risk-free interest rate assumption is determined based upon observed interest rates appropriate for the expected term of our employee stock option awards on the date they were granted. The fair values of previously granted stock option awards are not adjusted as subsequent changes in the foregoing assumptions occur; for example, an increase or decrease in the price of our common stock. However, changes in the foregoing inputs, particularly the price of our common stock, expected stock option life and expected volatility, signifi

An annual forfeiture rate is estimated at the time of grant, and revised if necessary, in subsequent periods if the actual forfeiture rate differs from our estimate.

# RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Note 2, Recently Issued Accounting Standards, in our consolidated financial statements.

#### Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We have a cash and investment policy that enables us to achieve our strategy with an appropriate investment return while preserving principal and managing risk. Under this policy, our cash and cash equivalents may include U.S. government securities, commercial bank deposits, commercial paper, certificates of deposit, money market funds, and time deposits, with maturities of three months or less. Our marketable securities under this policy may include holdings in corporate U.S. government securities with a maturity of more than three months, equity securities and corporate debt securities.

The market value and/or income derived from equity securities may go up or down, sometimes rapidly or unpredictably. Equity securities may decline in value due to factors affecting equity securities markets generally, particular industries represented in those markets, or the issuer itself. The values of equity securities may decline due to general market conditions that are not specifically related to a particular company, such as real or perceived adverse economic conditions, changes in the general outlook for corporate earnings, changes in interest or currency rates or adverse investor sentiment generally. They may also decline due to factors that affect a particular industry or industries, such as labor shortages or increased production costs and competitive conditions within an industry. The value of equity securities may also decline for a number of other reasons that directly relate to the issuer, such as management performance, financial leverage, the issuer's historical and prospective earnings, the value of its assets and reduced demand for its goods and services. Equity securities generally have greater price volatility than bonds and other debt securities.

As of December 31, 2021, our cash and cash equivalents included commercial bank deposits and money market funds, with maturities of three months or less.

We are exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates on mortgage loans held-for-sale, mortgage interest rate lock commitments and debt. Derivative instruments utilized in the normal course of business by HomeAmerican include interest rate lock commitments and forward sales of mortgage-backed securities, which are used to manage the price risk on fluctuations in interest rates on our mortgage loans in inventory and interest rate lock commitments to originate mortgage loans. Such contracts are the only significant financial derivative instruments utilized by MDC. HomeAmerican's mortgage loans in process for which a rate and price commitment had been made to a borrower that had not closed at December 31, 2021 had an aggregate principal balance of \$268.8 million, all of which were under interest rate lock commitments at an average interest rate of 2.74%. In order to hedge the changes in fair value of interest rate lock commitments at an average interest rate of 2.74%. In order to hedge the changes in fair value of interest rate lock commitments and mortgage loans held-for-sale which had not yet been committed to a mortgage purchaser and had an average interest rate of 2.74%. In order to hedge the changes in fair value of interest rate lock commitments and mortgage loans held-for-sale which had not yet been committed to a mortgage purchaser, HomeAmerican had forward sales of securities totaling \$275.6 million and \$203.0 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

HomeAmerican provides mortgage loans that generally are sold forward and subsequently delivered to a third-party purchaser between 5 and 35 days. Forward commitments are used for non-trading purposes to sell mortgage loans and hedge price risk due to fluctuations in interest rates on rate-locked mortgage loans in process that have not closed. Due to this economic hedging philosophy, the market risk associated with these mortgages is limited. For forward sales commitments, as well as commitments to originate mortgage loans that are still outstanding at the end of a reporting period, we record the fair value of the derivatives in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income with an offset to either derivative assets or liabilities, depending on the nature of the change.

We utilize our Revolving Credit Facility, our Mortgage Repurchase Facility and senior notes in our financing strategy. For fixed rate debt, changes in interest rates generally affect the fair value of the debt instrument, but do not affect our earnings or cash flows. We do not have an obligation to prepay our senior notes prior to maturity and, as a result, interest rate risk and changes in fair value do not have an impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. For variable rate debt such as our Revolving Credit Facility and Mortgage Repurchase Facility, changes in interest rates generally do not affect the fair value of the outstanding borrowing on the debt facilities, but does affect our earnings and cash flows. See "Forward-Looking Statements" above.

At December 31, 2021, we had \$256.3 million of mortgage loans that HomeAmerican is obligated to repurchase under the Mortgage Repurchase Facility. Mortgage loans that HomeAmerican is obligated to repurchase under the Mortgage Repurchase Facility are accounted for as a debt financing arrangement and are reported under Mortgage Repurchase Facility in the consolidated balance sheets. The following table provides the maturities, average interest rate and estimated fair value of significant financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates at December 31, 2021.

		2022		2	023	2	024	2	025	2	026		Thereafter			Total	
									(Dollars in th	ousands)							
Assets:																	
Mortgage loans held for sale (1)																	
Fixed Rate	\$	276,939		\$	_	\$	_	\$	_	\$	_	\$	_		\$	276,939	
Average interest rate		2.74	%													2.74	%
Liabilities:																	
Fixed rate debt	\$	_		\$	_	\$	_	\$	_	\$	_	\$	1,500,000		\$	1,500,000	
Average interest rate													4.28	%		4.28	%
Mortgage facility	\$	256,300		s	_	s	_	\$	_	\$	_	\$	_		s	256,300	
Average interest rate		1.89	%													1.89	%
Derivative Financial	Instruments:																
Commitments to	originate mor	tgage loans															
Notional amount	\$	268,796		s	_	s	_	s	_	s	_	\$	_		s	268,796	
Average interest rate		2.91	%													2.91	%
Forward sales of	mortgage bac	ked securities															
Notional amount	\$	275,600		s	_	s	_	s	_	s	_	\$	_		s	275,600	
Average interest rate		2.17	%													2.17	%

<sup>(1)</sup> All the amounts in this line reflect the expected 2022 disposition of these loans rather than the actual scheduled maturity dates of these mortgages.

#### Table of Contents

## Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

# M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC. INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	Page
Consolidated Financial Statements	
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB 00042)	F - 2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020	F - 4
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2021	F - 5
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2021	F - 6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2021	F - 7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F - 8
F-1	

#### Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc.

#### Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 1, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion

Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any w consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to w in any way our opinion on the sures to which it relates.

Evaluation of Insurance Reserves

Description of the Matter

At December 31, 2021, the insurance reserves totaled \$72.9 million for the estimated incurred cost of construction defect claims. As more fully described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company establishes the reserves for estimated losses based on actuarial studies that include known facts and interpretations of circumstances.

Auditing the Company's estimate of the reserves is especially challenging because the estimate is based on actuarial projections of future claims derived from historical claims data. There is significant uncertainty in the actuarial projections as the potential claim payments will be made over a long period of time, they assume that historical claims are a reasonable proxy of future claims, and the claim amounts can be significantly impacted by changes in product mix, quality of construction, units sold, and geographic location of sold units.

How We Addressed the Matter in Our Addressed the Matter in Our Ve tested the Company's internal controls over the estimation of the reserves. For example, we tested controls over the appropriateness of management's review of the actuary's analysis, including the underlying data used by the actuary and the consideration by management over whether historical claim information requires adjustment.

To test the estimate of reserves, our audit procedures included, among others, utilizing an internal actuarial specialist to evaluate the actuarial study utilized by management and to perform independent calculations to determine a range of reasonable reserves and to compare this range to the recorded insurance reserves. Additionally, we tested the completeness and accuracy of the underlying claims data provided to management's actuarial specialist, evaluated the change in the reserves from the prior year based upon current year trends in claim data, and performed hindsight reviews of past estimates compared to actual claim payments.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2000.

Denver, Colorado

February 1, 2022

#### M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC. Consolidated Balance Sheets

		December 31, 2021	December 31, 2020	
			ousands, except eamounts)	
ASSETS				
Homebuilding:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	485,839	\$ 411,362	
Restricted cash		12,799	15,343	
Trade and other receivables		98,580	72,466	
Inventories:				
Housing completed or under construction		1,917,616	1,486,587	
Land and land under development		1,843,235	1,345,643	
Total inventories	' <u></u>	3,760,851	2,832,230	
Property and equipment, net		60,561	61,880	
Deferred tax assets, net		17,942	11,454	
Prepaids and other assets		106,562	101,685	
Total homebuilding assets	·	4,543,134	3,506,420	
Financial Services:				
Cash and cash equivalents		104,821	77,267	
Mortgage loans held-for-sale, net		282,529	232,556	
Other assets		33,044	48,677	
Total financial services assets		420,394	358,500	
Total Assets	\$	4,963,528	\$ 3,864,920	
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY				
Homebuilding:				
Accounts payable	\$	149,488	\$ 98,862	
Accrued and other liabilities		370,910	300,735	
Revolving credit facility		10,000	10,000	
Senior notes, net		1,481,781	1,037,391	
Total homebuilding liabilities	,	2,012,179	1,446,988	
Financial Services:				
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		97,903	95,630	
Mortgage repurchase facility		256,300	202,390	
Total financial services liabilities		354,203	298,020	
Total Liabilities		2,366,382	1,745,008	
Stockholders' Equity				
Preferred stock, \$0.01 par value; 25,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding		_	_	
Common stock, \$0.01 par value; 250,000,000 shares authorized; 70,668,093 and 64,851,126 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively		707	649	
Additional paid-in-capital		1,709,276	1,407,597	
Retained earnings		887,163	711,666	
Total Stockholders' Equity		2,597,146	2,119,912	
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity	¢.	4,963,528	\$ 3,864,920	

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

## M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC. Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income

Year Ended December 31, 2020 (Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) ebuilding: 5,102,456 (3,924,093) Home sale revenues 3,765,379 3,205,248 Home cost of sales (2,982,668) (2,600,196) Inventory impairments (1,600) (935) (2,601,131) Total cost of sales (3,925,693) (2,982,668) Gross margin 782,711 (403,218) 1,176,763 604,117 Selling, general and administrative expenses (493,993) (362,790) Loss on debt retirement Interest and other income (23,571) 5,965 4,233 9,070 Other expense (5,476) (5,209) (5,635) Homebuilding pretax income 659,688 378,517 244,762 Financial Services: 135,832 Revenues Expenses 152,212 88,005 (64,477) (52,465) (45,001) (4,372) Other income (expense), net 4,271 17,223 Financial services pretax income 60,227 92,006 78,995 Income before income taxes 751,694 457,512 304,989 (66,677) 238,312 Provision for income taxes (178,037) (89,930) Net income 573,657 367,582 573,657 367,582 \$ 238,312 Comprehensive income Earnings per share: 8.13 \$ 7.83 \$ 5.33 \$ 5.17 \$ Basic Diluted 3.56 3.44 Weighted average common shares outstanding 66,546,347 70.174.281 68.531.856 Basic Diluted 72,854,601 70,676,581 68,798,879

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

# M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC. Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Dollars in thousands, except share amounts)

		(,	,						
_	Commo	n Stock	Additional Paid-in	Retained	Accumulated Other Comprehensive				
	Shares	Amount	Capital	Earnings	Income	Total			
Balance at December 31, 2018	56,615,352	\$ 566	\$ 1,168,442	\$ 406,992	\$ —	\$ 1,576,000			
Cumulative effect of newly adopted accounting standards (Note 2)	_			(67)	_	(67)			
Balance at January 1, 2019	56,615,352	\$ 566	\$ 1,168,442	\$ 406,925	\$	\$ 1,575,933			
Net Income				238,312		238,312			
Shares issued under stock-based compensation programs, net	1,429,993	15	15,326	_	_	15,341			
Cash dividends declared	_	_	_	(73,020)	_	(73,020)			
Stock dividend declared	4,534,908	45	138,949	(139,091)	_	(97)			
Stock-based compensation expense	_	_	26,016	_	_	26,016			
Forfeiture of restricted stock	(5,292)	_	_	_	_	_			
Balance at December 31, 2019	62,574,961	\$ 626	\$ 1,348,733	\$ 433,126	s —	\$ 1,782,485			
Cumulative effect of newly adopted accounting standards (Note 2)	_			(34)	_	(34)			
Balance at January 1, 2020	62,574,961	\$ 626	\$ 1,348,733	\$ 433,092	\$ —	\$ 1,782,451			
Net Income	_			367,582	_	367,582			
Shares issued under stock-based compensation programs, net	2,278,020	23	28,802	_	_	28,825			
Cash dividends declared	_	_	_	(89,008)	_	(89,008)			
Stock-based compensation expense	_	_	30,062	_	_	30,062			
Forfeiture of restricted stock	(1,855)	_	_	_	_	_			
Balance at December 31, 2020	64,851,126	\$ 649	\$ 1,407,597	\$ 711,666	s —	\$ 2,119,912			
Net Income	_			573,657		573,657			
Shares issued under stock-based compensation programs, net	640,869	6	(16,222)	_	_	(16,216)			
Cash dividends declared	_	_		(117,842)	_	(117,842)			
Stock dividend declared	5,192,776	52	279,579	(280,318)	_	(687)			
Stock-based compensation expense	_	_	38,322	_	_	38,322			
Forfeiture of restricted stock	(16,678)	_	_	_	_	_			
Balance at December 31, 2021	70,668,093	\$ 707	\$ 1,709,276	\$ 887,163	s —	\$ 2,597,146			

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

### M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Consolidated S	tatements of Cash Flows			
			Year Ended December 31,	
		021	2020	2019
			(Dollars in thousands)	
Operating Activities:				
Net income	\$	573,657	\$ 367,582	\$ 238,312
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:				
Stock-based compensation expense		39,655	30,062	26,016
Depreciation and amortization		31,666	27,166	23,054
Inventory impairments		1,600		935
Net (gain) loss on marketable equity securities			8,285	(11,797)
Gain on sale of other assets		(2,014)	_	_
Loss on retirement of debt		23,571	_	-
Deferred income tax expense		(6,488)	10,688	13,670
Net changes in assets and liabilities:				
Trade and other receivables		(25,334)	(12,815)	(12,997)
Mortgage loans held-for-sale		(49,973)	(35,535)	(47,810)
Housing completed or under construction		(431,926)	(449,882)	(83,484)
Land and land under development		(497,364)	(15,032)	(149,577)
Prepaids and other assets		8,545	(44,932)	(4,694)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		126,415	91,318	66,205
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities		(207,990)	(23,095)	57,833
Investing Activities:				
Purchases of marketable securities		_	(10,804)	(11,708)
Sales of marketable securities		_	59,266	7,637
Proceeds from sale of other assets		2,014		_
Purchases of property and equipment		(29,693)	(26,777)	(24,714)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities		(27,679)	21,685	(28,785)
Financing Activities:				
Advances on mortgage repurchase facility, net		53,910	52,774	32,801
Payments on homebuilding line of credit, net		_	(5,000)	_
Payments of senior notes		(276,951)	(250,000)	_
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes		694,662	298,050	_
Dividend payments		(118,529)	(89,008)	(73,117)
Payments of deferred debt issuance costs		(1,720)	(4,471)	_
Issuance of shares under stock-based compensation programs, net		(16,216)	28,825	15,341
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities		335,156	31,170	(24,975)
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash		99,487	29,760	4,073
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:				
Beginning of year		503,972	474,212	470,139
End of year	\$	603,459	\$ 503,972	\$ 474,212
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:				
Homebuilding:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	485,839	\$ 411,362	\$ 424,186
Restricted cash		12,799	15,343	14,279
Financial Services:				
Cash and cash equivalents		104,821	77,267	35,747
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	\$	603,459	\$ 503,972	\$ 474,212
		117, 11		

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements

#### 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

*Principles of Consolidation.* The Consolidated Financial Statements of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. ("MDC," "the Company," "we," "us," or "our" which refers to M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries) include the accounts of MDC and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation.

Description of Business. We have homebuilding operations in Arizona, California, Colorado, Florida, Idaho, Maryland, New Mexico, Nevada, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Virginia and Washington. The primary functions of our homebuilding operations include land acquisition and development, home construction, purchasing, marketing, merchandising, sales and customer service. We build and sell primarily single-family detached homes, which are designed and built to meet local customer preferences. We are the general contractor for all of our projects and retain subcontractors for site development and home construction.

Our financial services operations consist of HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation ("HomeAmerican"), which originates mortgage loans, primarily for our homebuyers, American Home Insurance Agency, Inc. ("American Home Insurance"), which offers third-party insurance products to our homebuyers, and American Home Title and Escrow Company ("American Home Title"), which provides title agency services to the Company and our homebuyers in Colorado, Florida, Maryland, Nevada, Pennsylvania and Virginia. The financial services operations also include Allegiant Insurance Company, Inc., A Risk Retention Group ("Allegiant"), which provides insurance coverage primarily to our homebuilding subsidiaries on homes that have been delivered and most of our subcontractors for completed work on those delivered homes, and StarAmerican Insurance Ltd. ("StarAmerican"), a wholly owned subsidiary of MDC, which is a re-insurer of Allegiant claims.

Presentation. Our balance sheet presentation is unclassified due to the fact that certain assets and liabilities have both short and long-term characteristics.

Use of Accounting Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company periodically invests funds in highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less, such as U.S. government securities, commercial bank deposits, commercial paper, certificates of deposit, money market funds and time deposits, which are included in cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of cash flows.

Equity securities. Our equity securities consisted of holdings in common stock and exchange traded funds and were recorded at fair value with all changes in fair value recorded to other income (expense), net in the financial services section of our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Restricted Cash. We receive cash earnest money deposits from our customers who enter into home sale contracts. In certain states we are restricted from using such deposits for general purposes, unless we take measures to release state imposed restrictions on such deposits received from homebuyers, which may include posting blanket surety bonds. We had \$12.8 million and \$15.3 million in restricted cash related to homebuyer deposits at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Trade and Other Receivables. Trade and other receivables primarily includes home sale receivables, which reflects cash to be received from title companies or outside brokers associated with closed homes. Generally, we will receive cash from title companies and outside brokers within a few days of the home being closed. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, receivables from contracts with customers were \$64.5 million and \$49.2 million, respectively, and are included in trade and other receivables on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale, net. Mortgage loans held-for-sale are recorded at fair value based on quoted market prices and estimated market prices received from a third-party. Using fair value allows an offset of the changes in fair values of the mortgage loans and the derivative instruments used to hedge them without having to comply with the requirements for hedge accounting.

Inventories. Our inventories are primarily associated with communities where we intend to construct and sell homes, including models and unsold homes. Components of housing completed or under construction primarily include: (1) land costs transferred from land and land under development; (2) direct construction costs associated with a house; (3) real property taxes, engineering fees, permits and other fees; (4) capitalized interest; and (5) indirect construction costs, which include field construction management salaries and benefits, utilities and other construction related costs capitalized to land and land under development primarily include: (1) land costs; (2) land development costs; (3) entitlement costs; (4) capitalized interest; (5) engineering fees; and (6) title insurance, real property taxes and closing costs directly related to the purchase of the land parcel. Land costs are transferred from land and land under development to housing completed or under construction at the point in time that construction of a home on an owned lot begins.

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 360, *Property, Plant, and Equipment* ("ASC 360"), homebuilding inventories, excluding those classified as held for sale, are carried at cost unless events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the underlying subdivision may not be recoverable. We evaluate inventories for impairment at each quarter end on a subdivision level basis as each such subdivision represents the lowest level of identifiable cash flows. In making this determination, we review, among other things, the following for each subdivision:

- actual and trending "Operating Margin" (which is defined as home sale revenues less home cost of sales and all incremental costs associated directly with the subdivision, including sales commissions and marketing costs);
- · estimated future undiscounted cash flows and Operating Margin;
- forecasted Operating Margin for homes in backlog;
- · actual and trending net home orders;
- homes available for sale:
- market information for each sub-market, including competition levels, home foreclosure levels, the size and style of homes currently being offered for sale and lot size; and
- · known or probable events indicating that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of our inventory may not be recoverable, assets are reviewed for impairment by comparing the undiscounted estimated future cash flows from an individual subdivision (including capitalized interest) to its carrying value. If the undiscounted future cash flows are less than the subdivision's carrying value of the subdivision is written down to its then estimated fair value. We generally determine the estimated fair value of each subdivision by calculating the present value of the estimated future cash flows using discount rates, which are Level 3 inputs (see Note 6, Fair Value Measurements, in the notes to the financial statements for definitions of fair value inputs), that are commensurate with the risk of the subdivision under evaluation. The evaluation for the recoverability of the carrying value of the assets for each individual subdivision can be impacted significantly by our estimates of future home sale revenues, home construction costs, and development costs per home, all of which are Level 3 inputs.

If land is classified as held for sale, in accordance with ASC 360, we measure it at the lower of the carrying value or fair value less estimated costs to sell. In determining fair value, we primarily rely upon the most recent negotiated price which is a Level 2 input (see Note 6, Fair Value Measurements, for definitions of fair value inputs). If a negotiated price is not available, we will consider several factors including, but not limited to, current market conditions, recent comparable sales transactions and market analysis studies. If the fair value less estimated costs to sell is lower than the current carrying value, the land is impaired down to its estimated fair value less costs to sell.

Costs Related to Sales Facilities. Costs related to interior and exterior upgrades to the home that will be sold as part of the home, such as wall treatments and additional upgraded landscaping, are recorded as housing completed or under construction. Costs to furnish and ready the model home or on-site sales facility that will not be sold as part of the model home, such as furniture, construction of the sales facility parking lot or construction of the sales center, are capitalized as property and equipment, net. Other costs incurred related to the marketing of the community and readying the model home for sale are expensed as incurred.

Property and Equipment, net. Property and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. For property and equipment related to on-site sales facilities, depreciation is recorded using the units of production method as homes are delivered. For all other property and equipment, depreciation is recorded using a straight-line method over the estimated useful

lives of the related assets, which range from 2 to 29 years. Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment was \$30.2 million, \$26.1 million and \$22.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively which is recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses in the homebuilding or expenses in the financial services sections of our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

The following table sets forth the cost and carrying value of our homebuilding property and equipment by major asset category.

	Accumulated Depreciation and Cost Amortization			Carrying Value		
December 31, 2021:			(Dollar	s in thousands)		
Sales facilities	\$	67,947	\$	(31,644)	\$	36,303
Airplane		31,230		(11,481)		19,749
Computer software and equipment		23,690		(21,367)		2,323
Leasehold improvements		7,783		(6,522)		1,261
Other		2,811		(1,886)		925
Total	\$	133,461	\$	(72,900)	\$	60,561
December 31, 2020:						
Sales facilities	\$	71,870	\$	(34,272)	\$	37,598
Airplane		31,230		(10,813)		20,417
Computer software and equipment		23,801		(21,997)		1,804
Leasehold improvements		7,640		(6,357)		1,283
Other		2,361		(1,583)		778
Total	\$	136,902	\$	(75,022)	\$	61,880

Deferred Tax Assets, net. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between (1) the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and (2) the amounts used for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using current enacted tax rates in effect in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded against a deferred tax asset if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not (a likelihood of more than 50%) that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Variable Interest Entities. In accordance with ASC Topic 810, Consolidation ("ASC 810"), we analyze our land option contracts and other contractual arrangements to determine whether the corresponding land sellers are variable interest entities ("VIEs") and, if so, whether we are the primary beneficiary. Although we do not have legal title to the optioned land, ASC 810 requires a company to consolidate a VIE if the company is determined to be the primary beneficiary. In determining whether we are the primary beneficiary, we consider, among other things, whether we have the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact VIE's economic performance, including, but not limited to, determining or limiting the scope or purpose of the VIE, selling or transferring property owned or controlled by the VIE, or arranging financing for the VIE. We also consider whether we have the obligation option contracts.

Goodwill. In accordance with ASC Topic 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other ("ASC 350"), we evaluate goodwill for possible impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. We use a three-step process to assess the realizability of goodwill. The first step is a qualitative assessment that analyzes current economic indicators associated with a particular reporting unit. For example, we analyze changes in economic, market and industry conditions, business strategy, cost factors, and financial performance, among others, to determine if there are indicators of a significant decline in the fair value of a particular reporting unit. If the qualitative assessment indicates a stable or improved fair value, no further testing is required.

If a qualitative assessment indicates it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, we will proceed to the second step where we calculate the fair value of a reporting unit based on discounted future probability-weighted cash flows. If this step indicates that the carrying value of a reporting unit is in excess of its fair

value, we will proceed to the third step where the fair value of the reporting unit will be allocated to assets and liabilities as they would in a business combination. Impairment occurs when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its estimated fair value calculated in the third step.

Based on our analysis, we have concluded that as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, our goodwill was not impaired.

Liability for Unrecognized Tax Benefits. ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes, regarding liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits provides guidance for the recognition and measurement in financial statements of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.

The evaluation of a tax position is a two-step process, the first step being recognition. We determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that a tax position will be sustained upon tax examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation, based on the technical merits of the position. The technical merits of a tax position derive from both statutory and judicial authority (legislation and statutes, legislative intent, regulations, rulings, and case law) and their applicability to the facts and circumstances of the tax position. If a tax position does not meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the benefit of that position is not recognized in the financial statements.

The second step is measurement. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The tax position is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate resolution with a taxing authority. Once the gross unrecognized tax benefit is determined, we also accrue for any interest and penalties, as well as any offsets expected from resultant amendments to federal or state tax returns. We record the aggregate effect of these items in income tax expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. To the extent this tax position would be offset against a similar deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward if such settlement is required or expected in the event the uncertain tax position is disallowed, the liability is treated as a reduction to the related deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward. Otherwise, we record the corresponding liability in accrued and other liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets.

Warranty Accrual. Our homes are sold with limited third-party warranties. Under our agreement with the issuer of the third-party warranties, we are responsible for performing all of the work for the first two years of the warranty coverage and paying for substantially all of the work required to be performed during years three through ten of the warranties. We record accruals for general and structural warranty claims, as well as accruals for known, unusual warranty-related expenditures. Our warranty accrual is recorded based upon historical payment experience in an amount estimated to be adequate to cover expected costs of materials and outside labor during warranty periods. The determination of the warranty accrual rate for closed homes and the evaluation of our warranty accrual balance at period end are based on an internally developed analysis that includes known facts and interpretations of circumstances, including, among other things, our trends in historical warranty payment levels and warranty payments for claims not considered to be normal and recurring.

Warranty payments are recorded against the warranty accrual. Additional reserves may be established for known, unusual warranty-related expenditures not covered through the independent warranty accrual analysis performed by us. Warranty payments incurred for an individual house may differ from the related reserve established for the home at the time it was closed. The actual disbursements for warranty claims are evaluated in the aggregate to determine if an adjustment to the historical warranty accrual should be recorded.

We assess the reasonableness and adequacy of the reserve and the per-unit reserve amount originally included in home cost of sales, as well as the timing of the reversal of any excess reserve on a quarterly basis, using historical payment data and other relevant information. Our warranty accrual is included in accrued and other liabilities in the homebuilding section of our consolidated balance sheets and adjustments to our warranty accrual are recorded as an increase or reduction to home cost of sales in the homebuilding section of our consolidated Financial Statements.

Insurance Reserves. The establishment of reserves for estimated losses associated with insurance policies issued by Allegiant and re-insurance agreements issued by StarAmerican are based on actuarial studies that include known facts and interpretations of circumstances, including our experience with similar cases and historical trends involving claim payment patterns, pending levels of unpaid claims, product mix or concentration, claim severity, frequency patterns depending on the business conducted, and changing regulatory and legal environments. It is possible that changes in the insurance payment experience used in estimating our ultimate insurance losses could have a material impact on our insurance reserves. See Note 13, Insurance and Construction Defect Claim Reserves, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Reserves for Construction Defect Claims. The establishment of reserves for estimated losses to be incurred by our homebuilding subsidiaries associated with (1) the self-insured retention ("SIR") portion of construction defect claims that are expected to be covered under insurance policies with Allegiant and (2) the entire cost of any construction defect claims that are not expected to be covered by insurance policies with Allegiant are based on actuarial studies that include known facts similar to those established for our insurance reserves. It is possible that changes in the payment experience used in estimating our ultimate losses for construction defect claims could have a material impact on our reserves. See Note 13, Insurance and Construction Defect Claim Reserves, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Litigation Reserves. We and certain of our subsidiaries have been named as defendants in various cases. We reserve for estimated exposure with respect to these cases based upon currently available information on each case. See Note 17, Commitments and Contingencies, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Derivative Financial Instruments. The derivative instruments we utilize in the normal course of business are interest rate lock commitments and forward sales of mortgage-backed securities, both of which typically are short-term in nature. Forward sales of mortgage-backed securities are utilized to hedge changes in fair value of our interest rate lock commitments as well as mortgage loans held-for-sale that are not under commitments to sell. For forward sales of mortgage-backed securities, as well as interest rate lock commitments that are still outstanding at the end of a reporting period, we record the changes in fair value of the derivatives in revenues in the financial services section of our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income with an offset to other assets or accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the financial services section of our consolidated balance sheets, depending on the nature of the change.

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had interest rate lock commitments with aggregate principal balances of \$268.8 million and \$230.5 million, respectively, at average interest rates of 2.91% and 2.69% respectively. In addition, we had \$122.3 million and \$91.1 million of mortgage loans held-for-sale at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, that had not yet been committed to a mortgage purchaser. In order to economically hedge the changes in fair value of our interest rate lock commitments and mortgage loans held-for-sale which had not yet been committed to a mortgage purchaser, we had forward sales of securities totaling \$275.6 million and \$203.0 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we recorded net gains (losses) on our derivatives of \$(1.7) million, \$4.7 million and \$0.3 million, respectively. For further discussion of our policies regarding interest rate lock commitments, see our "Revenue Recognition for HomeAmerican" accounting policy section below.

Revenue Recognition for Homebuilding Segments. We recognize home sale revenues from home deliveries when we have satisfied the performance obligations within the sales agreement, which is generally when title to and possession of the home are transferred to the buyer at the home closing date. Revenue from a home delivery includes the base sales price and any purchased options and upgrades and is reduced for any sales price incentives.

In certain states where we build, we are not always able to complete certain outdoor features (such as landscaping or pools) prior to closing the home. To the extent these separate deliverables are not complete upon the closing of a home, we defer home sale revenues related to incomplete outdoor features, and recognize that revenue upon completion of the outdoor features.

Revenue expected to be recognized in any future year related to remaining performance obligations (if any) and contract liabilities expected to be recognized as revenue, excluding revenue pertaining to contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less, is not material.

Revenue Recognition for HomeAmerican. Revenues recorded by HomeAmerican primarily reflect (1) origination fees and (2) the corresponding sale, or expected future sale, of a loan, which will include the estimated earnings from either the release or retention of a loan's servicing rights. Origination fees are recognized when a loan is originated. When an interest rate lock commitment is made to a customer, we record the expected gain on sale of the mortgage, plus the estimated earnings from the expected sale of the associated servicing rights, adjusted for a pull-through percentage (which is defined as the likelihood that an interest rate lock commitment gets closer to being originated, the expected gain on the sale of that loan plus its servicing rights is updated to reflect current market value and the increase or decrease in the fair value of that interest rate lock commitment is recorded through revenues. At the same time, the expected pull-through percentage of the interest rate lock commitment to be originated is updated (typically an increase as the interest lock commitment gets closer to origination) and, if there has been a change, revenues are adjusted as necessary. After origination, our mortgage loans, generally including their servicing rights, are sold to third-party purchasers in accordance with sale agreements entered into by us with a third-party purchaser of the loans. We make representations and warranties with respect to the status of loans transferred in the sale agreements. The sale agreements generally include statements

acknowledging the transfer of the loans is intended by both parties to constitute a sale. Sale of a mortgage loan has occurred when the following criteria, among others, have been met: (1) fair consideration has been paid for transfer of the loan by a third party in an arms-length transaction, (2) all the usual risks and rewards of ownership that are in substance a sale have been transferred by us to the third party purchaser; and (3) we do not have a substantial continuing involvement with the mortgage loan.

We measure mortgage loans held-for-sale at fair value with the changes in fair value being reported in earnings at each reporting date. The impact of recording changes in fair value to earnings did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 or 2019. Our net gains on the sale of mortgage loans were \$90.9 million, \$93.3 million and \$55.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and are included as a component of revenues in the financial services section of the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Home Cost of Sales. Home cost of sales includes the specific construction costs of each home and all applicable land acquisition, land development and related costs, warranty costs and finance and closing costs, including closing cost incentives. We use the specific identification method for the purpose of accumulating home construction costs and allocate costs to each lot within a subdivision associated with land acquisition and land development based upon relative fair value of the lots prior to home construction. Lots within a subdivision typically have comparable fair values, and, as such, we generally allocate costs equally to each lot within a subdivision. We record all home cost of sales when a home is closed and performance obligations have been completed on a house-by-house basis.

When a home is closed, we may not have paid for all costs necessary to complete the construction of the home. This includes (1) construction that has been completed on a house but has not yet been billed or (2) work still to be performed on a home (such as limited punch-list items or certain outdoor features). For each of these items, we create an estimate of the total expected costs to be incurred and, with the exclusion of outdoor features, the estimated total costs for those items, less any amounts paid to date, are included in home cost of sales. Actual results could differ from such estimates. For incomplete outdoor features, we will defer the revenue and any cost of sales on this separate stand-alone deliverable until complete.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense. In accordance with ASC Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation ("ASC 718"), stock-based compensation expense for all share-based payment awards is based on the grant date fair value. For stock option awards granted with just service and/or performance conditions, we estimate the fair value using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. For any stock option awards granted that contain a market condition, we estimate the fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation model. We recognize expense for share-based payment awards based on their varying vesting conditions as follows:

- Awards with service-based vesting conditions only Expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award.
- Awards with performance-based vesting conditions Expense is not recognized until it is determined that it is probable the performance-based conditions will be met. When achievement of a performance-based condition is probable, a catch-up of expense will be recorded as if the award had been vesting on a straight-line basis from the award date. The award will continue to be expensed on a straight-line basis until the probability of achieving the performance-based condition changes, if applicable.

An annual forfeiture rate is estimated at the time of grant for all share-based payment awards that contain service and/or performance conditions. That rate is revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if the actual forfeiture rate differs from our estimate.

Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share. For purposes of calculating earnings (loss) per share ("EPS"), a company that has participating security holders (for example, holders of unvested restricted stock that have non-forfeitable dividend rights) is required to utilize the two-class method for calculating earnings per share unless the treasury stock method results in lower EPS. The two-class method is an allocation of earnings/(loss) between the holders of common stock and a company's participating security holders. Under the two-class method, earnings/(loss) for the reporting period are allocated between common shareholders and other security holders based on their respective rights to receive distributed earnings (i.e., dividends) and undistributed earnings (i.e., net income/(loss)). Our common shares outstanding are comprised of shareholder owned common stock and shares of unvested restricted stock held by participating security holders. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing income or loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding, excluding participating shares in accordance with ASC 260. To calculate diluted EPS, basic EPS is further adjusted to include the effect of potentially dilutive stock options outstanding and contingently issuable equity awards.

#### 2. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

#### Adoption of New Accounting Standards

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments ("ASU 2016-13"), which requires measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held. The amendments in ASU 2016-13 eliminate the probable threshold for initial recognition of a credit loss in current GAAP and reflect an entity's current estimate of all expected credit losses. On January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13 using the modified retrospective transition method, resulting in a cumulative effect adjustment that decreased the opening balance of retained earnings by less than \$0.1\$ million. The standard did not materially impact our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income or consolidated cash flows.

In March 2020, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") adopted amendments to the financial disclosure requirements applicable to registered debt offerings that include credit enhancements, such as subsidiary guarantees, in Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X. The amended rule focuses on providing material, relevant and decision-useful information regarding guarantees and other credit enhancements, while eliminating certain prescriptive requirements. The rule is effective January 4, 2021 but earlier compliance is permitted. The Company adopted these amendments on June 30, 2020. As the combined assets, liabilities and results of operations of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. and the Guarantor Subsidiaries (the "Obligor Group") are not materially different from those in the homebuilding section of our consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, separate summarized financial information of the Obligor Group has not been included. See Note 22, Supplemental Guarantor Information, for further information regarding subsidiary guarantees.

ASU 2016-02, Leases ("ASU 2016-02") is codified in ASC 842, Leases ("ASC 842"). ASC 842 supersedes current lease guidance in ASC 840 and requires a lessee to recognize a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability for substantially all leases. The lease liability is equal to the present value of the remaining lease payments while the right-of-use asset is similarly calculated and then adjusted for initial direct costs. In addition, ASC 842 expands the disclosure requirements to increase the transparency and comparability of the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. On January 1, 2019, we adopted ASC 842 using the modified retrospective transition method. We elected available practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new standard, which among other items, allowed the Company to carry forward its historical lease classification and not reassess existing leases under the new definition of a lease in ASC 842. In addition, we will account for lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

The adoption of ASC 842 resulted in the recording of additional net lease assets and lease liabilities of \$34.2 million and \$34.3 million, respectively, as of January 1, 2019. The difference between the additional lease assets and lease liabilities, net of the deferred tax impact, was recorded as an adjustment to retained earnings. The operating lease right-of-use asset and lease liability is included as a component of prepaids and other assets and accrued and other liabilities, respectively, in the homebuilding section and other assets and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, respectively, in the financial services section of our consolidated balance sheet. The standard did not materially impact our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income or consolidated cash flows.

#### 3. Supplemental Income Statement and Cash Flow Disclosure

The table below details homebuilding interest and other income and financial services other income (expense), net:

· L.					
	Year Ended December 31,				
	2021		2020		2019
		(Dollars	in thousands)		
\$	1,502	\$	2,711	\$	7,797
	4,463		1,522		1,273
\$	5,965	\$	4,233	\$	9,070
\$	4,271	\$	3,578	\$	4,404
	_		335		1,022
	<u> </u>		(8,285)		11,797
\$	4,271	\$	(4,372)	\$	17,223
	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	\$ 5,965 \$ 4,271 ————————————————————————————————————	\$ 1,502 \$ 4,463 \$ \$ 5,965 \$ \$ \$ 4,271 \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	\$ 1,502 \$ 2,711 4,463 1,522 \$ 5,965 \$ 4,233 \$ \$ 4,271 \$ 3,578 \$ (8,285) \$ (8,285)	2021 2020 (Dollars in thousands)  \$ 1,502 \$ 2,711 \$ 4,463

The table below sets forth supplemental disclosures of cash flow information and non-cash investing and financing activities.

The table below sets forth supplemental disclosures of easil now information and non-easil investing and final	neing detrities.						
	Year Ended December 31,						
	2021 2020			2019			
			(Dollar	s in thousands)		<u>.</u>	
Cash paid for:							
Interest, net of interest capitalized	\$	632	\$	685	\$	685	
Income taxes	\$	192,372	\$	72,988	\$	56,476	

#### 4. Segment Reporting

An operating segment is defined as a component of an enterprise for which discrete financial information is available and is reviewed regularly by the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM"), or decision-making group, to evaluate performance and make operating decisions. We have identified our CODM as two key executives—the Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO").

We have identified each homebuilding division as an operating segment. Our homebuilding operating segments have been aggregated into the reportable segments noted below because they are similar in the following regards: (1) economic characteristics; (2) housing products; (3) class of homebuyer; (4) regulatory environments; and (5) methods used to construct and sell homes. Our homebuilding reportable segments are as follows:

- West (Arizona, California, Nevada, New Mexico, Oregon, Texas and Washington) Mountain (Colorado, Idaho and Utah)
- East (Florida, mid-Atlantic, which includes Maryland, Pennsylvania and Virginia, and Tennessee)

Our financial services business consists of the following operating segments: (1) HomeAmerican; (2) Allegiant; (3) StarAmerican; (4) American Home Insurance; and (5) American Home Title. Due to its contributions to consolidated pretax income we consider HomeAmerican to be a reportable segment ("mortgage operations"). The remaining operating segments have been aggregated into one reportable segment ("other") because they do not individually exceed 10 percent of (1) consolidated revenue; (2) the greater of (a) combined reported profit of all operating segments that did not report a loss or (b) the positive value of the combined reported loss of all operating segments that reported losses; or (3) consolidated assets.

Corporate is a non-operating segment that develops and implements strategic initiatives and supports our operating divisions by centralizing key administrative functions such as finance, treasury, information technology, insurance, risk management, litigation and human resources. Corporate also provides the necessary administrative functions to support MDC as a publicly traded company. A portion of the expenses incurred by Corporate are allocated to the homebuilding operating

segments based on their respective percentages of assets, and to a lesser degree, a portion of Corporate expenses are allocated to the financial services segments. A majority of Corporate's personnel and resources are primarily dedicated to activities relating to the homebuilding segments, and, therefore, the balance of any unallocated Corporate expenses is included in the homebuilding operations section of our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income

On a periodic basis, we assess our Corporate cost allocation estimates. Our prior year assessment resulted in increases in Corporate cost allocations to both our homebuilding and financial services segments beginning January 1, 2020, to reflect the use of centralized administrative functions. Applying the most recent cost allocation estimate to the year ended December 31, 2019 would have resulted in decreased pretax income for our homebuilding and financial services segments of approximately \$11.1 million and \$1.6 million, respectively, with corresponding decrease in our Corporate segment pretax loss. Additionally, beginning January 1, 2020, we have reflected the expense associated with all homebuilding employee bonuses in the respective homebuilding segment to which the employee reports, consistent with how the CODM is now evaluating homebuilding division performance and making operating decisions. Had these bonuses been reflected in a similar manner during the year ended December 31, 2019, pretax income for our homebuilding segments would have decreased by an additional \$13.1 million with a corresponding decrease in our Corporate segment pretax loss. There was no change in our Corporate cost allocation estimates in the year ended December 31, 2021.

The following tables present revenue and pretax income / (loss) relating to our homebuilding and financial services operations:

	Year Ended December 31,					
	2021			2020		2019
				(Dollars in thousands)		
Homebuilding						
West	\$	2,964,766	\$	2,106,241	\$	1,771,060
Mountain		1,567,198		1,293,779		1,131,568
East		570,492		365,359		302,620
Total homebuilding revenues	\$	5,102,456	\$	3,765,379	\$	3,205,248
Financial Services						
Mortgage operations	\$	107,535	\$	101,675	\$	55,222
Other		44,677		34,157		32,783
Total financial services revenues	\$	152,212	\$	135,832	\$	88,005
Total revenues	\$	5,254,668	\$	3,901,211	\$	3,293,253
				Year Ended December 31,		
		2021		2020		2019
		-		(Dollars in thousands)		
Homebuilding						
West		\$	463,302	\$ 229,951	\$	163,069
Mountain			231,523	175,001		136,313
East			59,494	20,006		9,857
Corporate			(94,631)	(46,441	)	(64,477)
Total homebuilding pretax income		\$	659,688	\$ 378,517	\$	244,762
Financial Services						
Mortgage operations		\$	69,455	\$ 71,017	\$	29,312
Other			22,551	7,978		30,915
Total financial services pretax income		\$	92,006	\$ 78,995	\$	60,227
Total pretax income		\$	751,694	\$ 457,512	\$	304,989

The following table summarizes total assets for our homebuilding and financial services operations. The assets in our West, Mountain and East segments consist primarily of inventory while the assets in our Corporate segment primarily include cash and cash equivalents and our deferred tax assets. The assets in our financial services operations consist mostly of cash and cash equivalents and mortgage loans held-for-sale.

December 31,

		December 31,		
	·	2021		2020
	·	(Dollars in	thousands)	
Homebuilding Assets				
West	\$	2,472,378	\$	1,855,567
Mountain		1,072,717		905,007
East		450,675		274,937
Corporate		547,364		470,909
Total homebuilding assets	\$	4,543,134	\$	3,506,420
inancial Services				
Mortgage operations	\$	313,373	\$	279,649
Other		107,021		78,851
Total financial services assets	\$	420,394	\$	358,500
Total assets	\$	4,963,528	\$	3,864,920

#### 5. Earnings Per Share

On January 28, 2019, MDC's board of directors approved an 8% stock dividend that was distributed on February 28, 2019 to shareholders of record on February 14, 2019. On January 25, 2021, the Company declared an 8% stock dividend that was distributed on March 17, 2021 to shareholders of record on March 3, 2021. In accordance with ASC 260, basic and diluted earnings per share amounts, weighted-average shares outstanding, and dividends declared per share have been restated for all appropriate periods presented to reflect the effect of these stock dividends. The following table shows our basic and diluted EPS calculations:

	Year Ended December 31,					
		2021		2020		2019
			(Dollars in thousan	ds, except per share amo	unts)	
Numerator						
Net income	\$	573,657	\$	367,582	\$	238,312
Less: distributed earnings allocated to participating securities		(634)		(583)		(466)
Less: undistributed earnings allocated to participating securities		(2,343)		(1,748)		(1,020)
Net income attributable to common stockholders (numerator for basic earnings per share)		570,680		365,251		236,826
Add back: undistributed earnings allocated to participating securities		2,343		1,748		1,020
Less: undistributed earnings reallocated to participating securities		(2,269)		(1,704)		(992)
Numerator for diluted earnings per share under two class method	\$	570,754	\$	365,295	\$	236,854
Denominator						
Weighted-average common shares outstanding		70,174,281		68,531,856		66,546,347
Add: dilutive effect of stock options		2,302,773		1,792,006		1,876,980
Add: dilutive effect of contingently issuable equity awards		377,547		352,719		375,552
Denominator for diluted earnings per share under two class method		72,854,601		70,676,581		68,798,879
					•	·
Basic Earnings Per Common Share	\$	8.13	\$	5.33	\$	3.56
Diluted Earnings Per Common Share	\$	7.83	\$	5.17	\$	3.44

Diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 excluded options to purchase approximately 15,000, 400,000, 400,000 shares, respectively, of common stock because the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

#### 6. Fair Value Measurements

ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements ("ASC 820"), defines fair value, establishes guidelines for measuring fair value and requires disclosures regarding fair value measurements. ASC 820 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs for which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.

The following table sets forth the fair values and methods used for measuring the fair values of financial instruments on a recurring basis:

		_		Fdii	value	_		
	Financial Instrument		December 31, 2021		Hierarchy December 31, 202		Dec	ember 31, 2020
			(Dollars in thousands)					
Mortgage loans held-for-sale, net		Level 2	\$	282,529	\$	232,556		

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding debt securities with an original maturity of three months or less), restricted cash, trade and other receivables, prepaids and other assets, accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities and borrowings on our revolving credit facility. Fair value approximates carrying value.

Equity securities. Our equity securities consisted of holdings in common stock stock and exchange traded funds and were recorded at fair value as with all changes in fair value recorded to other income (expense), net in the financial services section of our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. We did not have any investments in equity securities at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

The following table reconciles the net gain (loss) recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 on equity securities to the unrealized gain (loss) recognized during the period on equity securities still held at the reporting date.

		Year Ended December 31,			
	20	21		2020	
	·	(Dollars in thousands)			
Net gain (loss) recognized during the period on equity securities	\$	_	\$	(8,285)	
Less: Net gain (loss) recognized during the period on equity securities sold during the period		_		(8,285)	
Unrealized gain (loss) recognized during the reporting period on equity securities still held at the reporting date	\$		\$	_	

Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale, Net. Our mortgage loans held-for-sale, which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis include (1) mortgage loans held-for-sale that are under commitments to sell and (2) mortgage loans held-for-sale that were not under commitments to sell. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had \$157.7 million and \$137.3 million, respectively, in fair value of mortgage loans held-for-sale that were under commitments to sell. The fair value for those loans was based on quoted market prices for those mortgage loans, which are Level 2 fair value inputs. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had \$124.9 million and \$95.3 million, respectively, in fair value of mortgage loans held-for-sale that were not under commitments to sell. The fair value for those loans was primarily based upon the estimated market price received from an outside party, which is a Level 2 fair value input. The unpaid principal balances of all mortgage loans held for sale at December 31, 2021 and 2020 were \$276.9 million and \$222.3 million, respectively.

Mortgage Repurchase Facility. The debt associated with our Mortgage Repurchase Facility (see Note 16, Lines of Credit and Total Debt Obligations, for further discussion) is at floating rates that approximate current market rates and have relatively short-term maturities, generally within 30 days. The fair value approximates carrying value and is based on Level 2 inputs.

Senior Notes. The estimated values of the senior notes in the following table are based on Level 2 inputs, which primarily reflect estimated prices for our senior notes which were provided by multiple sources.

	December 31, 2021					Decem	ber 31, 2020	
	Carrying Amount Fair Value		Amo	Carrying ount	1	Fair Value		
	(Dollars in thousands)							
\$250 million 5.500% senior notes due January 2024, net	\$	_	\$	_	\$	249,233	\$	275,463
\$300 million 3.850% senior notes due January 2030, net		297,699		319,057		297,458		331,384
\$350 million 2.500% senior notes due January 2031, net		347,126		339,185		_		_
\$500 million 6.000% senior notes due January 2043, net		490,903		628,092		490,700		667,288
\$350 million 3.966% senior notes due August 2061, net		346,053		337,017		_		_
Total	\$	1,481,781	\$	1,623,351	\$	1,037,391	\$	1,274,135

On September 17, 2021, we accelerated the retirement of \$123.6 million of our 5.500% senior notes scheduled to mature in January 2024 through a cash tender offer. We accelerated the retirement of the remaining \$126.4 million of our 5.500% senior notes on December 23, 2021, pursuant to their optional redemption provisions. These retirements resulted in a loss on retirement of debt of \$23.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2021.

#### 7. Inventories

The table below sets forth, by reportable segment, information relating to our homebuilding inventories.

	De 20:	ecember 31, 21		ecember 31, 20
		(Dollars i	n thousands)	
Housing Completed or Under Construction:				
West	\$	1,077,256	\$	902,842
Mountain		596,164		464,501
East		244,196		119,244
Subtotal		1,917,616		1,486,587
Land and Land Under Development:				
West		1,235,363		822,504
Mountain		435,958		391,054
East		171,914		132,085
Subtotal		1,843,235	•	1,345,643
Total Inventories	\$	3,760,851	\$	2,832,230

Inventory impairments recognized by segment for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 are shown in the table below.

		Year Ended December 31,					
	_	2021 2020			2020	2019	
	_			(Dollars i	n thousands)		
Housing Completed or Under Construction:							
West		\$	1,600	\$	_	\$	100
Mountain			_		_		_
East			_		_		435
Subtotal	_		1,600				535
Land and Land Under Development:	_						
West			_		_		_
Mountain			_		_		400
East			_		_		_
Subtotal							400
Total Inventory Impairments		\$	1,600	\$		\$	935

The table below provides quantitative data, for the periods presented, where applicable, used in determining the fair value of the impaired inventory.

		Impairment Data						
Three Months Ended	Number of Subdivisions Impaired	Inventory Impairments			r Value of After Impairments	Discount Rate		
	· •	(Do	ollars in thousands)			_		
December 31, 2021	1	\$	1,600	\$	6,903	N/A		
Total		\$	1,600					
March 31, 2019	2	\$	610	\$	10,476	N/A		
December 31, 2019	2		325		3,948	N/A		
Total		\$	935					

#### 8. Capitalization of Interest

We capitalize interest to inventories during the period of development in accordance with ASC Topic 835, *Interest* ("ASC 835"). Homebuilding interest capitalized as a cost of inventories is included in cost of sales during the period that related units or lots are delivered. To the extent our homebuilding debt exceeds our qualified assets as defined in ASC 835, we expense a portion of the interest incurred. Qualified homebuilding assets consist of all lots and homes, excluding finished unsold homes or finished models, within projects that are actively selling or under development. The table set forth below summarizes homebuilding interest activity. For all periods presented below, our qualified assets exceeded our homebuilding debt and as such, all interest incurred has been capitalized.

	Year Ended December 31,					
		2021	2020			2019
			(Dollar	s in thousands)		
Homebuilding interest incurred	\$	72,500	\$	61,276	\$	63,635
Less: Interest capitalized		(72,500)		(61,276)		(63,635)
Homebuilding interest expensed	\$		\$		\$	_
						,
Interest capitalized, beginning of period	\$	52,777	\$	55,310	\$	54,845
Plus: Interest capitalized during period		72,500		61,276		63,635
Less: Previously capitalized interest included in home and land cost of sales		(67,223)		(63,809)		(63,170)
Interest capitalized, end of period	\$	58,054	\$	52,777	\$	55,310

#### 9. Homebuilding Prepaids and Other Assets

The following table sets forth the components of homebuilding prepaids and other assets.

	Decen	nber 31,	
	2021		2020
	(Dollars ir	thousands)	
Operating lease right-of-use asset (Note 2 and Note 10)	\$ 25,514	\$	29,226
Land option deposits	41,617		29,987
Prepaids	26,058		26,929
Goodwill	6,008		6,008
Deferred debt issuance costs on revolving credit facility, net	7,166		9,043
Other	199		492
Total	\$ 106,562	\$	101,685

#### 10. Leases

We lease certain property, land and equipment, the majority of which comprise property related leases to provide office space where we operate our business. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet. We recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Our property related leases typically have terms of between three and five years, with the exception of the lease governing the Company's headquarters. All of our property leases are classified as operating leases. These leases do not contain any residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants and do not include variable lease payments, except for the payment of common area maintenance and real estate taxes. Many of our property related leases give us the option to extend the lease term for a period of time, generally consistent with the initial lease term. These options are excluded from our calculation of the right-of-use asset and lease liability until such time as we determine it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised.

The property related lease for the Company's headquarters in Denver, Colorado is ten years in length with an expiration date of October 31, 2026 and contains a ten year option to extend the term of the lease through 2036. This option has been excluded from our calculation of the right-of-use asset and lease liability as it is not currently considered reasonably certain that the option will be exercised.

Operating lease expense is included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses and expenses in the homebuilding and financial services sections of our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, respectively.

Components of operating lease expense were as follows:

		Year Ended December 31,						
	·	2021 2020		2020		2019		
			(Dollar	s in thousands)				
Operating lease cost <sup>1</sup>	\$	8,028	\$	8,193	\$	7,690		
Sublease income (Note 15)		(156)		(153)		(150)		
Net lease cost	\$	7,872	\$	8,040	\$	7,540		

 $^{\rm 1}$  Includes variable lease costs, which are immaterial.

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:

		 Year Ended December 31,					
		 2021			2020		
		 (Dollars in thousands)					
Cash paid for amounts	included in the measurement of lease liabilities:						
Operating cash flo	ows from operating leases	\$	7,598	\$	7,394	\$	7,255
Leased assets obtained	in exchange for new operating lease liabilities	\$	1,765	\$	4,050	\$	3,255

Supplemental cash flow information related to non-cash transactions also includes the recognition of operating lease right-of-use assets of \$33.5 million and operating lease liabilities of \$34.3 million upon adoption of ASC 842 during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate for operating leases were as follows:

	December 31, 2021	December 31, 2020
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)	4.5	5.3
Weighted-average discount rate	5.5%	5.5%

Maturities of operating lease liabilities were as follows:

	Year End	led December 31,
	(Dollars	s in thoursands)
2022	\$	6,800
2023		6,643
2024		5,951
2025		5,733
2026		4,661
Thereafter		434
Total operating lease payments <sup>1</sup>	\$	30,222
Less: Interest		(3,530)
Present value of operating lease liabilities <sup>2</sup>	\$	26,692

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Operating lease payments exclude \$4.5 million of legally binding lease payments for leases signed but not yet commenced.
<sup>2</sup> Homebuilding and financial services operating lease liabilities of \$26.4 million and \$0.3 million, respectively, are included as a component of accrued and other liabilities and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, respectively, in the homebuilding and financial services section of our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2021.

#### 11. Homebuilding Accrued and Other Liabilities and Financial Services Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

 $The following \ table \ sets \ for th \ information \ relating \ to \ homebuilding \ accrued \ and \ other \ liabilities.$ 

\$ (Dollars in 81,417 89,353 37,491	n thousands)	56,682 67,022 33,664
\$ 81,417 89,353	thousands) \$	67,022
\$ 89,353	\$	67,022
37,491		33.664
26,440		30,221
30,934		27,650
9,287		8,479
22,012		10,824
73,976		66,193
\$ 370,910	\$	300,735
\$	30,934 9,287 22,012 73,976	30,934 9,287 22,012 73,976

The following table sets forth information relating to financial services accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

	December 31,			
		2021		2020
		(Dollars i	n thousands)	
Insurance reserves	\$	72,900	\$	61,575
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities		25,003		34,055
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$	97,903	\$	95,630

#### 12. Warranty Accrual

The table set forth below summarizes accrual, adjustment and payment activity related to our warranty accrual for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. The warranty accrual increased due to the increase in the number of home closings. From time to time, we change our warranty accrual rates based on payment trends. Any changes made to those rates did not materially affect our warranty expense or gross margin from home sales for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

	Year Ended December 31,								
		2021	2020		2019				
			(Dollars	in thousands)					
Balance at beginning of period	\$	33,664	\$	31,386	\$	28,262			
Expense provisions		22,696		16,700		15,525			
Cash payments		(18,850)		(12,343)		(12,466)			
Adjustments		(19)		(2,079)		65			
Balance at end of period	\$	37,491	\$	33,664	\$	31,386			

#### 13. Insurance and Construction Defect Claim Reserves

The following table summarizes our insurance and defect claim reserves activity for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. These reserves are included as a component of accounts payable and accrued liabilities and accrued and other liabilities in either the financial services or homebuilding sections of the consolidated balance sheets, respectively.

		De	cember 31,	
	2021		2020	2019
		(Dollar	rs in thousands)	
Balance at beginning of period	\$ 70,054	\$	60,415	\$ 55,308
Expense provisions	19,653		15,403	12,650
Cash payments, net of recoveries	(7,520)		(5,764)	(8,493)
Adjustments	_		_	950
Balance at end of period	\$ 82,187	\$	70,054	\$ 60,415

We recorded a \$1.0 million adjustment to increase our insurance and construction defect claim reserves in 2019 due to greater than expected expenditures by our homebuilding subsidiaries. No such adjustments were required for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

In the ordinary course of business, we make payments from our insurance and construction defect claim reserves to settle litigation claims arising primarily from our homebuilding activities. These payments are irregular in both their timing and their magnitude. As a result, the cash payments, net of recoveries shown for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, are not necessarily indicative of what future cash payments will be for subsequent periods.

#### 14. Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following:

	Year Ended December 31,										
		2021		2020		2019					
			(Dollar	s in thousands)							
Current tax provision:											
Federal	\$	148,741	\$	63,224	\$	50,870					
State		35,784		16,018		2,137					
Total current		184,525		79,242		53,007					
Deferred tax provision:											
Federal		(6,699)		6,380		5,175					
State		211		4,308		8,495					
Total deferred		(6,488)		10,688		13,670					
Provision for income taxes	\$	178,037	\$	89,930	\$	66,677					

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount that would be computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate of 21% in 2021, 2020 and 2019 to income before income taxes as a result of the following:

				Yea	r Ended December 31	1,		
	,	2021		2019				
				(I				
Tax expense computed at federal statutory rate	\$	157,856		\$	96,077		\$ 64,048	
State income tax expense, net of federal benefit		26,441			17,535		9,810	
Limitation on executive compensation		14,915			8,102		4,463	
Tax expense (benefit) related to an increase (decrease) in unrecognized tax benefits		(4,044)			473		(1,571)	
Stock based compensation (windfall)/shortfall		(1,830)			(7,907)		(2,828)	
Federal energy credits		(14,558)			(23,331)		(7,649)	
Rate changes		81			(291)		190	
Change in valuation allowance		(1,054)			(2,128)		121	
Other		230			1,400		93	
Provision for income taxes	\$	178,037		\$	89,930		\$ 66,677	
Effective tax rate		23.7	%		19.7	%	21.9	%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The tax effects of significant temporary differences that give rise to the net deferred tax asset are as follows:

		December 31, 2021 2020								
	•	2021		2020						
Deferred tax assets:										
State net operating loss carryforwards		\$ 3,361	\$	5,739						
Stock-based compensation expense		4,350		4,546						
Warranty, litigation and other reserves		14,785		12,686						
Accrued compensation		8,602		2,958						
Asset impairment charges		468		1,416						
Inventory, additional net costs capitalized for tax purposes		8,298		8,938						
Other, net	_	1,526		3,441						
Total deferred tax assets		41,390		39,724						
Valuation allowance		(3,316)		(4,370)						
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance		38,074		35,354						
Deferred tax liabilities:										
Property, equipment and other assets		10,871		11,654						
Deferral of profit on home sales		4,668		7,144						
Other, net		4,593		5,102						
Total deferred tax liabilities	•	20,132		23,900						
Net deferred tax asset		\$ 17,942	\$	11,454						

At December 31, 2021, we had no federal net operating loss or alternative minimum tax carryforwards. However, we had \$3.4 million in tax-effected state net operating loss carryforwards. The state operating loss carryforwards, if unused, begin expiring in 2024.

At December 31, 2021, we had a valuation allowance of \$3.3 million, a decrease of \$1.1 million from the prior year. The valuation allowance is related to various state net operating loss carryforwards where realization is uncertain at this time due to the limited carryforward periods coupled with minimal activity that exists in certain states.

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, our total liability for uncertain tax positions including interest and penalties was \$0.4 million and \$9.3 million, respectively. The following table summarizes activity for the gross unrecognized tax benefit component of our total liability for uncertain tax positions for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

	Year Ended December 31,								
	2021		2020		2019				
		s in thousands)							
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year	\$ 8,497	\$	8,515	\$	8,579				
Increases related to prior year tax positions	162		121		75				
Decreases related to prior year tax positions	_		_		_				
Lapse of applicable statute of limitations	 (8,276)		(139)		(139)				
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at end of year	\$ 383	\$	8,497	\$	8,515				

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we experienced a reduction in the uncertain tax positions due to the lapse of the statute of limitations of \$8.3 million, of which approximately \$3.2 million reduced our effective tax rate. Interest and penalties associated with the statute of limitations lapse were approximately \$0.9 million. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, there was \$0.4 million and \$3.5 million, respectively, of unrecognized tax benefits that if recognized, would reduce our effective tax rate.

The interest and penalties, net of federal benefit for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was \$(0.8) million, \$0.5 million, and \$(1.5) million, respectively, and are included in provision for income taxes in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. We are not aware of any tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will change materially in the next twelve provides.

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state jurisdictions. We are subject to U.S. federal income tax examination for calendar tax years ending 2018 through 2021. Additionally, we are subject to various state income tax examinations for the 2017 through 2021 calendar tax years.

#### 15. Related Party Transactions

The Company has a sublease agreement with CVentures, Inc. Larry A. Mizel, the Company's Executive Chairman, is the President of CVentures, Inc. The sublease is for office space that CVentures, Inc. has continuously leased from the Company as disclosed in the Form 8-K filed July 27, 2005 and the Form 8-K filed March 28, 2006. The current sublease term commenced November 1, 2016 and will continue through October 31, 2026. The sublease agreement is for approximately 5,437 rentable square feet at a base rent that increases over the term from \$26.50 to \$31.67 per rentable square foot per year. The sublease rent is an allocation of the rent under the master lease agreement based on the sublease square footage.

#### 16. Lines of Credit and Total Debt Obligations

Revolving Credit Facility. We have an unsecured revolving credit agreement ("Revolving Credit Facility") with a group of lenders, which may be used for general corporate purposes. This agreement was amended on December 28, 2020 to (1) increase the aggregate commitment from \$1.0 billion to \$1.2 billion (the "Commitment"), (2) extend the Revolving Credit Facility maturity of \$1.125 billion of the Commitments to December 18, 2025 with the remaining Commitments continuing to terminate on December 18, 2023 and (3) provide that the aggregate amount of the commitments may increase to an amount not to exceed \$1.7 billion upon our request, subject to receipt of additional commitments from existing or additional lenders and, in the case of additional lenders, the consent of the co-administrative agents. As defined in the Revolving Credit Facility, interest rates on base rate borrowings are equal to the highest of (1) 0.0%, (2) a prime rate, (3) a federal funds effective rate plus 1.50%, and (4) a specified eurocurrency rate plus 1.00% and, in each case, plus a margin that is determined based on our credit ratings and leverage ratio. At any time at which our leverage ratio, as of the last day of the most recent calendar quarter, exceeds 55%, the aggregate principal amount of all consolidated senior debt borrowings outstanding may not exceed the borrowing base. There is no borrowing base requirement if our leverage ratio, as of the last day of the most recent calendar quarter, is 55% or less.

The Revolving Credit Facility provides for a transition from the eurocurrency rate to a benchmark replacement upon the occurrence of certain events.

The Revolving Credit Facility is fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by most of our homebuilding segment subsidiaries. The facility contains various representations, warranties and covenants that we believe are customary for agreements of this type. The financial covenants include a consolidated tangible net worth test and a leverage test, along with a consolidated tangible net worth covenant, all as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility. A failure to satisfy the foregoing tests does not constitute an event of default, but can trigger a "term-out" of the facility. A breach of the consolidated tangible net worth covenant (but not the consolidated tangible net worth test) or a violation of anti-corruption or sanctions laws would result in an event of default.

The Revolving Credit Facility is subject to acceleration upon certain specified events of default, including breach of the consolidated tangible net worth covenant, a violation of anti-corruption or sanctions laws, failure to make timely payments, breaches of certain representations or covenants, failure to pay other material indebtedness, or another person becoming beneficial owner of 50% or more of our outstanding common stock. We believe we were in compliance with the representations, warranties and covenants included in the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2021.

We incur costs associated with unused commitment fees pursuant to the terms of the Revolving Credit Facility. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were \$40.1 million and \$25.1 million, respectively, in letters of credit outstanding, which reduced the amounts available to be borrowed under the Revolving Credit Facility. We had \$10.0 million and \$10.0 million outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, availability under the Revolving Credit Facility was approximately \$1.15 billion.

Mortgage Repurchase Facility. HomeAmerican has a Master Repurchase Agreement (the "Mortgage Repurchase Facility") with U.S. Bank National Association ("USBNA"). The Mortgage Repurchase Facility provides liquidity to HomeAmerican by providing for the sale of up to an aggregate of \$75 million (subject to increase by up to \$75 million under certain conditions) of eligible mortgage loans to USBNA with an agreement by HomeAmerican be repurchase the mortgage loans at a future date. Until such mortgage loans are transferred back to HomeAmerican, the documents relating to such loans are held by USBNA, as custodian, pursuant to the Custody Agreement", dated as of November 12, 2008, by and between HomeAmerican and USBNA. In the event that an eligible mortgage loan becomes ineligible, as defined under the Mortgage Repurchase Facility, HomeAmerican may be required to repurchase the ineligible mortgage loan immediately. The Mortgage Repurchase Facility was amended on September 24, 2020, March 25, 2021, May 20, 2021, and December 21, 2021 to adjust the commitments to purchase for specific time periods. As part of the amendments, the commitments to purchase (subject to increase by up to \$75 million under certain conditions) were increased as follows: (1) \$200 million for the periods March 25, 2021 through April 22, 2021, June 23, 2021 through July 22, 2021, September 22, 2021 through October 21, 2021, and March 23, 2022 through April 21, 2022 and (3) \$400 million for the period December 21, 2021 through February 15, 2022. The Mortgage Repurchase Facility terminates on May 19, 2022.

There was no increase to the maximum aggregate commitment of the Mortgage Repurchase Facility as of December 31, 2021. The maximum aggregate commitment of the Mortgage Repurchase Facility was temporarily increased by \$50 million on December 28, 2020 effective through January 27, 2021. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, HomeAmerican had \$256.3 million and \$202.4 million, respectively, of mortgage loans that HomeAmerican was obligated to repurchase under the Mortgage Repurchase Facility are accounted for as a debt financing arrangement and are reported as mortgage repurchase facility in the consolidated balance sheets. The December 21, 2021 amendment also provides for a transition from a pricing rate based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) to one based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR).

Senior Notes. Our senior notes are not secured and, while the senior note indentures contain some restrictions on secured debt and other transactions, they do not contain financial covenants. Our senior notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on an unsecured basis, jointly and severally, by most of our homebuilding segment subsidiaries. We believe that we are in compliance with the representations, warranties and covenants in the senior note indentures.

December 31.

Our debt obligations at December 31, 2021 and 2020, net of any unamortized debt issuance costs or discount, were as follows:

		2021		2020
		(Dollars	in thousands)	<u>.</u>
\$250 million 5.500% senior notes due January 2024, net	\$	_	\$	249,233
\$300 million 3.850% senior notes due January 2030, net		297,699		297,458
\$350 million 2.500% senior notes due January 2031, net		347,126		_
\$500 million 6.000% senior notes due January 2043, net		490,903		490,700
\$350 million 3.966% senior notes due August 2061, net		346,053		_
Total	\$	1,481,781	\$	1,037,391

In January 2021, we completed an offering of \$350 million of 2.500% senior notes due January 2031 at 100% of par. In August 2021, the Company issued \$350 million of 3.966% senior notes due August 2061 at 100% of par. We used the net proceeds for general corporate purposes, which included the retirement of our 5.500% senior notes discussed further below, which were scheduled to mature in January 2024.

In September 2021, we accelerated the retirement of \$123.6 million of our 5.500% senior notes scheduled to mature in January 2024 through a cash tender offer. The retirement resulted in a loss of \$12.2 million, which included the write-off of debt issuance costs and transaction fees. In December 2021, we accelerated the retirement of the remaining \$126.4 million of our 5.500% senior notes pursuant to their optional redemption provisions. The retirement resulted in a loss of \$11.4 million, which included the write-off of debt issuance costs and transaction fees.

#### 17. Commitments and Contingencies

Surety Bonds and Letters of Credit. We are required to obtain surety bonds and letters of credit in support of our obligations for land development and subdivision improvements, homeowner association dues, warranty work, contractor license fees and earnest money deposits. At December 31, 2021, we had outstanding surety bonds and letters of credit totaling \$371.3 million and \$215.5 million, respectively, including \$175.4 millions in letters of credit were approximately \$201.7 million and \$161.6 million, respectively. All letters of credit as of December 31, 2021, excluding those issued by HomeAmerican, were issued under our unsecured Revolving Credit Facility (see Note 16, Lines of Credit and Total Debt Obligations, for further discussion of the Revolving Credit Facility.) We expect that the obligations secured by these performance bonds and letters of credit generally will be performed in the ordinary course of business and in accordance with the applicable contractual terms. To the extent that the obligations could require us to reimburse the issuer of the performance bond or letter of credit.

We have made no material guarantees with respect to third-party obligations

Litigation Reserves. Because of the nature of the homebuilding business, we have been named as defendants in various claims, complaints and other legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, including product liability claims and claims associated with the sale and financing of homes. In the opinion of management, the outcome of these ordinary course matters will not have a material adverse effect upon our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. At both December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had \$1.6 million of legal accruals recorded in accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

Loan Origination Liabilities. HomeAmerican sold to financial institutions certain loans originated prior to 2009 that were subsequently included by such financial institutions in residential mortgage-backed securities offerings or other securitizations issued by those financial institutions. In connection with such sales, we were put on notice by one institution of a claim for indemnification or breach of contract relating to certain loans that were included in securitizations. The claim related to alleged misrepresentations by borrowers on certain residential mortgage loans originated by HomeAmerican and/or alleged lack of conformity of certain loans to applicable underwriting guidelines promulgated by the financial institution. This matter was settled as of December 31, 2019 and did not have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

Lot Option Contracts. In the ordinary course of business, we enter into lot option purchase contracts ("Option Contracts"), generally through a deposit of cash or a letter of credit, for the right to purchase land or lots at a future point in time with predetermined terms. The use of such land option and other contracts generally allow us to reduce the risks associated with direct land ownership and development, reduces our capital and financial commitments, and minimizes the amount of land inventories on our consolidated balance sheets. In certain cases, these contracts will be settled shortly following the end of the period. Our obligation with respect to Option Contracts is generally limited to forfeiture of the related deposits. At December 31, 2021, we had cash deposits and letters of credit totaling \$38.1 million and \$17.3 million, respectively, at risk associated with options to purchase 11,148 lots.

Coronavirus/COVID-19 Pandemic. In response to the pandemic, many state and local governments instituted restrictions that substantially limited the operations of non-essential businesses and the activities of individuals. While some of these restrictions have been eased, there is still significant uncertainty around the extent and duration of those still in place and the possibility for restrictions to be increased again in the future. We continue to construct, market and sell homes in all markets in which we operate, but increased restrictions could have a negative impact on traffic at our sales centers and model homes, cancellation rates and our ability to physically construct homes. While the extent to which the pandemic will impact our financial results in the coming periods depends on future developments, including whether there are additional outbreaks of COVID-19 and the actions taken to contain or address the virus, the pandemic and its associated impact on the U.S. economy and consumer confidence could have a material impact to the Company's future results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

#### 18. Concentration of Third-Party Mortgage Purchasers

The following table sets forth the percent of mortgage loans sold by HomeAmerican to its primary third party purchasers during 2021, 2020 and 2019. No other third parties purchased greater than 10 percent of our mortgage loans during 2021, 2020 or 2019.

	Year Ended December 31,											
	2021		2020		2019							
PennyMac Loan Services, LLC	37	%	33	%	41	%						
Fannie Mae	19	%	24	%	7	%						
Chase Manhattan Mortgage	13	%	4	%	8	%						
Ginnie Mae	9	%	18	%	4	%						
Wells Fargo Funding, Inc.	6	%	9	%	16	%						

#### 19. Stockholders' Equity

Cash Dividends. In each of the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we paid dividends of \$1.67 per share, \$1.29 per share and \$1.09 per share, respectively

Stock Dividends. On January 28, 2019, MDC's board of directors approved an 8% stock dividend that was distributed on February 28, 2019 to shareholders of record on February 14, 2019. On January 25, 2021, the Company declared an 8% stock dividend that was distributed on March 17, 2021 to shareholders of record on March 3, 2021.

Common Stock Repurchase Program. At December 31, 2021, we were authorized to repurchase up to 4,000,000 shares of our common stock. We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock under this repurchase program during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 or 2019. We did not hold any treasury stock at December 31, 2021.

#### 20. Equity Incentive and Employee Benefit Plans

A summary of our equity incentive plans, restated as applicable for stock dividends, follows.

Employee Equity Incentive Plans. On April 27, 2011, our shareholders approved the M.D.C Holdings, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2011 Equity Incentive Plan") which provided for the grant of non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and other equity awards to employees of the Company. Stock options granted under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan had an exercise price that is at least equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date the stock option is granted, generally vested in periods up to five years and expired ten years after the date of grant. On April 27, 2021, the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan terminated and awards outstanding at the time the plan terminated remain outstanding in accordance with the terms and conditions of the plan and award agreement. There are 5.6 million remaining shares of MDC common stock reserved for issuance under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2021.

On April 26, 2021, our shareholders approved the M.D.C Holdings, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2021 Equity Incentive Plan") which provides for the grant of non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and other stock-based and cash awards to employees of the Company. Stock options granted under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan have an exercise price that is at least equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date the stock option is granted, generally vest in periods up to five years and expire ten years after the date of grant. At December 31, 2021, a total of 3.0 million shares of MDC common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, of which 2.2 million shares remained available for grant under this plan as of December 31, 2021.

Director Equity Incentive Plans. Effective April 27, 2011, our shareholders approved the M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2011 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the "2011 Director Stock Option Plan"), which provided for the grant of non-qualified stock options to non-employee directors of the Company. Effective March 29, 2016, our shareholders approved an amendment to the 2011 Director Stock Option Plan to provide the non-employee directors with an alternative to elect to receive an award of restricted stock in lieu of a stock option. Pursuant to the 2011 Director Stock Option Plan as amended, on August 1 of each year, each non-employee director is granted either (1) an option to purchase 25,000 shares of MDC common stock or (2) shares of restricted stock having an expense to the Company that is equivalent to the stock option. Effective April 20, 2020, our shareholders approved an amendment and restatement of the 2011 Director Stock Option Plan to (1) rename the 2011

Director Stock Option Plan as the M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2020 Equity Plan for Non-Employee Directors (such amended and restated 2011 Director Plan, the "2020 Director Equity Plan"), (2) increase the number of shares covered by the annual grant of each stock option (without increasing the total number of shares or decrease in the number of shares or decrease in the number of shares of stock outstanding on account of any recapitalization, split, reverse split, combination, exchange, dividend or other distribution payable in shares of stock, and (4) extend the 2020 Director Equity Plan's termination date to April 20, 2030. Each option granted under the 2020 Director Equity Plan vests immediately, becomes exercisable six months after grant, and expires ten years from the date of grant. The option exercise price must be equal to the fair market value (as defined in the plan) of our common stock on the date of grant of the option. Each restricted stock award granted under the 2020 Equity Plan vests seven months after the grant date. At December 31, 2021, a total of 0.6 million shares of MDC common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2020 Director Equity Plan and 0.4 million shares remained available for grant under this plan as of December 31, 2021.

Employee Benefit Plan. We have a defined contribution plan pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code where each employee may elect to make contributions up to the current tax limits. Effective for 2018 and thereafter, we match employee contributions at a rate of 50% of the first 6% of compensation and, as of December 31, 2021, we had accrued \$3.6 million related to the match that is to be contributed in the first quarter of 2022 for 2021 activity. At December 31, 2020, we had accrued \$3.6 million related to the match that was contributed during the first quarter of 2020 for 2019 activity.

#### 21. Stock Based Compensation

Determining Fair Value of Share-Based Option Awards. Most options that we grant contain only a service condition ("Service-Based" option) and therefore vest over a specified number of years as long as the employee is employed by the Company. For Service-Based options, we use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the grant date fair value.

The fair values for Service-Based options granted for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the below weighted-average assumptions.

	Year Ended December 31,											
	2021		2020		2019							
Expected lives of options (years)		5.4	9	9.5		9.5						
Expected volatility	40.4	%	62.8	%	29.9	%						
Risk free interest rate	0.8	%	0.7	%	1.7	%						
Dividend yield rate	3.0	%	5.1	%	3.4	%						

Based on calculations using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, the weighted-average grant date fair values of stock options granted, restated as applicable for stock dividends, during 2021, 2020 and 2019 were \$14.66, \$8.73 and \$7.30, respectively. The expected life of options in the table above represents the weighted-average period for which the options are expected to remain outstanding and are derived primarily from historical exercise patterns. The expected volatility is determined based on our review of the implied volatility that is derived from the price of exchange traded options of the Company. The risk-free interest rate assumption is determined based upon observed interest rates appropriate for the expected term of our employee stock options. The dividend yield assumption is based on our history of dividend payouts.

Stock Option Award Activity. Stock option activity under our option plans, restated as applicable for stock dividends, for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were as follows.

		2021			2020	2019									
	Number of Shares	Avera Exerc	ge ise		Avera Exerc	ge ise		Averag Exercis	ge se						
Outstanding Stock Option Activity															
Outstanding, beginning of year	4,364,161	\$	23.37	5,831,119	\$	22.22	6,452,388	\$	21.76						
Granted	15,000		53.32	432,000		23.90	445,227		32.92						
Exercised	(139,157)		19.87	(1,898,958)		19.96	(1,066,496)		23.75						
Forfeited	_		N/A	_		N/A	_		N/A						
Cancelled	_		N/A	_		N/A	_		N/A						
Outstanding, end of year	4,240,004	\$	23.64	4,364,161	\$	23.37	5,831,119	\$	22.22						

				Year Ended I	Dece	mber 31,				
	20	)21		20	20		2019			
	Number of Shares		Weighted- Average Fair Value	Number of Shares			Number of Shares		Weighted- Average Fair Value	
Unvested Stock Option Activity										
Outstanding, beginning of year	875,519	\$	7.76	756,268	\$	6.67	522,225	\$	5.80	
Granted	15,000		14.66	432,000		8.73	445,227		7.30	
Vested	(458,519)		7.52	(312,749)		6.44	(211,184)		5.49	
Forfeited	_		_	_		_	_		N/A	
Unvested, end of year	432,000	\$	8.25	875,519	\$	7.76	756,268	\$	6.67	

The total intrinsic value of options (difference between price per share as of the exercise date and the exercise price, times the number of options outstanding) exercised during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was \$5.1 million, \$40.2 million and \$8.2 million, respectively.

The	following	table	provides	data	for	our	stock	options	that	are	vested	or	expected	to	vest	as	of	December	31,	2021.
Exerci	sable or expected	l to vest																		
N	umber outstandin	g																	4,	,240,004
W	eighted-average e	xercise price	•															\$		23.64
A	ggregate intrinsic	value (in tho	usands)															\$		136,501
W	eighted-average r	emaining cor	ntractual term (y	rears)																4.62
Exerci	sable																			
N	umber outstandin	g																	3,	,808,004
W	eighted-average e	xercise price	•															\$		23.27
A	ggregate intrinsic	value (in tho	usands)															\$		124,006
W	eighted-average r	emaining co	ntractual term (y	ears)																4.22

The aggregate intrinsic values in the tables above represent the total pretax intrinsic values (the difference between the closing price of MDC's common stock on the last trading day of fiscal 2021 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money stock option shares) that would have been received by the option holders had all in-the-money outstanding stock options been exercised on December 31, 2021.

The following table summarizes information associated with outstanding and exercisable stock options at December 31, 2021.

					<u></u>		Options Outstan	ding		Options Exercisable					
_							Weighted- Average Remaining Wei Contractual Average				Weighted- Average Remaining Contractual	Weighted- Average			
Range of Exercise Price			Number Outstanding	Life (in years)	Exercise Price		Number Outstanding	Life (in years)	Exercise Price						
	\$	15.01	-	\$	20.00	61,172	3.30	\$	18.43	61,172	3.30	\$	18.43		
	\$	20.01	-	\$	25.00	3,189,819	3.99		21.84	2,901,819	3.56		21.63		
	\$	25.01	-	\$	30.00	542,013	5.94		26.59	542,013	5.94		26.59		
	\$	30.01	-	\$	35.00	432,000	7.59		32.92	288,000	7.59		32.92		
	\$	50.01	-	\$	55.00	15,000	9.58		53.32	15,000	9.58		53.32		
	Total				· <u> </u>	4,240,004	4.62	\$	23.64	3,808,004	4.22	\$	23.27		

Total compensation expense relating to stock options was \$3.0 million, \$2.9 million and \$1.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Our recognized tax benefit from this expense for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was \$0.1 million, \$0.0 million, \$0.0 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, \$2.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options was expected to be recognized as an expense by the Company in the future over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.0 year.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 the Company received cash from the exercise of stock option awards of \$2.6 million, \$37.9 million and \$25.3 million, respectively. Our realized tax benefit from stock options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was \$1.1 million, \$7.2 million and \$0.2 million, respectively.

Restricted Stock Award Activity. Non-vested restricted stock awards, restated as applicable for stock dividends, at December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 and changes during those years were as follows:

	Teal Elided December 31,									
		2021			2020		2019			
	Number of Shares	Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair Value		Weighted- Average Number of Grant Date Shares Fair Value		Number of Shares	Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair Value			
Unvested, beginning of year	413,274	\$	35.94	371,583	\$	28.28	364,942	\$	23.71	
Granted	208,386		53.47	261,026		39.93	181,090		31.34	
Vested	(257,430)		38.49	(217,332)		27.59	(168,734)		25.22	
Forfeited	(16,678)		49.21	(2,003)		38.13	(5,715)		28.30	
Unvested, end of year	347,552	\$	47.27	413,274	\$	35.94	371,583	\$	28.28	

Total compensation expense relating to restricted stock awards was \$10.1 million, \$8.2 million and \$4.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Our recognized tax benefit from this expense for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was \$1.4 million, \$1.2 million and \$0.7 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2021, there was \$6.9 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested restricted stock awards that is expected to be recognized as an expense by us in the future over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.4 years. The total intrinsic value of unvested restricted stock awards (the closing price of MDC's common stock on the last trading day of fiscal 2021 multiplied by the number of unvested awards) at December 31, 2021 was \$19.4 million. The total intrinsic value of restricted stock which vested during each of the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was \$13.4 million, \$8.6 million and \$5.3 million, respectively.

Performance Share Unit Awards. The Company has made annual grants of long term performance share unit awards ("PSUs") to each of the Executive Chairman, CEO and the Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"), as detailed in the table below. The PSUs are earned based upon the Company's performance, over a period of three years (the "Performance Period"), measured by increasing home sale revenues over a "Base Period." Each award is conditioned upon the Company achieving an average gross margin from home sales (excluding impairments) of at least fifteen percent (15%) over the Performance Period. Target goals will be earned if the Company's three year average home sale revenues over the Performance Period ("Performance Revenues") exceed the home sale revenues over the Base Period ("Base Revenues") by at least 10% but less than 20%. If Performance Revenues exceed the Base Revenues by at least 5% but less than 10%, 50% of the Target Goals will be earned ("Maximum Goals"). The number of PSUs earned shall be adjusted to be proportional to the partial performance between the Threshold Goals, Target Goals and Maximum Goals. Details for each defined term above for each grant have been provided in the table below.

				T	reshold Goal	Target Goal Maximum Goal			_					
Date of Award	Performance Period	Base Period	Base Period Revenues	PSUs	Home Sale Revenues	PSUs	Home Sale Revenues	PSUs	Home Sale Revenues		Fair Value per Share	Max Expense to be	cimum Potential Recognized *	Maxim Remaining Expense Recognized *
May 23, 2018	April 1, 2018 - March 31, 2021	April 1, 2017 - March 31, 2018	\$2.543 billion	157,464	\$2.670 billion	314,928	\$2.797 billion	629,856	\$3.05 billion	<sup>2</sup> \$	23.68	s	14,915	\$
Aug 5, 2019	January 1, 2019 - December 31, 2021	January 1, 2018 - December 31, 2018	\$2.982 billion	145,800	\$3.131 billion	291,600	\$3.280 billion	583,200	\$3.576 billion	B \$	30.19	s	17,604	\$
Aug 20, 2020	January 1, 2020 - December 31, 2022	January 1, 2019 - December 31, 2019	\$3.205 billion	145,800	\$3.366 billion	291,600	\$3.526 billion	583,200	\$3.84 billion	<sup>6</sup> \$	39.79	s	23,205	\$
Jul 14, 2021	January 1, 2021 - December 31, 2023	January 1, 2020 - December 31, 2020	\$3.765 billion	198,750	\$3.953 billion	397,500	\$4.142 billion	795,000	\$4.519 billion	B \$	44.35	s	35,255	\$

<sup>\*</sup> Dollars in thousands

In accordance with ASC 718, the PSUs were valued on the date of grant at their fair value. The fair value of these grants was equal to the closing price of MDC stock on the date of grant less the discounted cash flows of expected future dividends over the respective vesting period (as these PSUs do not participate in dividends). The grant date fair value and maximum potential expense if the Maximum Goals were met for these awards has been provided in the table above. ASC 718 does not permit recognition of expense associated with performance-based stock awards until achievement of the performance targets are probable of occurring.

2016 PSU Grants. The 2016 PSU awards vested on August 7, 2019. For the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company recorded share-based award expense of \$1.8 million related to these awards.

2017 PSU Grants. The 2017 PSU awards vested on May 5, 2020. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 the Company recorded share-based award expense of \$1.4 million and \$11.7 million, respectively, related to these awards.

2018 PSU Grants. The 2018 PSU awards vested on April 29, 2021. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 the Company recorded share-based award expense of \$1.3 million, \$7.3 million and \$6.3 million, respectively, related to these awards.

2019 PSU Grants. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 the Company recorded the required share-based award expense related to the awards of \$7.3 million and \$10.3 million, respectively, based on its assessment of the probability for achievement of the performance targets. As of December 31, 2019, the Company concluded that achievement of any of the performance metrics had not met the level of probability required to record compensation expense and as such, no expense related to these awards was recognized in year-ended 2019.

2020 PSU Grants. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded the required share-based award expense related to the awards of \$13.4 million, based on its assessment of the probability for achievement of the performance targets. As of December 31, 2020, the Company concluded that achievement of any of the performance metrics had not met the

level of probability required to record compensation expense and as such, no expense related to these awards was recognized in year-ended 2020.

2021 PSU Grants. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded the required share-based award expense related to the awards of \$4.4 million, based on its assessment of the probability for achievement of the

Our employee equity incentive plans permit us to withhold from the total number of shares that otherwise would be released to a restricted stock or performance share unit award recipient upon distribution that number of shares having a fair value at the time of distribution equal to the applicable income tax withholdings due. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, 316,620, 323,280 and 292,378 shares were withheld, respectively, resulting in \$18.8 million, \$9.1 million and \$10.0 million of income tax withholding, respectively, being remitted on behalf of the employees.

#### 22. Supplemental Guarantor Information

Our senior notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on an unsecured basis, jointly and severally, by the following subsidiaries (collectively, the "Guarantor Subsidiaries"), which are 100%-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

- M.D.C. Land Corporation
- RAH of Florida, Inc.
- Richmond American Construction, Inc.
- Richmond American Construction NM, Inc.
- Richmond American Homes of Arizona, Inc. Richmond American Homes of Colorado, Inc.

- Richmond American Homes of Florida, LP Richmond American Homes of Idaho, Inc. (formerly known as Richmond American Homes of Illinois, Inc.)
- Richmond American Homes of Maryland, Inc.
- Richmond American Homes of Nevada, Inc.
- Richmond American Homes of New Mexico, Inc.
- Richmond American Homes of Oregon, Inc. Richmond American Homes of Pennsylvania, Inc.
- Richmond American Homes of Tennessee (formerly known as Richmond American Homes of New Jersey, Inc.)
- Richmond American Homes of Texas, Inc.
- Richmond American Homes of Utah, Inc
- Richmond American Homes of Virginia, Inc
- Richmond American Homes of Washington, Inc.

The senior note indentures do not provide for a suspension of the guarantees. Other than for the senior note suce 2061, the senior note indentures, provide that any Guarantor may be released from its guarantee so long as (1) no default or event of default exists or would result from release of such guarantee, (2) the Guarantor being released has consolidated net worth of less than 5% of the Company's consolidated net worth as of the end of the most recent fiscal quarter, (3) the Guarantors released from their guarantees in any year-end period comprise in the aggregate less than 10% (or 15% if and to the extent necessary to permit the cure of a default) of the Company's consolidated net worth as of the end of the most recent fiscal quarter, (4) such release would not have a material adverse effect on the homebuilding business of the Company and its subsidiaries and (5) the Guarantor is released from its guarantee(s) under all Specified Indebtedness (other than by reason of payment under its guarantees of our credit facilities or other publicly traded debt securities, the Guarantor will also be released under its guarantee of the senior notes due 2061. Upon delivery of an officers' certificate and an opinion of counsel stating that all conditions precedent provided for in the indenture relating to such transactions have been complied with and the release is authorized, the guarantee will be automatically and unconditionally released. "Specified Indebtedness" means indebtedness under the senior notes, the Company's Indenture dated as of December 3, 2002, the Revolving Credit Facility, and any refinancing, extension, renewal or replacement of any of the foregoing. As the combined assets, liabilities and results of operations of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. and the Guarantor Subsidiaries (the "Obligor Group") are not materially different from those in the homebuilding section of our consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, separate summarized financial information of the Obligor Group has not been included. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 amounts due to non-guarantor subsidiaries from the Obligor Group totaled \$60.2 million and \$65.8 million, respectively.

#### Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

#### Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

#### Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures was performed under the supervision, and with the participation, of our management, including the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.

#### Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in the Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013 framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under this framework, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective at December 31, 2021

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting, which is included herein.

#### Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

#### Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc.

#### Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited M.D.C. Holdings, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes and our report dated February 1, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

#### Basis for Opinion

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

## Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Denver, Colorado

February 1, 2022

#### Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

### $Item\ 9C.\ Disclosure\ Regarding\ For eign\ Juris dictions\ that\ Prevent\ Inspections.$

Not applicable.

PART III

#### Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Information not disclosed below that is required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference, when filed, from our proxy statement (the "Proxy Statement") for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on or about April 25, 2022, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act. Please see the Table of Contents to the Proxy Statement.

We will provide to any shareholders or other person without charge, upon request, a copy of our Corporate Code of Conduct, Corporate Governance Guidelines, code of ethics applicable to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions (collectively "senior financial officers") and the charters for our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Legal Committee and Corporate Governance/Nominating Committee. You may obtain these documents on our website at <a href="https://www.mdcholdings.com">www.mdcholdings.com</a>, under our Investor Relations section or by contacting our Investor Relations department at 1-866-424-3395. Our intention is to post on our website any amendments to or waivers from our code of ethics applicable to our senior financial officers if such disclosure is required.

#### Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information required to be set forth hereunder has been omitted and will be incorporated by reference, when filed, from our Proxy Statement. Please see the Table of Contents to the Proxy Statement.

#### Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Information required to be set forth hereunder has been omitted and will be incorporated by reference, when filed, from our Proxy Statement. Please see the Table of Contents to the Proxy Statement.

#### Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Information required to be set forth hereunder has been omitted and will be incorporated by reference, when filed, from our Proxy Statement. Please see the Table of Contents to the Proxy Statement.

### Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information required to be set forth hereunder has been omitted and will be incorporated by reference, when filed, from our Proxy Statement. Please see the Table of Contents to the Proxy Statement.

## PART IV

## Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

### (a)(1) Financial Statements.

The following Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are included in Part II, Item 8.

	<u>- 195</u>
M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries	
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020	F-4
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2021	F-5
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2021	F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2021	F-7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-8

## (a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules.

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, not material, not required or the required information is included in the applicable Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.

## (a)(3) Exhibits.

## INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit Number	Description
3.1	Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "MDC", the "Company" or the "Registrant"), filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on April 27, 2006, and Certificate of Incorporation, dated May 17, 1985, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated March 31, 2006). *
3.2	Amendment to the Bylaws of MDC, as of June 28, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 30, 2021), *
3.3	Bylaws of MDC, as amended.
4.1	Indenture dated as of December 3, 2002, by and among MDC and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company's Form S-3/A filed September 1, 2004), *
4.2	Supplemental Indenture (6,000% Senior Notes due 2043), dated as of January 10, 2013, among the Company, the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 10, 2013). *
4.3	Second Supplemental Indenture (6.000% Senior Notes due 2043), dated as of June 23, 2021, among the Company, the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee
4.4	Supplemental Indenture (5.500% Senior Notes due 2024), dated as of January 15, 2014, among the Company, the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 15, 2014), *
4.5	Supplemental Indenture (3.850% Senior Notes due 2030), dated as of January 9, 2020, among the Company, the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 9, 2020), *
4.6	Second Supplemental Indenture (3.850% Senior Notes due 2030), dated as of June 23, 2021, among the Company, the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee.

- 4.7 Supplemental Indenture (2,500% Senior Notes due 2031), dated as of January 11, 2021, among the Company, the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 11, 2021). \*
- Second Supplemental Indenture (2,500% Senior Notes due 2031), dated as of June 23, 2021, among the Company, the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee. 4.8
- Supplemental Indenture (3.966% Senior Notes due 2061), dated as of August 6, 2021, among the Company, the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 6, 2021), \* 4.9
- Description of Registrant's Securities. 4.10
- Credit Agreement by and among M.D.C. Holding, Inc., U.S. Bank National Association, as designated agent and co-administrative agent, Citibank, N.A., as co-administrative agent, and the other Lenders identified therein, dated as of December 13, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed December 16, 2013),\* 10.1
- Amendment to Credit Agreement and Increasing Lenders Supplement among M.D.C. Holding, Inc., U.S. Bank National Association, as designated agent, and the other Lenders identified therein, dated amber 17, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed December 17, 2014).\* 10.2
- 10.3 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 18, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed December 21, 2015), \*
- Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 4, 2017).\* 10.4
- Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 1, 2018), \* 10.5
- 10.6 Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 28, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 29, 2020), \*
- Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement among HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association as Agent and a Buyer, dated as of September 16, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 19, 2016).\* 10.7
- First Amendment to Master Repurchase Agreement between HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation, as Seller, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Agent and Buyer, dated as of August 10, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 11, 2017).\* 10.8
- Second Amendment to Master Repurchase Agreement between HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation, as Seller, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Agent and Buyer, dated as of August 9, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 9, 2018), \* 10.9
- Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement between HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation, as Seller, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Agent and Buyer, dated as of May 23, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 24, 2019).\* 10.10
- Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement between HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation, as Seller, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Agent and Buyer, dated as of May 21, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 22, 2020).\* 10.11
- Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement between HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation, as Seller, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Agent and Buyer, dated as of September 24, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 25, 2020), \* 10.12
- Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement between HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation, as Seller, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Agent and Buyer, dated as of March 25, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 26, 2021).\* 10.13
- 10.14 Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement between HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation, as Seller, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Agent and Buyer, dated as of May 20, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 20, 2021).\*
- Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated Master Repurchase Agreement between HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation, as Seller, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Agent and Buyer, dated as of December 21, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 21, 2021),\* 10.15

10.16	Custody Agreement by and between HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association as Agent and Custodian, dated as of November 12, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the Company's Form 8-K filed November 17, 2008).*
10.17	M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan. effective April 27, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed April 29, 2011). *
10.18	First Amendment to the M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 19, 2013).*
10.19	Second Amendment to the M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 24, 2015).*
10.20	Third Amendment to the M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 25, 2017).*
10.21	Fourth Amendment to the M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 1, 2019), *
10.22	M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 1, 2019).
10.23	Form of 2011 Stock Option Agreement (2011 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2011).
10.24	Form of 2011 Restricted Stock Agreement (2011 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2011). *
10.25	Form of 2015 Restricted Stock Agreement (2011 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K dated December 31, 2015). *
10.26	Form of Executive Officer Stock Option Agreement under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2012).*
10.27	Form of Executive Officer Stock Option Agreement under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (May 18, 2015 grants) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2015), *
10.28	Form of Executive Officer Stock Option Agreement under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (May 23, 2018 grants) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2018).*
10.29	Restricted Stock Agreement Amendment (Executive Officers) under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, dated as of February 6, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated March 31, 2019), *
10.30	Stock Option Agreement Amendment (Executive Officers) under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, dated as of February 6, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated March 31, 2019). *
10.31	Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, adopted as of March 18, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-O dated March 31, 2019). *
10.32	Form of Executive Officer Stock Option Agreement under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, adopted as of March 18, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q dated March 31, 2019), *
10.33	Form of Amended and Restated Executive Officer Stock Option Agreement under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (Messrs. Mizel and Mandarich) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K dated December 31, 2020). *
10.34	Form of Amended and Restated Executive Officer Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (Messrs. Mizel and Mandarich) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K dated December 31, 2020). *
10.35	Form of Amended and Restated Performance Share Unit Grant Agreement (executives with employment agreements) (2011 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K dated December 31, 2020), *

10.58

10.36	Form of Amended and Restated Performance Share Unit Grant Agreement (executives without employment agreements). (2011 Equity Incentive Plan). (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K dated December 31, 2020).*
10.37	M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, effective April 26, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed April 28, 2021).*
10.38	Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (2021 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30. 2021).*
10.39	Form of Stock Option Agreement (2021 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2021).
10.40	Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock Agreement (2021 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2021).
10.41	Form of Executive Officer Stock Option Agreement (2021 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30. 2021), *
10.42	Form of Senior Executive Officer Restricted Stock Agreement (2021 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2021).*
10.43	Form of Senior Executive Officer Stock Option Agreement (2021 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2021).
10.44	Form of Senior Executive Officer Performance Share Unit Grant Agreement (2021 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed July 19, 2021), *
10.45	Form of Executive Officer Performance Share Unit Grant Agreement (2021 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Form 8-K filed July 19, 2021), *
10.46	M.D.C., Holdings, Inc. 2011 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors effective April 27, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Form 8-K filed April 29, 2011).*
10.47	First Amendment to the M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2011 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 24, 2015). *
10.48	Second Amendment to the M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2011 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 1, 2016). *
10.49	Form of Stock Option Agreement (2011 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2011).*
10.50	Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (2011 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2016).*
10.51	M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2020 Equity Plan for Non-Employee Directors (as amended and restated) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 22, 2020).*
10.52	Form of Stock Option Agreement (2020 Equity Plan for Non-Employee Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2020), *
10.53	Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (2020 Equity Plan for Non-Employee Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2020), *
10.54	Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between the Company and members of its Board of Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 26, 2006).*
10.55	Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between the Company and certain of its officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 26, 2006).*
10.56	M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2018 Executive Officer Performance-Based Compensation Plan (amended September 4, 2020) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated September 30, 2020).*
10.57	Amendment to the M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2018 Executive Officer Performance-Based Compensation Plan (amended December 10, 2020) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K dated December 31, 2020.*

Employment Agreement dated as of October 26, 2020, between Larry A. Mizel and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 29, 2020),

- 10.59 30, 2021), \*
- 10.60 en David D. Mandarich, and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Cor 2020).
- 10.61 June 30, 2021).
- greement among MDC, Richmond American Homes of Colorado, Inc. and Larry A. Mizel, August 2, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to 20, 2007).\* 10.62 Lease Agreement
- ond American Homes of Colorado, Inc. and David D. Mandarich, August 2, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-10.63
- Change in Control Agreement between the Company and Robert N. Martin, dated as of May 23, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 19, 2015).\* 10.64
- 10.65 Change in Control Agreement between the Company and Rebecca B. Givens, dated as of July 15, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K dated December
- Form of Change in Control Agreement between the Company and certain employees of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 27, 1998).\* 10.66
- reement between Mizel Design and Decorating Company and the Company effective as of January 1, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 of the Company's Annual Report aber 31, 2004).\* 10.67 Independent Contractor Agree
- 10.68 Sub-Sublease agreement between MDC and CVentures. Inc., executed July 25, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 27, 2005), \*
- First Amendment to Sub-Sublease agreement between MDC and CVentures, Inc., executed on March 28, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 29, 2006).\* 10.69
- 10.70 Sublease agreement between MDC and CVentures, Inc., executed January 30, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K dated December 31, 2016), \*
- Consulting Agreement dated as of September 1, 2021, between Leslie B. Fox and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed September 1, 2021), \* 10.71
- Subsidiaries of the Company 21
- 22 Subsidiary Guarantors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 22 to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021).
- 23 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
- 31.1 Certification of principal executive officer required by 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a), pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 31.2 Certification of principal financial officer required by 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a), pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- Certification of principal executive officer required by 17 CFR 240.13a-14(b), pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 32.1
- 32.2 Certification of principal financial officer required by 17 CFR 240.13a-14(b), pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- The following financial statements, formatted in Inline Extensible Business Reporting Language (iXBRL): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021; and (iv) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text.

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as iXBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

\*Incorporated by reference.

Table of Contents

## Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

Not applicable.

## SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: February 1, 2022

By: /s/Robert N. Martin
Robert N. Martin
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer and duly authorized officer)

## POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned officers and/or directors of the Registrant, by virtue of their signatures to this report, appearing below, hereby constitute and appoint Larry A. Mizel and David D. Mandarich, or any one of them, with full power of substitution, as attorneys-in-fact in their names, places and steads to execute any and all amendments to this report in the capacities set forth opposite their names and hereby ratify all that said attorneys-in-fact do by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

<u>Signature</u>	<u>Title</u>	<u>Date</u>
/s/ Larry A. Mizel	Executive Chairman	February 1, 2022
Larry A. Mizel	(principal executive officer)	
/s/ David D. Mandarich	Director, President and Chief Executive Officer	February 1, 2022
David D. Mandarich	_	
/s/ Robert N. Martin	Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	February 1, 2022
Robert N. Martin	(principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)	
/s/ Raymond T. Baker	Director	February 1, 2022
Raymond T. Baker	_	
/s/ Michael A. Berman	Director	February 1, 2022
Michael A. Berman	_	
/s/ David E. Blackford	Director	February 1, 2022
David E. Blackford	_	
/s/ Herbert T. Buchwald	Director	February 1, 2022
Herbert T. Buchwald	_	
/s/ Courtney L. Mizel	Director	February 1, 2022
Courtney L. Mizel		
/s/ Paris G. Reece III	Director	February 1, 2022
Paris G. Reece III		
/s/ David Siegel	Director	February 1, 2022
David Siegel	_	

BY-LAWS OF M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC. (hereinafter called the "Corporation") (as amended, June 28, 2021 – marked to show changes)

> ARTICLE I **OFFICES**

Registered Office. The registered office of the Corporation shall be in the City of Dover, County of Kent, State of Delaware. Section 1.

Other Offices. The Corporation may also have offices at such other places both within and without the State of Delaware as the Board of Directors may from time to time Section 2. determine.

#### ARTICLE II MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS

Section 1. Place of Meetings. Meetings of the stockholders for the election of directors or for any other purpose shall be held at such time and place, either within or without the State of Delaware as shall be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors and stated in the notice of the meeting or in a duly executed waiver of notice thereof.

Section 2. <u>Annual Meetings</u>. The Annual Meetings of Stockholders shall be held on such date and at such time as shall be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors and stated in the notice of the meeting, at which meetings the stockholders shall elect by a plurality vote a Board of Directors, and transact such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting. Written notice of the Annual Meeting stating the place, date and hour of the meeting shall be given to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting not less than ten nor more than sixty days before the date of the meeting.

Section 3. Special Meetings. Unless otherwise prescribed by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation, Special Meetings of Stockholders, for any purpose or purposes, may be called by either (i) the Chairman, if there be one, or (ii) the President, (iii) any Vice-President, if there be one or (iv) the Secretary and shall be called by any such officer at the request in writing of a majority of the Board of Directors or the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting shares.

Such request shall state the purpose or purposes of the proposed meeting. Written notice of a Special Meeting stating the place, date and hour of the meeting and the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called shall be given not less than ten nor more than sixty days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting.

<u>Section 4.</u> <u>Quorum.</u> Except as otherwise provided by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of one-third of the capital stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the stockholders for the transaction of business. If, however, such quorum shall not be present or represented at any meeting of the stockholders, the stockholders entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall have power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present or represented. At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or represented, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally noticed. If the adjournment is for more than thirty days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder entitled to vote at the meeting.

Section 5. Voting. Unless otherwise required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws, any question brought before any meeting of stockholders shall be decided by the vote of the holders of a majority of the stock represented and entitled to vote thereat on the subject matter. Each stockholder represented at a meeting of stockholders shall be entitled to cast one vote for each share of the capital stock entitled to vote thereat on the subject matter held by such stockholder. Such votes may be cast in person or by proxy but no proxy shall be voted on or after three years from its date, unless such proxy provides for a longer period. The Board of Directors, in its discretion, or the officer of the Corporation presiding at a meeting of stockholders, in his discretion, may require that any votes cast at such meeting shall be cast by written ballot.

Section 6. Proper Business at Stockholder Meetings. At any meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be conducted as shall have been properly brought before such meeting. To be properly brought before a meeting, business must be (i) specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (ii) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by a stockholder. For business to be properly brought before a meeting by a stockholder, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation. To be timely, a stockholder's notice must be delivered to, or mailed and received at, the principal executive offices of the Corporation, not less than 60 days nor more than 90 days prior to the meeting; provided, however, that in the event that less than 75 days' notice or prior public disclosure of the date of such meeting is given or made to stockholders, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so received not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which such notice of the date of the meeting was mailed or such public disclosure was made. A stockholder's notice to the Secretary shall set forth as to each matter the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting (i) a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the meeting and the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting, (ii) the name and record address of the stockholder proposing such business, (iii) the class and number of shares of the Corporation which are beneficially owned by the stockholder and (iv) any material interest of the stockholder in such business. No business shall be conducted at any meeting of stockholders except in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 6. The chairman of a meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare to the meeting that such business was not properly brought before the meeting in accordance with these provisions, and, if he s

Section 7. Stock Ledger. The stock ledger of the Corporation shall be the only evidence as to who are the stockholders entitled to examine the stock ledger, any list required by the General Corporation Law of the state of Delaware or the books of the Corporation, or to vote in person or by proxy at any meeting of stockholders.

## ARTICLE III DIRECTORS

Section 1. <u>Number of Directors</u>. The Board of Directors shall consist of not less than three nor more than fifteen members, the exact number of which shall initially be fixed by the Incorporator and thereafter from time to time by the Board of Directors in the manner prescribed in the Certificate of Incorporation. Any director may resign at any time upon notice to the Corporation. Directors need not be stockholders.

Section 2. Nomination Procedures. Only persons who are nominated in accordance with the following procedures shall be eligible for election as Directors at any meeting of

stockholders. Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors of the Corporation may be made at a meeting of stockholders by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, by any nominating committee or person appointed by the Board of Directors or by any stockholder of the Corporation entitled to vote for the election of Directors at the meeting who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 2. Such nominations, other than those made by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, shall be made pursuant to timely notice in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation. To be timely, a stockholder's notice shall be delivered to, or mailed and received at, the principal offices of the Corporation not less than 60 days nor more than 90 days prior to the meeting; provided, however, that in the event that less than 75 days' notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the meeting is given or made to stockholders, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so received not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which such notice of the date of the meeting was mailed or such public disclosure was made. Such stockholder's notice shall set forth in writing (a) as to each person whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a director, (i) the name, age, business address and residence address of such person, (ii) the principal occupation or employment of such person, (iii) the class and number of shares of the Corporation which are beneficially owned by such person and (iv) any other information relating to such person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of Directors pursuant to Rule 14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Act") and any other applicable laws or rules or regulations of any governmental authority or of any national

Directors pursuant to Rule 14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Act") and any other applicable laws or rules or regulations of any governmental authority or of any national securities exchange or similar body overseeing any trading market on which shares of the Corporation are traded, and (b) as to the stockholder giving the notice (i) the name and record address of stockholder and (ii) the class and number of shares of the Corporation which are beneficially owned by the stockholder. No person shall be eligible for election as a director of the Corporation unless nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2. The chairman of the meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare to the meeting that a nomination was not made in accordance with the foregoing procedure, and if he should so determine, he shall so declare to the meeting and the defective nomination shall be disregarded.

<u>Section 3.</u> <u>Vacancies</u>. Vacancies and newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors may be filled by a majority of the directors then in office, though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director.

Section 4. <u>Duties and Powers.</u> The business of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors which may exercise all such powers of the Corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by statute or by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-Laws directed or required to be exercised or done by the stockholders.

Section 5. Meetings. The Board of Directors of the Corporation may hold meetings, both regular and special, either within or without the State of Delaware. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without notice at such time and at such place as may from time to time be determined by the Board of Directors. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chairman, if there be one, the President, or any three directors. Notice thereof stating the place, date and hour of the meeting shall be given to each director either by mail not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the date of the meeting, by telephone or telegram on twenty-four (24) hours' notice, or on such shorter notice as the person or persons calling such meeting may deem necessary or appropriate in the circumstances.

Section 6. Quorum. Except as may be otherwise specifically provided by 1aw, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws, at all meetings of the Board of Directors, a majority of the entire Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and the act of a majority of the directors present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board of Directors. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the Board

of Directors, the directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present.

Section 7. Actions of Board. Unless otherwise provided by the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws, any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if all the members of the Board of Directors or committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors or committee.

Section 8. Meetings by Means of Conference Telephone. Unless otherwise provided by the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws, members of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, or any committee designated by the Board of Directors, may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors or such committee by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section 7 shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

Section 9. Committees. The Board of Directors may, by resolution passed by a majority of the entire Board of Directors, designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the Corporation. The Board of Directors may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of any such committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, and in the absence of a designation by the Board of Directors of an alternate member to replace the absent or disqualified member, the member or members thereof present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not he or they constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board of Directors to act at the meeting in the place of any absent or disqualified member. Any committee, to the extent allowed by law and provided in the resolution establishing such committee, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation. Each committee shall keep regular minutes and report to the Board of Directors when required.

<u>Section 10</u>. <u>Compensation</u>. The directors may be paid their expenses, if any, of attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors and may be paid a fixed sum for attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors or a stated salary as director. No such payment shall preclude any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor. Members of special or standing committees may be allowed like compensation for attending committee meetings.

Section 11. Interested Directors. No contract or transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its directors or officers, or between the Corporation and any other corporation, partnership, association, or other organization in which one or more of its directors or officers, or have a financial interest, shall be void or voidable solely for this reason, or solely because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting of the Board of Directors or committee thereof which authorizes the contract or transaction, or solely because his or their votes are counted for such purpose if (i) the material facts as to his or their relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board of Directors or committee, and the Board of Directors or committee in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative votes of a majority of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be less than a quorum; or (ii) the material facts as to his or their relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the shareholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote of the shareholders; or (iii) the contract or transaction is fair as to

the Corporation as of the time it is authorized, approved or ratified, by the Board of Directors, a committee thereof or the shareholders. Common or interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board of Directors or of a committee which authorizes the contract or transaction.

#### ARTICLE IV OFFICERS

- Section 1. General. The officers of the Corporation shall be chosen by the Board of Directors and shall be a President, a Secretary and a Treasurer. The Board of Directors, in its discretion, may also choose a Chairman of the Board of Directors (who must be a director) and one or more Vice-Presidents, Assistant Secretaries, Assistant Treasurers and other officers. Any number of offices may be held by the same person, unless otherwise prohibited by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws. The officers of the Corporation need not be stockholders of the Corporation nor, except in the case of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, need such officers be directors of the Corporation.
- Section 2. Election. The Board of Directors at its first meeting held after each Annual Meeting of Stockholders shall elect the officers of the Corporation who shall hold their offices for such terms and shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors; and all officers of the Corporation shall hold office until their successors are chosen and qualified, or until their earlier resignation or removal. Any officer elected by the Board of Directors may be removed at any time by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of Directors. Any vacancy occurring in any office of the Corporation shall be filled by the Board of Directors. The salaries of all officers of the Corporation shall be fixed by the Board of Directors.
- Section 3. Voting Securities Owned by the Corporation. Powers of attorney, proxies, waivers of notice of meeting, consents and other instruments relating to securities owned by the Corporation may be executed in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation by the President or any Vice-President and any such officer may, in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, take all such action as any such officer may deem advisable to vote in person or by proxy at any meeting of security holders of any corporation in which the Corporation may own securities and at any such meeting shall possess and may exercise any and all rights and power incident to the ownership of such securities and which, as the owner thereof, the Corporation might have exercised and possessed if present. The Board of Directors may, by resolution, from time to time confer like powers upon any other person or persons.
- Section 4. Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Chairman of the Board of Directors, if there be one, shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders and of the Board of Directors. The Chairman of the Board of Directors may be an Executive Chairman or a non-executive Chairman as determined by the Board of Directors. Except where by law the signature of the President is required, the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall possess the same power as the President to sign all contracts, certificates and other instruments of the Corporation which may be authorized by the Board of Directors. During the absence or disability of the President, the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall exercise all the powers and discharge all the duties of the President. The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall also perform such other duties and may exercise such other powers as from time to time may be assigned to him by these By-Laws or by the Board of Directors.
- Section 5. President. The President shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors and, if there be one, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, have general supervision of the business of the Corporation and shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Board of Directors are carried into effect. He shall execute all bonds, mortgages, contracts and other

instruments of the Corporation requiring a seal, under the seal of the Corporation, except where required or permitted by law to be otherwise signed and executed and except that the other officers of the Corporation may sign and execute documents when so authorized by these By-Laws, the Board of Directors or the President. In the absence or disability of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, or if there be none, the President shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders and the Board of Directors. If there be no Chairman of the Board of Directors, the President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. The President shall also perform such other duties and may exercise such other powers as from time to time may be assigned to him by these By-Laws or by the Board of Directors.

Section 6. Vice-Presidents. At the request of the President or in his absence or in the event of his inability or refusal to act (and if there be no Chairman of the Board of Directors), the Vice-President or the Vice-Presidents if there is more than one (in the order designated by the Board of Directors) shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President. Each Vice-President shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors from time to time may prescribe. If there be no Chairman of the Board of Directors and no Vice-President, the Board of Directors shall designate the officer of the Corporation who, in the absence of the President or in the event of the inability or refusal of the President to act, shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President.

Section 7. Secretary. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board of Directors and all meetings of stockholders and record all the proceedings thereat in a book or books to be kept for that purpose; the Secretary shall also perform like duties for the standing committees when required. The Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the stockholders and special meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or President, under whose supervision he shall be. If the Secretary shall be unable or shall refuse to cause to be given notice of all meetings of the stockholders and special meetings of the Board of Directors, and if there be no Assistant Secretary, then either the Board of Directors or the President may choose another officer to cause such notice to be given. The Secretary shall have custody of the seal of the Corporation and the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary, if there be one, shall have authority to affix the same to any instrument requiring it and when so affixed, it may be attested by the signature of the Secretary or by the signature of any such Assistant Secretary. The Board of Directors may give general authority to any other officer to affix the seal of the Corporation and to attest the affixing by his signature. The Secretary shall see that all books, reports, statements, certificates and ether documents and records required by law to be kept or filed are properly kept or filed, as the case may be.

Section 8. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have the custody of the corporate funds and securities and shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation and shall deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors. The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the President and the Board of Directors, at its regular meetings, or when the Board of Directors so requires, an account of all his transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Corporation. If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give the Corporation a bond in such sum and with such surety or sureties as shall be satisfactory to the Board of Directors for the faithful performance of the duties of his office and for the restoration to the Corporation, in case of his death, resignation, retirement or removal from office, of all books, papers, vouchers, money and other property of whatever kind in his possession or under his control belonging to the Corporation.

Section 9. Assistant Secretaries. Except as may be otherwise provided in these By-Laws, Assistant Secretaries, if there be any, shall perform such duties and have such powers as from time to time may be assigned to them by the Board of Directors, the President, any Vice-President, if there be one, or the Secretary, and in the absence of the Secretary or in the event of his disability or refusal to act, shall perform the duties of the Secretary, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Secretary.

Section 10. Assistant Treasurers. Assistant Treasurers, if there be any, shall perform such duties and have such powers as from time to time may be assigned to them by the Board of Directors, the President, any Vice-President, if there be one, or the Treasurer, and in the absence of the Treasurer or in the event of his disability or refusal to act, shall perform the duties of the Treasurer, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Treasurer. If required by the Board of Directors, an Assistant Treasurer shall give the Corporation a bond in such sum and with such surety or sureties as shall be satisfactory to the Board of Directors for the faithful performance of the duties of his office and for the restoration to the Corporation, in case of his death, resignation, retirement or removal from office, of all books, papers, vouchers, money and other property of whatever kind in his possession or under his control belonging to the Corporation.

<u>Section 11</u>. <u>Other Officers</u>. Such other officers as the Board of Directors may choose shall perform such duties and have such powers as from time to time may be assigned to them by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may delegate to any other officer of the Corporation the power to choose such other officers and to prescribe their respective duties and powers.

#### ARTICLE V STOCK

Section 1. Form of Certificates. Every holder of stock in the Corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate signed, in the name of the Corporation (i) by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the President or a Vice-President and (ii) by the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Corporation, certifying the number of shares owned by him in the Corporation.

Section 2. Signatures. Where a certificate is countersigned by (i) a transfer agent other than the Corporation or its employee, or (ii) a registrar other than the Corporation or its employee, any other signature on the certificate may be a facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if he were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue.

Section 3. Lost Certificates. The Board of Directors may direct a new certificate to be issued in place of any certificate theretofore issued by the Corporation alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming the certificate of stock to be lost, stolen or destroyed. When authorizing such issue of a new certificate, the Board of Directors may, in its discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, or his legal representative, to advertise the same in such manner as the Board of Directors shall require and/or to give the Corporation a bond in such sum as it may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the Corporation with respect to the certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed.

Section 4. Transfers. Stock of the Corporation shall be transferable in the manner prescribed by law and in these By-Laws. Transfers of stock shall be made on the books of the Corporation only by the person named in the certificate or by his attorney lawfully constituted in writing and upon the surrender of the certificate therefor, which shall be cancelled before a new certificate shall be issued.

Section 5. Record Date. In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, or entitled to express consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock, or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board of Directors may fix, in advance, a record date, which shall not be more than sixty days nor less than ten days before the date of such meeting, nor more than sixty days prior to any other action. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.

Section 5. Beneficial Owners. The Corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as the owner of shares to receive dividends, and to vote as such owner, and to hold liable for calls and assessments a person registered on its books as the owner of shares, and shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by law.

#### ARTICLE V NOTICES

Section 1. Notices. Whenever written notice is required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws, to be given to any director, member of a committee or stockholder, such notice may be given by mail, addressed to such director, member of a committee or stockholder, at his address as it appears on the records of the Corporation, with postage thereon prepaid, and such notice shall be deemed to be given at the time when the same shall be deposited in the United States mail. Written notice may also be given personally or by telegram, telex or cable.

<u>Section 2.</u> <u>Waivers of Notice</u>. Whenever any notice is required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws, to be given to any director, member of a committee or stockholder, a waiver thereof in writing, signed, by the person or persons entitled to said notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent thereto.

#### ARTICLE VII GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 1. <u>Dividends</u>. Dividends upon the capital stock of the Corporation, subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, if any, may be declared by the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting, and may be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the capital stock. Before payment of any dividend, there may be set aside out of any funds of the Corporation available for dividends such sum or sums as the Board of Directors from time to time, in its absolute discretion, deems proper as a reserve or reserves to meet contingencies, or for equalizing dividends, or for repairing or maintaining any property of the Corporation, or for any proper purpose, and the Board of Directors may modify or abolish any such reserve.

Section 2. Disbursements. All checks or demands for money and notes of the Corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers or such other person or persons as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate.

Section 3. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors.

Section 4. Corporate Seal. The corporate seal shall have inscribed thereon the name of the Corporation, the year of its organization and the words "Corporate Seal, Delaware". The seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or reproduced or otherwise.

## ARTICLE VIII INDEMNIFICATION

Section 1. Power to Indemnify. To the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law as the same exists or may hereafter be amended, and by any other applicable law, the Corporation shall indemnify any director or officer who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, investigation or proceeding, and any appeal thereof, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, including actions by or in the right of the Corporation (a "Claim"), by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the Corporation or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee, trustee or agent (an "Agent") of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against all expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by the director or officer ("Expenses") in connection with such Claim. Other employees, trustees and agents of the Corporation shall be indemnified upon such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors deems appropriate.

Section 2. Expenses Payable in Advance. To the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law as the same exists or may hereafter be amended, Expenses incurred by an officer or director in defending or investigating a Claim shall be paid by the Corporation in advance of the final disposition of such Claim. Such Expenses incurred by other employees, trustees and agents may be so paid upon such terms and conditions, if any, as the Board of Directors deems appropriate. The right to indemnification or advances granted by this Article VIII shall be enforceable by the officer or director in any court of competent jurisdiction. The officer's or director's Expenses incurred in connection with successfully establishing his or her right to indemnification, in whole or in part, in any such proceedings shall also be indemnified by the Corporation.

Section 3. Non-exclusivity. The indemnification and advancement of Expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to this Article VIII shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of Expenses may be entitled under any law, By-Law, agreement, contract, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or pursuant to the direction (howsoever embodied) of any court of competent jurisdiction or otherwise, both as to action in the officer's, director's or Agent's official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office. The provisions of this Article VIII shall not be deemed to preclude the indemnification of any person who is not specified in this Article VIII but whom the Corporation has the power or obligation to indemnify under the provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, or otherwise.

<u>Section 4.</u> <u>Insurance.</u> The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was an officer, director or Agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as an Agent of another corporation, partnership, joint

venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against the officer, director or Agent and incurred by the officer, director or Agent in any such capacity, or arising out of his status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power or the obligation to indemnify the officer, director or Agent against such liability under the provisions of this Article VIII.

Section 5. Survival. The indemnification and advancement of Expenses provided by, or granted pursuant this Article VIII shall, unless otherwise provided when authorized or ratified, continue as to a person who has ceased to be an officer or director of the Corporation or an Agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.

Section 6. Meaning of "Corporation" for Purposes of Article VIII. For purposes of this Article VIII, references to "the Corporation" shall include, in addition to the resulting or surviving corporation, any constituent corporation (including any constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger which, if its separate existence had continued, would have had power and authority to indemnify its directors, officers and employees or agents, so that any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of such constituent corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such constituent corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this Article VIII with respect to the resulting or surviving corporation as he would have with respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued.

#### ARTICLE IX AMENDMENTS

Section 1. These By-Laws may be altered, amended or repealed, in whole or in part, or new By-Laws may be adopted by the stockholders or by the Board of Directors, provided, however, that notice of such alteration, amendment, repeal or adoption of new By-Laws be contained in the notice of such meeting of stockholders or Board of Directors as the case may be. All such amendments must be approved by either the holders of a majority of the outstanding capital stock entitled to vote thereon or by a majority of the entire Board of Directors then in office.

Section 2. Entire Board of Directors. As used in this Article IX and in these By-Laws generally, the term "entire Board of Directors" means the total number of directors which the Corporation would have if there were no vacancies.

## SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE 6.000% Senior Notes Due 2043

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE, dated as of June 23, 2021, (this "Second Supplemental Indenture"), by and among M.D.C. Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (the "Trustee"), Richmond American Homes of New Mexico, Inc., a Colorado corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company ("Richmond New Mexico"), Richmond American Construction NM, Inc., a Colorado corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company ("Construction NM"), and Richmond American Homes of Texas, Inc., a Colorado corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company ("Richmond Texas") (Richmond New Mexico, Construction NM, and Richmond Texas being referenced as the "Additional Guarantors", and together with the Current Guarantors, as defined below, the "Guarantors"). Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Indenture (as defined below).

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Company and the Trustee executed a Senior Debt Securities Indenture dated as of December 3, 2002 (the "Base Indenture"), to provide for the issuance of the Company's Senior Debt Securities (the "Notes"):

WHEREAS, the Company and the Trustee executed a Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 10, 2013 (the "First Supplemental Indenture," and together with the Base Indenture, the "Indenture"), among themselves and each of the following wholly owned Subsidiaries of the Company: M.D.C. Land Corporation, a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Construction, Inc., a Delaware corporation; Richmond American Homes of Roirado, LP, a Colorado Limited partnership; Richmond American Homes of Idlinois, Inc.), a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Illinois, Inc.), a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Maryland, Inc., a Maryland corporation; Richmond American Homes of Nevada, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Oregon, Inc. (formerly known as Richmond American Homes of Delaware, Inc.), a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Pennsylvania, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Pennsylvania, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corp

WHEREAS, the Additional Guarantors wish to guarantee the obligations of the Company under the Notes on the same terms that the Current Guarantors have guaranteed the obligations of the Company under the Notes;

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Trustee execute and deliver this Second Supplemental Indenture pursuant to Section 9.01 of the Base Indenture; and

WHEREAS, all requirements necessary to make this Second Supplemental Indenture a valid instrument in accordance with its terms have been performed and the execution and delivery of this Second Supplemental Indenture has been duly authorized in all respects by the Company and the Additional Guarantors.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company and the Additional Guarantors covenant and agree with the Trustee as follows:

#### ARTICLE I

#### GUARANTEE OF NOTES AND RELATED PROVISIONS

SECTION 1.01. <u>Unconditional Guarantee</u>. The Additional Guarantors shall execute and deliver to the Trustee the following Guarantee, and shall be jointly and severally liable with any other Guarantor for their obligations under such Guarantee.

### (FORM OF GUARANTEE)

- The undersigned (the "Guarantors") have fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally (such guarantee by each Guarantor being referred to herein as the "Guarantee") (i) the due and punctual payment of the principal of and interest on the Notes, whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, the due and punctual payment of interest on the overdue principal and interest, if any, on the Notes, to the extent lawful, and the due and punctual performance of all other obligations of the Company to the Holders or the Trustee all in accordance with the terms set forth in Article Six of the Supplemental Indenture and (ii) in case of any extension of time of payment or renewal of any Notes or any of such other obligations, that the same will be promptly paid in full when due or performed in accordance with the terms of the extension or renewal, whether at stated maturity, by
- No past, present or future stockholder, officer, director, employee or incorporator, as such, of any of the Guarantors shall have any liability under the Guarantee by reason of such person's status as stockholder, officer, director, employee or incorporator. Each holder of a Note by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability. This waiver and release are part of the consideration for the issuance of the Guarantees.
- Each holder of a Note by accepting a Note agrees that any Guarantor named below shall have no further liability with respect to its Guarantee if such Guarantor otherwise ceases to be liable in respect of its Guarantee in accordance with the terms of the Supplemental Indenture.
- The Guarantee shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose until the certificate of authentication on the Securities upon which the Guarantee is noted shall have been executed by the Trustee under the Supplemental Indenture by the manual signature of one of its authorized officers.
- SECTION 1.02. Execution of Guarantee. To evidence the Guarantee specified in Section 1.01, the Additional Guarantors hereby agree to execute the Guarantee in substantially the form set forth above, and to deliver such Guarantee to the Trustee, which shall deliver such Guarantee to each Holder as an endorsement to the Notes held by such Holder, or alternatively hold such Guarantee on behalf of each such Holder.

#### ARTICLE II

### MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 2.01. <u>Confirmation of Indenture</u>. The Indenture, as supplemented and amended by this Second Supplemental Indenture, is in all respects ratified and confirmed, and the Indenture, this Second Supplemental Indenture and all indentures supplemental thereto shall be read, taken and construed as one and the same instrument.

SECTION 2.02. Concerning the Trustee. The rights and duties of the Trustee set forth in the Indenture shall not be modified by reason of this Second Supplemental Indenture.

SECTION 2.03. Governing Law. This Second Supplemental Indenture, the Indenture, the Notes, and the Guarantee shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York.

SECTION 2.04. <u>Separability</u>. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Second Supplemental Indenture shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Second Supplemental Indenture, but this Second Supplemental Indenture shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.

SECTION 2.05. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Second Supplemental Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Second Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed as of the day and year first above written.

M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC.

By: <u>/s/ L. Ludwell Jones IV</u> Name: L. Ludwell Jones IV Title: Vice President and Treasurer

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

By: <u>/s/ Donald T. Hurrelbrink</u> Name: Donald T. Hurrelbrink Title: Vice President

RICHMOND AMERICAN HOMES OF NEW MEXICO, INC.

By: <u>/s/ L. Ludwell Jones IV</u> Name: L. Ludwell Jones IV Title: Vice President and Treasurer

RICHMOND AMERICAN CONSTRUCTION NM, INC.

By: <u>/s/ L. Ludwell Jones IV</u> Name: L. Ludwell Jones IV Title: Vice President and Treasurer

RICHMOND AMERICAN HOMES OF TEXAS, INC.

By: <u>/s/ L. Ludwell Jones IV</u> Name: L. Ludwell Jones IV Title: Vice President and Treasurer

## SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE 3.850% Senior Notes Due 2030

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE, dated as of June 23, 2021, (this "Second Supplemental Indenture"), by and among M.D.C. Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (the "Trustee"), Richmond American Homes of New Mexico, Inc., a Colorado corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company ("Richmond New Mexico"), Richmond American Construction NM, Inc., a Colorado corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company ("Construction NM"), and Richmond American Homes of Texas, Inc., a Colorado corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company ("Richmond Texas") (Richmond New Mexico, Construction NM, and Richmond Texas being referenced as the "Additional Guarantors", and together with the Current Guarantors, as defined below, the "Guarantors"). Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Indenture (as defined below).

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Company and the Trustee executed a Senior Debt Securities Indenture dated as of December 3, 2002 (the "Base Indenture"), to provide for the issuance of the Company's Senior Debt Securities (the "Notes"):

WHEREAS, the Company and the Trustee executed a Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 9, 2020 (the "First Supplemental Indenture," and together with the Base Indenture, the "Indenture"), among themselves and each of the following wholly owned Subsidiaries of the Company: M.D.C. Land Corporation, a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Construction, Inc., a Delaware corporation; Richmond American Homes of Arizona, Inc., a Delaware corporation; Richmond American Homes of Florida, I.P., a Colorado limited partnership; Richmond American Homes of Idaho, Inc. (formerly known as Richmond American Homes of Banyland corporation; Richmond American Homes of Maryland, Inc., a Amyland corporation; Richmond American Homes of Oregon, Inc. (formerly known as Richmond American Homes of Delaware, Inc.), a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Pennsylvania, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Tennessee, Inc. (formerly known as Richmond American Homes of New Jersey, Inc.), a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Virginia, Inc., a Virginia corporation; and Richmond American Homes of Washington, Inc., a Colorado corporation (the foregoing Subsidiaries of the Company being referenced as the "Current Guarantors");

WHEREAS, the Additional Guarantors wish to guarantee the obligations of the Company under the Notes on the same terms that the Current Guarantors have guaranteed the obligations of the Company under the Notes;

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Trustee execute and deliver this Second Supplemental Indenture pursuant to Section 9.01 of the Base Indenture; and

WHEREAS, all requirements necessary to make this Second Supplemental Indenture a valid instrument in accordance with its terms have been performed and the execution and delivery of this Second Supplemental Indenture has been duly authorized in all respects by the Company and the Additional Guarantors.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company and the Additional Guarantors covenant and agree with the Trustee as follows:

#### ARTICLE I

#### GUARANTEE OF NOTES AND RELATED PROVISIONS

SECTION 1.01. <u>Unconditional Guarantee</u>. The Additional Guarantors shall execute and deliver to the Trustee the following Guarantee, and shall be jointly and severally liable with any other Guarantor for their obligations under such Guarantee.

#### (FORM OF GUARANTEE)

- The undersigned (the "<u>Guarantors</u>") have fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally (such guarantee by each Guarantor being referred to herein as the "<u>Guarantee</u>") (i) the due and punctual payment of the principal of and interest on the Notes, whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, the due and punctual payment of interest on the overdue principal and interest, if any, on the Notes, to the extent lawful, and the due and punctual performance of all other obligations of the Company to the Holders or the Trustee all in accordance with the terms set forth in Article Six of the Supplemental Indenture and (ii) in case of any extension of time of payment or renewal of any Notes or any of such other obligations, that the same will be promptly paid in full when due or performed in accordance with the terms of the extension or renewal, whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise.
- No past, present or future stockholder, officer, director, employee or incorporator, as such, of any of the Guarantors shall have any liability under the Guarantee by reason of such person's status as stockholder, officer, director, employee or incorporator. Each holder of a Note by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability. This waiver and release are part of the consideration for the issuance of the Guarantees.
- Each holder of a Note by accepting a Note agrees that any Guarantor named below shall have no further liability with respect to its Guarantee if such Guarantor otherwise ceases to be liable in respect of its Guarantee in accordance with the terms of the Supplemental Indenture.
- The Guarantee shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose until the certificate of authentication on the Securities upon which the Guarantee is noted shall have been executed by the Trustee under the Supplemental Indenture by the manual signature of one of its authorized officers.
- SECTION 1.02. Execution of Guarantee. To evidence the Guarantee specified in Section 1.01, the Additional Guarantors hereby agree to execute the Guarantee in substantially the form set forth above, and to deliver such Guarantee to the Trustee, which shall deliver such Guarantee to each Holder as an endorsement to the Notes held by such Holder, or alternatively hold such Guarantee on behalf of each such Holder.

#### ARTICLE II

#### MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 2.01. Confirmation of Indenture. The Indenture, as supplemented and amended by this Second Supplemental Indenture, is in all respects ratified and confirmed, and the Indenture, this Second Supplemental Indenture and all indentures supplemental thereto shall be read, taken and construed as one and the same instrument.

SECTION 2.02. Concerning the Trustee. The rights and duties of the Trustee set forth in the Indenture shall not be modified by reason of this Second Supplemental Indenture.

SECTION 2.03. Governing Law. This Second Supplemental Indenture, the Indenture, the Notes, and the Guarantee shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York.

SECTION 2.04. <u>Separability</u>. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Second Supplemental Indenture shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Second Supplemental Indenture, but this Second Supplemental Indenture shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.

SECTION 2.05. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Second Supplemental Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Second Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed as of the day and year first above written.

M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC.

By: <u>/s/ L. Ludwell Jones IV</u> Name: L. Ludwell Jones IV Title: Vice President and Treasurer

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

By: <u>/s/ Donald T. Hurrelbrink</u> Name: Donald T. Hurrelbrink Title: Vice President

RICHMOND AMERICAN HOMES OF NEW MEXICO, INC.

By: <u>/s/ L. Ludwell Jones IV</u> Name: L. Ludwell Jones IV Title: Vice President and Treasurer

RICHMOND AMERICAN CONSTRUCTION NM, INC.

By: <u>/s/ L. Ludwell Jones IV</u> Name: L. Ludwell Jones IV Title: Vice President and Treasurer

RICHMOND AMERICAN HOMES OF TEXAS, INC.

By: <u>/s/ L. Ludwell Jones IV</u> Name: L. Ludwell Jones IV Title: Vice President and Treasurer

## SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE 2.500% Senior Notes Due 2031

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE, dated as of June 23, 2021, (this "Second Supplemental Indenture"), by and among M.D.C. Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (the "Trustee"), Richmond American Homes of New Mexico, Inc., a Colorado corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company ("Richmond New Mexico"), Richmond American Construction NM, Inc., a Colorado corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company ("Construction NM"), and Richmond American Homes of Texas, Inc., a Colorado corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company ("Richmond Texas") (Richmond New Mexico, Construction NM, and Richmond Texas being referenced as the "Additional Guarantors", and together with the Current Guarantors, as defined below, the "Guarantors"). Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Indenture (as defined below).

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Company and the Trustee executed a Senior Debt Securities Indenture dated as of December 3, 2002 (the "Base Indenture"), to provide for the issuance of the Company's Senior Debt Securities (the "Notes"):

WHEREAS, the Company and the Trustee executed a Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 11, 2021 (the "First Supplemental Indenture," and together with the Base Indenture, the "Indenture"), among themselves and each of the following wholly owned Subsidiaries of the Company: M.D.C. Land Corporation, a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Construction, Inc., a Delaware corporation; Richmond American Homes of Roirado, Inc., a Delaware corporation; Richmond American Homes of Florida, LP, a Colorado limited partnership; Richmond American Homes of Idlinois, Inc.), a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Maryland, Inc., a Maryland corporation; Richmond American Homes of Nevada, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Oregon, Inc. (formerly known as Richmond American Homes of Delaware, Inc.), a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Pennsylvania, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Pennsylvania, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Viagnia, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Utah, Inc., a Colorado corporation; Richmond American Homes of Virginia, Inc., a Virginia corporation; and Richmond American Homes of Washington, Inc., a Colorado corporation (the foregoing Subsidiaries of the Company being referenced as the "Current Guarantors");

WHEREAS, the Additional Guarantors wish to guarantee the obligations of the Company under the Notes on the same terms that the Current Guarantors have guaranteed the obligations of the Company under the Notes;

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Trustee execute and deliver this Second Supplemental Indenture pursuant to Section 9.01 of the Base Indenture; and

WHEREAS, all requirements necessary to make this Second Supplemental Indenture a valid instrument in accordance with its terms have been performed and the execution and delivery of this Second Supplemental Indenture has been duly authorized in all respects by the Company and the Additional Guarantors.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company and the Additional Guarantors covenant and agree with the Trustee as follows:

#### ARTICLE I

#### GUARANTEE OF NOTES AND RELATED PROVISIONS

SECTION 1.01. <u>Unconditional Guarantee</u>. The Additional Guarantors shall execute and deliver to the Trustee the following Guarantee, and shall be jointly and severally liable with any other Guarantor for their obligations under such Guarantee.

#### (FORM OF GUARANTEE)

- The undersigned (the "Guarantors") have fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally (such guarantee by each Guarantor being referred to herein as the "Guarantee") (i) the due and punctual payment of the principal of and interest on the Notes, whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, the due and punctual payment of interest on the overdue principal and interest, if any, on the Notes, to the extent lawful, and the due and punctual performance of all other obligations of the Company to the Holders or the Trustee all in accordance with the terms set forth in Article Six of the Supplemental Indenture and (ii) in case of any extension of time of payment or renewal of any Notes or any of such other obligations, that the same will be promptly paid in full when due or performed in accordance with the terms of the extension or renewal, whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise.
- No past, present or future stockholder, officer, director, employee or incorporator, as such, of any of the Guarantors shall have any liability under the Guarantee by reason of such person's status as stockholder, officer, director, employee or incorporator. Each holder of a Note by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability. This waiver and release are part of the consideration for the issuance of the Guarantees.
- Each holder of a Note by accepting a Note agrees that any Guarantor named below shall have no further liability with respect to its Guarantee if such Guarantor otherwise ceases to be liable in respect of its Guarantee in accordance with the terms of the Supplemental Indenture.

This Guarantee may be executed in counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Any signature to this Guarantee may be delivered by facsimile, electronic mail (including pdf) or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. Federal ESIGN Act of 2000 or the New York Electronic Signature and Records Act or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. Each of the parties hereto represents and warrants to the other parties that it has the capacity and authority to execute this Guarantee through electronic means. All notices, approvals, consents, requests and other communications hereunder must be in writing (and any communication sent to the Trustee hereunder must be in the form of a document that is signed manually or by way of a digital signature provided via DocuSign (or such other digital signature provider as specified in writing to the Trustee by the Company) or an electronic copy thereof), in English, and may only be delivered (a) by personal delivery, or (b) by national overnight courier service, or (c) by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, or (d) by facsimile transmission, with confirmed receipt or (e) by email by way of a PDF attachment thereto. Notice will be effective upon receipt except for notice via email, which will be effective only when the recipient, by return email or notice delivered by other method provided for in this paragraph, acknowledges having received that email (with an automatically generated

receipt or similar notice not constituting an acknowledgement of an email receipt for purposes of this paragraph). The Company agrees to assume all risks arising out of the use of digital signatures and electronic methods to submit communications to the Trustee, including without limitation the risk of the Trustee acting on unauthorized instructions, and the risk of interception and misuse by third parties, provided that the Trustee acts without negligence or bad faith.

The Guarantee shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose until the certificate of authentication on the Securities upon which the Guarantee is noted shall have been executed by the Trustee under the Supplemental Indenture by the manual signature of one of its authorized officers.

SECTION 1.02. Execution of Guarantee. To evidence the Guarantee specified in Section 1.01, the Additional Guarantors hereby agree to execute the Guarantee in substantially the form set forth above, and to deliver such Guarantee to the Trustee, which shall deliver such Guarantee to each Holder as an endorsement to the Notes held by such Holder, or alternatively hold such Guarantee on behalf of each such Holder.

#### ARTICLE II

#### MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 2.01. Confirmation of Indenture. The Indenture, as supplemented and amended by this Second Supplemental Indenture, is in all respects ratified and confirmed, and the Indenture, this Second Supplemental Indenture and all indentures supplemental thereto shall be read, taken and construed as one and the same instrument.

SECTION 2.02. Concerning the Trustee. The rights and duties of the Trustee set forth in the Indenture shall not be modified by reason of this Second Supplemental Indenture.

SECTION 2.03. Governing Law. This Second Supplemental Indenture, the Indenture, the Notes, and the Guarantee shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York.

SECTION 2.04. <u>Separability</u>. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Second Supplemental Indenture shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Second Supplemental Indenture, but this Second Supplemental Indenture shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.

SECTION 2.05. Counterparts. This Second Supplemental Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Second Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed as of the day and year first above written.

M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC.

By: <u>/s/ L. Ludwell Jones IV</u> Name: L. Ludwell Jones IV Title: Vice President and Treasurer

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

By: <u>/s/ Donald T. Hurrelbrink</u> Name: Donald T. Hurrelbrink Title: Vice President

RICHMOND AMERICAN HOMES OF NEW MEXICO, INC.

By: <u>/s/ L. Ludwell Jones IV</u> Name: L. Ludwell Jones IV Title: Vice President and Treasurer

RICHMOND AMERICAN CONSTRUCTION NM, INC.

By: <u>/s/ L. Ludwell Jones IV</u> Name: L. Ludwell Jones IV Title: Vice President and Treasurer

RICHMOND AMERICAN HOMES OF TEXAS, INC.

By: <u>/s/ L. Ludwell Jones IV</u> Name: L. Ludwell Jones IV Title: Vice President and Treasurer

# DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT'S SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

As of the date of the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit is a part, M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. (the "Company") has two classes of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"): (1) our common stock, \$.01 par value per share (the "Common Stock") and (2) our 6.000% Senior Notes due January 2043.

#### **Description of Common Stock**

The following description of our common stock is a summary and does not purport to be complete. It is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (the "charter") and our Bylaws, as amended (the "bylaws"), each of which are incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit is a part. We encourage you to read our charter, our bylaws and the applicable provisions of Delaware General Corporation Law for additional information. Our Common Stock is traded on The New York Stock Exchange under the "MDC" symbol.

The total number of shares of capital stock which the Company has the ability to issue is 275,000,000 shares consisting of 250,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock, \$.01 par value. The term "capital stock" means all capital stock of the Company, authorized to be issued from time to time under our charter, and the term "voting stock" shall mean all capital stock which by its terms may generally be voted on matters submitted to stockholders of the Company.

Our Board of Directors is divided into three classes, each class consisting, as nearly as may be possible, of one-third of the total number of Directors constituting the entire Board of Directors.

Holders of our Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders. The vote of the holders of a majority of the stock represented at a meeting at which a quorum is present is generally required to take shareholder action, unless a greater vote is required by law. The holders are not entitled to cumulative voting in the election of directors. Directors are elected by a plurality of the shares represented in person or by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote.

Holders of Common Stock have no preemptive rights. They are entitled to such dividends as may be declared by our board of directors out of funds legally available for such purpose. The Common Stock is not entitled to any sinking fund, redemption or conversion provisions. On our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of common stock are entitled to share ratably in our net assets remaining after the payment of all creditors and liquidation preferences of preferred stock, if any. The outstanding shares of common stock are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Stock is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

The following are provisions in our charter or bylaws:

- · Our charter prohibits shareholder action by written consent.
- Our charter provides that the shareholders shall not have the right to remove a director except (i) for cause upon the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of all outstanding shares of voting stock or (ii) without cause upon the affirmative vote of the holders of eighty percent (80%) of all outstanding shares of voting stock.
- Our charter provides that any vacancy on the Board of Directors or any newly created directorship may be filled by the remaining directors then in office, though they may constitute less than a quorum
- Our bylaws provide that special meetings of the shareholders may only be called by either (i) the Chairman or (ii) the President, (iii) any Vice President or (iv) the Secretary and shall be called by any such officer at the request in writing of a majority of the Board of Directors or the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting shares.

- Our bylaws establish an advance written notice procedure for shareholders seeking to propose matters to be acted upon at shareholders' meetings or to nominate persons for election to the Board of Directors
- Our charter provides that certain business combinations require the affirmative vote of not less than eighty percent (80%) of all the then outstanding shares of voting stock.

  Our charter requires, in certain circumstances, the affirmative vote of not less than eighty percent (80%) of all the then outstanding shares of voting stock to amend, repeal or adopt certain provisions of the charter.
- Our charter authorizes our Board of Directors to fix, with respect to a particular class or series of preferred stock, the voting powers of stock of such class or series, and the designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special rights and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions of such class or series.

  The foregoing provisions may have an effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company.

#### Description of 6.000% Senior Notes due 2043

The following description of our 6% Senior Notes due 2043 (the "Notes") is a summary and does not purport to be complete. It is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the Indenture, dated as of December 3, 2002 (the "Base Indenture"), between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee"), as supplemented by the Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 10, 2013 (the "Supplemental Indenture"), which are incorporated by reference as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit is a part. The Notes are traded on The New York Stock Exchange under the bond trading symbol of "552676AQ1".

Definitions of certain terms are set forth under "Certain Definitions" and throughout this description. Capitalized terms that are used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture, and those definitions are incorporated herein by reference. We encourage you to read the above referenced Indenture for additional information.

#### General

The Notes were issued under the Indenture among the Company, the Guarantors and the Trustee

#### Principal, Maturity and Interest

The Indenture does not limit the amount of debt securities that we may issue. We may issue debt securities under the Indenture from time to time in one or more series. The Notes will constitute a separate series of debt securities under the Indenture and will therefore vote together as a single class for purposes of determining whether holders of the requisite percentage in principal amount thereof have taken actions or exercised rights they are entitled to take or exercise under the Indenture.

The Notes will mature on January 15, 2043. \$500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Notes were issued, but we may issue additional Notes at any time on the same terms and conditions and with the same or different CUSIP number as the Notes. Interest on the Notes accrues from January 10, 2013, at a rate of 6.000% per annum, and is computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months and is payable semi-annually in arrears on ea January 15 and July 15 (each an "Interest Payment Date"), commencing on July 15, 2013. We will pay interest to the persons in whose names the Notes are registered at the close of business on January 1 or July 1, as the case may be before any Interest Payment Date.

The Notes are unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Company and rank equally and ratably with our existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness.

We conduct our operations through our subsidiaries and, therefore, we are primarily dependent on the earnings and cash flows of our subsidiaries to meet our debt service obligations.

Any right that we have or that our creditors have to participate in the assets of any of our subsidiaries upon any liquidation or reorganization of any such subsidiary will be subject to the prior claims of that subsidiary's creditors, including trade creditors. Accordingly, the Notes will also be effectively subordinated to the creditors of our subsidiaries. The Notes will, however, have the benefit of the Guarantees from the Guarantors, which consist of certain of our homebuilding subsidiaries. The Guarantees from the Guarantors, however, are unsecured and, accordingly, will be effectively subordinated to the secured debt of the Guarantors. Our subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities and have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, to pay any amounts due pursuant to the Notes or to make any funds available therefor, whether by dividends, loans or other payments, other than as expressly provided in the Guarantees. The payment of dividends and the making of loans and advances to us by our subsidiaries are subject to contractual, statutory or regulatory restrictions, are contingent upon the earnings of those subsidiaries and are subject to various business considerations.

We expect that payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest to owners of beneficial interests in Notes held in global form will be made in accordance with the procedures of The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") and its participants in effect from time to time. DTC will act as the Depository for the global Notes.

The Notes will not be entitled to the benefit of any sinking fund or mandatory redemption provisions

The Notes are issued only in fully registered form without coupons, in denominations of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof.

The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes will be payable, and, subject to the restrictions on transfer described herein, the Notes may be surrendered for registration of transfer or exchange, at the office or agency maintained by us for that purpose in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York; provided that payments of interest may be made at our option by check mailed to the address of the persons entitled thereto or by wire transfer to an account maintained by the payee with a bank located in the United States. Thinled States, Thinled States, Thinled States, Thinled States, Thinled States, Though the payee will be made for any registration of transfer or exchange of the Notes, but we may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge payable in connection herewith.

If any Interest Payment Date or maturity date of the Notes is not a business day at any place of payment, then payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest need not be made at such place of payment on that date but may be made on the next succeeding business day at that place of payment, and no interest will accrue on the amount payable for the period from and after such Interest Payment Date or maturity date, as the case may be.

The Indenture does not limit the amount of indebtedness that we or our subsidiaries may issue. The Indenture does not contain covenants or other provisions designed to afford holders of the Notes protection in the event of a highly leveraged transaction, change in credit rating or other similar occurrence.

We expect that interests in the global Notes will trade in DTC's Same-Day Funds Settlement System and secondary market trading activity in these interests will therefore be required by DTC to settle in immediately available funds.

#### Interest Rate Adjustment Following A Change of Control

If a Change of Control occurs and within 60 days thereafter all three of the Ratings Agencies have less than Investment Grade debt ratings assigned to the Notes, whether as a result of a downgrade or otherwise, the per annum interest rate on the Notes will increase from the interest rate payable on the Notes immediately before the Change of Control. The interest rate will increase by 0.25% for each rating level below Investment Grade by each of the two Rating Agencies with the lowest ratings (i.e., if two Rating Agencies are two levels below Investment Grade and the third Rating Agency is one level below Investment Grade, the interest rate increase will be 1.00% per annum). In the event that only two Rating Agency have debt ratings assigned to the Notes, the interest rate increase. In the event that only one Rating Agency has a debt rating assigned to the Notes, the interest rate increase will be two times 0.25% for each rating level below Investment Grade by the Rating Agency that has a debt rating assigned to the Notes. In the event that on Rating Agency has a debt rating assigned to

the Notes, the interest rate increase will be 2.00% per annum. Any downgrade of the ratings assigned to the Notes that occurs outside of the 60 day period will not alter the per annum interest rate.

In no event shall: (1) the total increase in the interest rate on the Notes exceed 2.00% per annum above the interest rate payable on the Notes on the date of their initial issuance; or (2) the interest rate increase unless the debt ratings on the Notes by all Rating Agencies that have debt ratings assigned to the Notes are below Investment Grade within 60 days after the Change of Control.

If at any time after the interest rate on the Notes has been adjusted upward pursuant to this provision as a result of a Rating Agency rating the Notes below Investment Grade, that Rating Agency (or a replacement rating agency selected by us under the circumstance set forth in, and in accordance with, the definition of "Rating Agency") thereafter increases its rating with respect to the Notes, the per annum interest rate on the Notes will decrease by 0.25% per annum (or, if the debt rating for only one Rating Agency was used to determine the interest rate interest rate in the foreith sentence of the first paragraph of this "Interest Rate Adjustment Following a Change of Control" section, two times 0.25% per annum) for each level of improvement in the rating of the Notes by such Rating Agency, provided that the decrease in interest rate resulting therefrom will not exceed the aggregate percentage increase in the interest rate resulted from the prior lower rating by such Rating Agency. In no event will the interest rate on the Notes over be less than the interest rate payable on the Notes on the date of their initial issuance.

Any interest rate change described above will take effect as of the first day of the interest period for which the next interest payment will be made.

The interest rate on the Notes will permanently cease to be subject to any adjustment described above (notwithstanding any subsequent decrease in the ratings by any Rating Agency) if all of the Rating Agencies subsequently increase their rating of the Notes to the following levels at the same time (Moody's: A3; S&P: A-; Fitch A-; or the equivalent if with respect to any substitute rating agency) or higher.

#### Guarantees

Payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes will be guaranteed fully and unconditionally, jointly and severally, by certain of our homebuilding subsidiaries. Each Guarantee will be an unsecured senior obligation of the Guarantor issuing such Guarantee, ranking equal in right of payment with all of such Guarantor's existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness.

The Indenture provides that, in the event any Guarantee would constitute or result in a violation of any applicable fraudulent conveyance or similar law of any relevant jurisdiction, the liability of the Guarantor under such Guarantee shall be reduced to the maximum amount, after giving effect to all other contingent and other liabilities of such Guarantor, permissible under applicable fraudulent conveyance or similar law.

The Indenture provides that any subsidiary of the Company that provides a guarantee of any Specified Indebtedness, other than Finance Subsidiaries, will guarantee the Notes. The Indenture provides that any Guarantor may be released from its Guarantee so long as (1) no default or Event of Default exists or would result from release of such Guarantee, (2) the Guarantor being released has Consolidated Net Worth of less than 5% of the Company's Consolidated Net Worth as of the end of the most recent fiscal quarter. (3) the Guarantors released from their Guarantees in any year-end period comprise in the aggregate less than 10% (or 15% if and to the extent necessary to permit us to cure a default) of the Company's Consolidated Net Worth as of the end of the most recent fiscal quarter; (4) such release would not have a material adverse effect on the homebuilding business of the Company and its subsidiaries and (5) the Guarantor is released from its guarantee(s) under all Specified Indebtedness (other than by reason of payment under its guarantee of Specified Indebtedness).

By reason of the foregoing, if the Guarantors are released under their guarantees of our other Specified Indebtedness, the Guarantors will also be released under their Guarantees of the Notes and the other notes issued under the 2002 Indenture.

See "Risk Factors -Risks Relating to the Notes -The notes will be unsecured and effectively subordinated to our secured indebtedness and structurally subordinated to all of the liabilities of our subsidiaries that do not guarantee the notes" and "— Federal and state laws allow courts, under specific circumstances, to void guarantees and to require you to return payments received from guarantors of the notes."

### Optional Redemption

We may, at our option, redeem the Notes in whole at any time or in part from time to time, as set forth below on at least 30 but not more than 60 days' prior notice.

If the Notes are redeemed prior to the date that is three months prior to the maturity date for the Notes, the redemption price for the Notes to be redeemed will equal the greater of the following amounts:

- 100% of their principal amount, and
- the present value of the Remaining Scheduled Payments on the Notes being redeemed on the redemption date, discounted to the redemption date, on a semi-annual basis, at the Treasury Rate plus 45 basis points (0.450%), plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest on the Notes to the redemption date.

If the Notes are redeemed on or after the date that is three months prior to the maturity date for the Notes, the redemption price for the Notes to be redeemed will equal 100% of the principal amount of such Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date. In determining the redemption price and accrued interest, interest shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months.

If money sufficient to pay the redemption price of and accrued interest on the Notes to be redeemed is deposited with the Trustee on or before the redemption date, on and after the redemption date interest will cease to accrue on the Notes (or such portions thereof) called for redemption and the Notes will cease to be outstanding.

On and after the redemption date, interest will cease to accrue on the Notes or any portion of the Notes called for redemption (unless we default in the payment of the redemption price and accrued interest). On or before the redemption date, we will deposit with a paying agent (or the Trustee) money sufficient to pay the redemption price of and accrued interest on the Notes to be redeemed on that date. If less than all of the Notes are to be redeemed, the Notes to be redeemed shall be selected by lot by DTC, in the case of Notes represented by a global security.

#### Certain Covenants

Restrictions on Secured Debt. The Indenture provides that the Company will not, and will not cause or permit a Restricted Subsidiary (other than any Finance Subsidiary) to, create, incur, assume or guarantee any Secured Debt unless the Notes will be secured equally and ratably with (or prior to) such Secured Debt, with certain exceptions. This restriction does not prohibit the creation, incurrence, assumption or guarantee of Secured Debt which is secured by:

- (1) Security Interests in model homes, homes held for sale, homes that are under contract for sale, contracts for the sale of homes, land (improved or unimproved), manufacturing plants, warehouses or office buildings and fixtures and equipment located thereat or thereon;
- (2) Security Interests in property at the time of its acquisition by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary, including Capitalized Lease Obligations, which Security Interests secure obligations assumed by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary, or in the property of a corporation or other entity at the time it is merged into or consolidated with the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary (other than Secured Debt created in contemplation of the acquisition of such property or the consummation of such a merger or where the Security Interest attaches to or affects the property of the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary prior to such transaction);
  - (3) Security Interests arising from conditional sales agreements or title retention agreements with respect to property acquired by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary;
  - (4) Security Interests incurred in connection with pollution control, industrial revenue, water, sewage or any similar item; and
- (5) Security Interests securing Indebtedness of a Restricted Subsidiary owing to the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary that is wholly owned (directly or indirectly) by the Company or Security Interests securing the Company's Indebtedness owing to a Guarantor.

Additionally, such permitted Secured Debt includes any amendment, restatement, supplement, renewal, replacement, extension or refunding, in whole or in part, of Secured Debt permitted at the time of the original incurrence thereof

In addition, the Company and the Guarantors may create, incur, assume or guarantee Secured Debt, without equally and ratably securing the Notes, if immediately thereafter the sum of (1) the aggregate principal amount of all Secured Debt outstanding (excluding Secured Debt permitted under clauses (1) through (5) above and any Secured Debt in relation to which the Notes have been equally and ratably secured) and (2) all Attributable Debt (as defined below) in respect of Sale and Leaseback Transactions as to which the provisions of clauses (1) through (3) described under "Limitation on Sale and Leaseback Transactions" have been complied with) as of the date of determination would not exceed 20% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets (as defined below).

The provisions described above with respect to limitations on Secured Debt are not applicable to Non-Recourse Indebtedness (as defined below) by virtue of the definition of Secured Debt, and will not restrict the Company's or the Guarantors' ability to create, incur, assume or guarantee any unsecured Indebtedness.

Limitation on Sale and Leaseback Transactions. The Indenture provides that we will not, and will not cause or permit a Restricted Subsidiary to, enter into any Sale and Leaseback Transaction unless:

- the net proceeds received therefrom are equal to or exceed the fair value of such property so leased, as determined by the Board of Directors, chairman of the board, vice chairman, president or principal financial officer of the Company,
- · we or any of our Restricted Subsidiaries would be entitled to incur Secured Debt as described in "Restrictions on Secured Debt" above,
- we, or a Restricted Subsidiary, within 180 days of the effective date of any Sale and Leaseback Transaction, apply an amount equal to the fair value of the property so leased to the retirement of our Funded Indebtedness,
- the Sale and Leaseback Transaction relates to a sale which occurs within 180 days from the date of acquisition of that property by us or any of our Restricted Subsidiaries or the date of the completion of construction or commencement of full operations on that property, whichever is later, or
- the Sale and Leaseback Transaction was consummated prior to the date of the Indenture.

Additional Guarantees. The Indenture provides that the Company shall not permit any Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor, directly or indirectly, to guarantee any obligations of the Company under any Specified Indebtedness such Subsidiary simultaneously executes and delivers to the Trustee a supplemental indenture, in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee, pursuant to which such Subsidiary guarantees, in the Subsidiary specified Indebtedness is guaranteed, the Company's obligations under the Indenture and the Notes. The Company shall deliver to the Trustee an opinion of counsel that such supplemental indenture has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by such Subsidiary and, subject to customary exceptions, constitutes a valid and legally binding and enforceable obligation of such Subsidiary.

SEC Reports. The Indenture provides that we will deliver to the Trustee and each Holder, within 15 days after we file the same with the SEC, copies of all reports and information (or copies of such portions of any of the foregoing as the SEC may by rules and regulations prescribe), if any, exclusive of exhibits, which we are required to file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act or pursuant to the immediately following sentence. So long as any Notes remain outstanding, we shall file with the SEC such reports as may be required pursuant to Section 13 of the Exchange Act or pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act. If we are not subject to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") (or otherwise required to file reports pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence), we shall deliver to the Trustee and to each Holder, within 15 days after we would have been required to for file such information with the SEC were we required to do so, financial statements, including any notes thereto (and, in the first of a fiscal year end, an auditors' report by an independent certified public accounting firm of established national reputation), and a "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," substantially equivalent to that which we would have been required to include in such quarterly or

annual reports, information, documents or other reports if we had been subject to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. We shall also comply with the other provisions of TIA Section 314(a).

### Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets

Neither the Company nor the Guarantors will consolidate or merge into or sell, assign, transfer or lease all or substantially all of our or their assets to another person unless:

- (1) the person is a corporation organized under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof;
- (2) the person assumes by supplemental indenture all of the obligations of us or such Guarantor, as the case may be, relating to the Notes, the Guarantees and the Indenture, as the case may be; and
- (3) immediately after the transaction no Event of Default exists; provided that this clause (3) will not restrict or be applicable to a merger, consolidation or liquidation of a Guarantor with or into the Company or another Subsidiary that is wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company that is, or concurrently with the completion of such merger, consolidation or liquidation becomes, a Guarantor or a Restricted Subsidiary that is wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company.

Upon any such consolidation, merger, sale, assignment or transfer, the successor corporation will be substituted for the Company or such Guarantor (including any merger or consolidation described in the proviso at the end of the immediately preceding sentence), as applicable, under the Indenture. The successor corporation may then exercise every power and right of the Company or such Guarantor under the Indenture, and the Company or such Guarantor, as applicable, will be released from all of its respective liabilities and obligations in respect of the Notes and the Indenture. If the Company or any Guarantor leases all or substantially all of its assets, the lessee corporation will be the successor to the Company or such Guarantor and may exercise every power and right of the Company or such Guarantor rad may exercise every power and right of the Company or such Guarantor, as the case may be, under the Indenture, but the Company or such Guarantor, as the case may be, will not be released from its respective obligations to pay the principal of and premium, if any, and interest, if any, on the Notes.

### **Events of Default**

An "Event of Default" with respect to the Notes is defined in the Indenture as being:

- (1) default in the payment of interest on the Notes as and when the same becomes due and payable and the continuance of any such failure for 30 days;
- (2) default in the payment of all or any part of the principal or premium, if any, on the Notes when and as the same become due and payable at maturity, at redemption, by declaration of acceleration or otherwise;
- (3) default in the observance or performance of, or breach of, any covenant, agreement or warranty of the Company contained in the Notes or the Indenture (unless specifically dealt with elsewhere), and continuance of such default or breach for a period of 60 days after there has been given, by registered or certified mail, to the Company by the Trustee, or to the Company and the Trustee by Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes, a written notice specifying such default or breach, requiring it to be remedied and stating that such notice is a "Notice of Default" thereunder;
- (4) a decree, judgment or order by a court of competent jurisdiction shall have been entered adjudging the Company or any of its Significant Subsidiaries as bankrupt or insolvent, or approving as properly filed a petition in an involuntary case or proceeding seeking reorganization of the Company or any of its Significant Subsidiaries under any bankruptcy or similar law, or a decree, judgment or order of a court of competent jurisdiction directing the appointment of a receive, liquidator, trustee, or assignee in bankruptcy or insufficant Subsidiaries, or of the assets or property of any such Person, or the winding up or liquidation of the affairs of any such Person, shall have been entered, and the continuance of any such decree, judgment or order unstayed and in effect for a period of 90 consecutive days;
  - (5) the Company or any of its Significant Subsidiaries shall institute proceedings to be adjudicated a voluntary bankrupt (including conversion of an involuntary proceeding into a voluntary

proceeding), or shall consent to the filing of a bankruptcy proceeding against it, or shall file a petition or answer or consent to the filing of any such petition, or shall consent to the appointment of a custodian, receiver, liquidator, trustee, or assignee in bankruptcy or insolvency of it or any of its assets or property, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due, or shall, within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law, become insolvent, or fail generally to pay its debts as they become due;

- (6) (a) the acceleration of any Indebtedness (other than Non-Recourse Indebtedness) of the Company or any of its Significant Subsidiaries (in accordance with the terms of such Indebtedness and after giving effect to any applicable grace period set forth in the documents governing such Indebtedness) that has an outstanding principal amount of \$25,000,000 or more individually or \$40,000,000 or more in the aggregate to be immediately due and payable; provided that, in the event any such acceleration is withdrawn or otherwise rescinded (including satisfaction of such Indebtedness) within a period of ten business days after such acceleration by the holders of such Indebtedness, any Event of Default under this clause (6) will be deemed to be cured and any acceleration hereunder will be deemed withdrawn or rescinded; or (b) the failure by the Company or any of its Significant Subsidiaries to make any principal, premium, interest or other required payment in respect of Indebtedness (other than Non-Recourse Indebtedness) of the Company or any of its Significant Subsidiaries with an outstanding aggregate principal amount of \$25,000,000 or more individually or \$40,000,000 or more in the aggregate (after giving effect to any applicable grace period set forth in the documents governing such Indebtedness);
- (7) one or more final nonappealable judgments (in the amount not covered by insurance or not reserved for) or the issuance of any warrant of attachment against any portion of the property or assets (except with respect to Non-Recourse Indebtedness) of the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, which are \$25,000,000 or more individually or \$40,000,000 or more in the aggregate, at any one time rendered against the Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries by a court of competent jurisdiction and not bonded, satisfied or discharged for a period (during which execution shall not be effectively stayed) of (a) 60 days after the judgment becomes final and such court shall not have ordered or approved, and the parties shall not have agreed upon, the payment of such judgment at a later date or dates or (b) 60 days after all or any part of such judgment is payable pursuant to any court order or agreement between the parties; or
- (8) the Guarantee of any Guarantor shall fail to remain in full force and effect except in accordance with the Indenture or any action shall be taken by any Guarantor to discontinue or to assert the invalidity or unenforceability of its Guarantee, or any Guarantee, or any Guarantee any further liability under its Guarantee or gives notice to such effect.

The Indenture provides that if an Event of Default (other than an Event of Default described in clause (4) or (5) above) shall have occurred and be continuing, either the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of Notes then outstanding may declare the principal amount of all the Notes and interest, if any, accrued thereon to be due and payable immediately, but upon certain conditions such declaration may be annulled and past defaults (except, unless cured, a default in payment of principal of or interest on the Notes) may be waived by the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding. If an Event of Default described in clause (4) or (5) above occurs and is continuing, then the principal amount of all the debt securities shall become and be immediately due and payable without any declaration or other act on the part of the Trustee or any holder.

The Indenture contains a provision entitling the Trustee, subject to the duty of the Trustee during default to act with the required standard of care, to be indemnified by the holders of the Notes before proceeding to exercise any right or power under the Indenture at the request of the holders of the Notes. The Indenture also provides that the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes may direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred on such Trustee.

No holder of Notes will have any right to institute any proceeding with respect to the Indenture or for any remedy thereunder, unless: (1) the holder shall have previously given the Trustee written notice of an Event of Default with respect to the Notes, (2) the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes shall have made written request, and offered reasonable indemnity, to the Trustee to institute such proceeding as trustee, (3) the Trustee shall have failed to institute any such proceeding for 60 days after its receipt of such notice and (4) no direction inconsistent with such written request shall have been given to the Trustee during the 60-day period by the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes. However, any right of a holder of Notes to receive payment of the principal of and any interest on the Notes on or after the dates expressed in the Notes and to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such dates shall not be impaired or affected without the consent of such holder.

The Indenture contains a covenant that we will file annually with the Trustee a certificate as to the absence of any default or specifying any default that exists.

#### Certain Definitions

"Attributable Debt" means, in respect of a Sale and Leaseback Transaction, the present value (discounted at the weighted average effective interest cost per annum of the outstanding debt securities of all series, compounded semiannually) of the obligation of the lessee for rental payments during the remaining term of the lease included in such transaction, including any period for which such lease has been extended or may, at the option of the lessor, be extended or, if earlier, until the earliest date on which the lessee may terminate such lease may terminate such lease the obligation of the lessee for rental payments shall include such penalty), after excluding all amounts required to be paid on account of maintenance and repairs, insurance, taxes, assessments, water and utility rates and similar charges.

"Capital Stock" means any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of or in a Person's capital stock or other equity interests, and options, rights or warrants to purchase such capital stock or other equity interests, whether now outstanding or issued after the Issue Date, including, without limitation, all Preferred Stock of such Person if such Person is a corporation or membership interests if such Person is a limited liability company and each general and limited partnership interest of such Person if such Person is a partnership.

"Capitalized Lease Obligations" of any Person means the obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under a lease that is required to be capitalized for financial reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP, and the amount of such obligations will be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP.

"Change of Control" means the consummation of any transaction (including, without limitation, any merger or consolidation) the result of which is that any "person" (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of our Voting Stock, measured by voting power rather than number of shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a transaction will not be deemed to involve a Change of Control if (1) the Company becomes a wholly owned subsidiary of a holding company and (2) the holders of the Voting Stock of such holding company immediately following that transaction are substantially the same as the holders of the Company's Voting Stock immediately prior to that transaction.

"Comparable Treasury Issue" means the United States Treasury security selected by the Reference Treasury Dealer as having a maturity comparable to the remaining term of the Notes to be redeemed that would be utilized, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities of comparable maturity to the remaining term of such Notes.

"Comparable Treasury Price" means, with respect to any redemption date, (a) the average of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) on the third business day preceding such redemption date, as set forth in the daily statistical release (or any successor release) published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and designated "Composite 3:30 p.m. Quotations for U.S. Government Securities" or (b) if such release (or any successor release) is not published or does not contain such price on such business day, (i) the average of the Reference Treasury Dealer quotations for such redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, or (ii) if the Trustee obtains fewer than four such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all such quotations.

"Consolidated Net Tangible Assets" means the total amount of assets which would be included on a combined balance sheet of the Company and the Guarantors under GAAP (less applicable reserves and other properly deductible items) after deducting therefrom:

- (1) all short-term liabilities, except for (x) liabilities payable by their terms more than one year from the date of determination (or renewable or extendible at the option of the obligor for a period ending more than one year after such date) and (y) liabilities in respect of retiree benefits other than pensions for which the Restricted Subsidiaries are required to accrue pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106;
  - (2) investments in subsidiaries that are not Restricted Subsidiaries; and
  - (3) all goodwill, trade names, trademarks, patents, unamortized debt discount, unamortized expense incurred in the issuance of debt and other intangible assets.

"Consolidated Net Worth" of any Person means the consolidated stockholders' equity of the Person determined in accordance with GAAP.

"Finance Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary of the Company substantially all of whose operations consist of (a) the mortgage financing business or (b) the insurance business.

"Fitch" means Fitch Ratings.

"Funded Indebtedness" means notes, bonds, debentures or other similar evidences of Indebtedness for money borrowed which by their terms mature at or are extendible or renewable at the option of the obligor to a date more than 12 months after the date of the creation of such debt.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or in such other statements by such other entity as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession of the United States, as in effect on the date of the Indenture.

"Guarantee" means a guarantee (other than by endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business), direct or indirect, in any manner (including, without limitation, letters of credit and reimbursement agreements in respect thereof), of all or any part of any Indebtedness.

"Guarantors" means (i) initially, each of:

M.D.C. Land Corporation, a Colorado corporation;
RAH of Florida, Inc., a Colorado corporation;
Richmond American Gonstruction, Inc., a Delaware corporation;
Richmond American Homes of Arizona, Inc., a Delaware corporation;
Richmond American Homes of Colorado, Inc., a Delaware corporation;
Richmond American Homes of Delaware, Inc., a Colorado corporation (now known as Richmond American Homes of Florida, LP, a Colorado corporation (now known as Richmond American Homes of Florida, LP, a Colorado corporation (now known as Richmond American Homes of Maryland, Inc., a Advayland corporation;
Richmond American Homes of Nevada, Inc., a Colorado corporation;
Richmond American Homes of Pennsylvania, Inc., a Colorado corporation;
Richmond American Homes of Virginia, Inc., a Colorado corporation;
Richmond American Homes of Virginia, Inc., a Virginia corporation;
Richmond American Homes of Virginia, Inc., a Virginia corporation;
Richmond American Homes of Washington, Inc., a Colorado corporation;
Richmond American Homes of Washington, Inc., a Colorado corporation;

and (ii) any other Subsidiary of the Company that executes and delivers a guarantee of the Notes pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture. Richmond American Construction NM, Inc., Richmond American Homes of New Mexico, Inc. and Richmond American Homes of Texas, Inc., all Colorado corporations, have executed and delivered guarantees.

"Indebtedness" means (a) any liability of any Person (i) for borrowed money, or (ii) evidenced by a bond, note, debenture or similar instrument (including a purchase money obligation) given in connection with the acquisition of any businesses, properties or assets of any kind (other than a trade payable or a current liability arising in the ordinary course of business), or (iii) for the payment of money relating to a Capitalized Lease Obligation or (iv) for all Redeemable Capital Stock valued at the greater of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation preference plus accrued and unpaid dividends; (b) any liability of others described in the preceding clause (a) that such Person has guaranteed or that is otherwise its legal liability; (c) all Indebtedness referred to in (but not excluded from) (d) above of other Persons and all dividends of other Persons, the payment of which is secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Security Interest upon or in property (including, without limitation, accounts and contract rights) owned by such Person, even though such Person has not assumed or become liable for the payment of such Indebtedness; and (d) any amendment, supplement, modification, deferral, renewal, extension or refunding of any liability of the types referred to in clauses (a), (b) and (c) above.

"Interest Payment Date" means the stated due date of an installment of interest on the Notes.

"Investment Grade" means a rating of Baa3 or better by Moody's (or its equivalent under any successor rating categories of Moody's); a rating of BBB- or better by Fitch (or its equivalent under any successor rating categories of Fitch); a rating of BBB- or better by S&P (or its equivalent under any successor rating categories of S&P); and the equivalent investment grade credit rating from any additional Rating Agency or Rating Agencies selected by us.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc.

"Non-Recourse Indebtedness" means Indebtedness or other obligations secured by a lien on property to the extent that the liability for the Indebtedness or other obligations is limited to the security of the property without liability on the part of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary (other than the Restricted Subsidiary which holds title to the property) for any deficiency.

"Notes" means the 6.000% Senior Notes due 2043, issued under the Indenture, as supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

"Person" means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, incorporated or unincorporated association, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organization or government or any agency or political subdivision thereof.

"Preferred Stock" of any Person means all Capital Stock of such Person which has a preference in liquidation or with respect to the payment of dividends.

"Rating Agency" means (1) each of Moody's, Fitch and S&P; and (2) if any of Moody's, Fitch or S&P ceases to rate the Notes or fails to make a rating of the Notes publicly available (for reasons outside of our control), a "nationally recognized statistical rating organization" registered under Section 15E of the Exchange Act, selected by us (as certified by a resolution of our board of directors) as a replacement agency for Moody's, Fitch or S&P, or all three, as the case may be.

"Redeemable Capital Stock" means any Capital Stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that, either by its terms, by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or exchangeable or otherwise, (a) is or upon the happening of an event or passage of time would be required to be redeemed on or prior to the final stated maturity of the securities or (b) is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof at any time prior to such final stated maturity or (c) is convertible into or exchangeable for debt securities at any time on or prior to such final stated maturity.

"Reference Treasury Dealer" means (a) Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (or its affiliates which are Primary Treasury Dealers), and its successors; provided, however, that if any of the foregoing shall cease to be a primary U.S. Government securities dealer in New York City (a "Primary Treasury Dealer"), the Company will substitute therefor another Primary Treasury Dealer, and (b) any other Primary Treasury Dealer(s) selected by us.

"Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations" means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption date, the average, as determined by the Trustee, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted in writing to the Trustee by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 5:00 p.m. on the third business day preceding such redemption date.

"Remaining Scheduled Payments" means, with respect to any Note, the remaining scheduled payments of the principal thereof to be redeemed and interest thereon that would be due after the related redemption date but for such redemption; provided, however, that if such redemption date is not an Interest Payment Date with respect to such Note, the amount of the next succeeding scheduled interest payment thereon will be reduced by the amount of interest accrued thereon to such redemption date.

"Restricted Subsidiary" means any Guarantor and any successor to such Guarantor.

"Sale and Leaseback Transaction" means a sale or transfer made by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary (except a sale or transfer made to the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary) of any property which is either (a) a manufacturing facility, office building or warehouse whose book value equals or exceeds 1% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets as of the date of determination or (b) another property (not including a model home) which exceeds 5% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets as of the date of determination, if such sale or transfer is made with the agreement, commitment or intention of leasing such property to the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary for more than a three-year term.

"Secured Debt" means any Indebtedness, except Indebtedness of the Finance Subsidiaries, which is secured by (i) a Security Interest in any of the property of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary or (ii) a Security Interest in shares of stock owned directly or indirectly by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary in a corporation or in equity interests owned by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary in a partnership or other entity not organized as a corporation or in the Company's rights or the rights of a Restricted Subsidiary in respect of Indebtedness of a corporation, partnership or other entity in which the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary has an equity interest. The securing in the foregoing manner of any such Indebtedness which immediately prior thereto was not Secured Debt shall be deemed to be the creation of Secured Debt at the time security is given.

"Security Interests" means any mortgage, pledge, lien, encumbrance or other security interest which secures the payment or performance of an obligation.

"Significant Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary (a) whose revenues exceed 10% of our total consolidated revenues, in each case for the most recent fiscal year, or (b) whose net worth exceeds 10% of our total stockholders' equity, in each case as of the end of the most recent fiscal year.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.

"Specified Indebtedness" means Indebtedness under (i) the Notes and (ii) the 2002 Indenture, and any refinancing, extension, renewal or replacement of any of the foregoing.

"Subsidiary" means any Person of which at the time of determination by us, directly and/or indirectly through one or more Subsidiaries, we own more than 50% of its Voting Stock.

"Treasury Rate" means, with respect to any redemption date, the rate per annum equal to the semiannual equivalent yield to maturity of the Comparable Treasury Issue, assuming a price for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal to the Comparable Treasury Price for such redemption date.

"Voting Stock" means, with respect to any Person, the Capital Stock of such Person that is generally entitled to vote in the election of the members of the board of directors (or functional equivalent) of such Person.

### Modification and Waiver

We and the Trustee, with the consent of the holders of at least a majority of the principal amount of the outstanding Notes, may execute supplemental indentures adding any provisions to or changing or eliminating any of the provisions of the Indenture or modifying the rights of the holders of the Notes, except that no such supplemental indenture may, without the consent of the holder of each outstanding security affected by the supplemental indenture, among other things:

- (1) change the final maturity of the Notes, or reduce the rate or extend the time of payment of interest on the Notes, or reduce the principal amount of the Notes, or impair the right to institute suit for payment of the Notes:
  - (2) change the redemption provisions or the definitions relating thereto in any manner adverse to the holders of the Notes;
- (3) reduce the percentage of Notes whose consent the holders of which is required for any such supplemental indenture, for any waiver of compliance with certain provisions of the Indenture or certain defaults under the Indenture and their consequences provided in the Indenture; or
- (4) modify any of the provisions regarding the modification of the Indenture, waivers of past defaults and waivers of certain covenants, except to increase any percentage or to provide that certain other provisions of the Indenture cannot be modified or waived without the consent of the holder of each outstanding security affected thereby.

Our Board of Directors does not have the power to waive any of the covenants of the Indenture. We and the Trustee may modify or amend provisions of the Indenture without the consent of any holder for any of the following

- (1) to evidence the succession of another Person to us or any Guarantor under the Indenture and the Notes;
- (2) to add to our covenants or the covenants of any Guarantor for the benefit of the holders of the Notes or to surrender any right or power conferred upon us or such Guarantor by the Indenture;
- (3) to add Events of Default for the benefit of the holders of the Notes;
- (4) to secure any debt securities under the Indenture;
- (5) to establish the form or terms of the debt securities of any series;
- (6) to add Guarantors;
- (7) to provide for the acceptance of appointment by a successor Trustee or facilitate the administration of the trusts under the Indenture by more than one Trustee;
- (8) to close the Indenture to authentication and delivery of additional series of debt securities and to cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency in the Indenture, provided such action does not adversely affect the interests of holders of the Notes; or
- (9) to supplement any of the provisions of the Indenture to the extent necessary to permit or facilitate defeasance and discharge of the Notes, *provided* that such action shall not adversely affect the interests of the holders of the Notes in any material respect.

The holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the outstanding Notes may, on behalf of the holders of the Notes, waive any past default under the Indenture with respect to the Notes. However, they may not waive a default (1) in the payment of the principal of (or premium, if any) or any interest on the Notes or (2) in respect of a covenant or provision which under the Indenture cannot be modified or amended without the consent of the holder of each outstanding debt security affected.

#### Defeasance Provisions

Defeasance and Discharge. The Indenture provides that we will be discharged from any and all obligations in respect of the debt securities of that series (except for certain obligations to register the transfer or exchange of debt securities, replace stolen, lost, destroyed or mutilated debt securities, maintain offices or agencies and hold moneys for payment in trust) upon the deposit with the Trustee, in trust, of money, government obligations or a combination thereof, which through the payment of interest and principal thereof in accordance with their terms will provide money in an amount sufficient to pay the principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on, and any mandatory sinking fund payments in respect of, the debt securities of that series on the stated maturity date of the payments in accordance with the terms of the Indenture and the debt securities. This type of discharge may only occur if there has been a change in applicable federal law or we have received from, or there has been published by, the United States Internal Revenue Service a ruling to the effect that the holders of the debt securities will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of that discharge and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amount, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if the discharge had not occurred. In addition, this type of discharge may only occur so long as no Event of Default or event which, with notice or lapse of time, would become an Event of Default with respect to the debt securities of that series has occurred and is continuing on the date that cash and/or government securities are deposited in trust and other conditions specified in the Indenture are satisfied. The term "government obligations" means securities of the government which interest is payable or of government agencies backed by the full faith and credit of that government.

Defeasance of Certain Covenants. The Indenture also provides that we may omit to comply with the covenants described above under "Certain Covenants" with respect to the debt securities of that series if we comply with the following conditions. In order to exercise this option, we will be required to deposit with the Trustee money, government obligations or a combination thereof which through the payment of interest and principal thereof in accordance with their terms will provide money in an amount sufficient to pay the principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on, and any mandatory sinking fund payments in respect of, the debt securities of that series on the stated maturity date of the payments in accordance with the terms of the Indenture and the debt securities. We will also be required to deliver to the Trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that the deposit and related covenant defeasance will not cause the holders of the debt securities of that series to recognize income, gain

or loss for federal income tax purposes and that those holders will be subject to federal income tax on the same amount, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if the deposit and covenant defeasance had not occurred, and to satisfy other conditions specified in the Indenture.

Covenant Defeasance and Events of Default. In the event we exercise our option to effect covenant defeasance with respect to the debt securities of any series and those debt securities are declared due and payable because of the occurrence of any Event of Default, the amount of money and government obligations on deposit with the Trustee will be sufficient to pay amounts due on the debt securities of that series at the time of their stated maturity dates but may not be sufficient to pay amounts due on the debt securities at the time of the acceleration resulting from such Event of Default. However, we shall remain liable for such payments.

### Regarding the Trustee

The Indenture contains certain limitations on the rights of the Trustee, which is a creditor of the Company, to obtain payment of claims in certain cases or to realize on certain property received in respect of any such claim as security or otherwise. The Trustee will be permitted to engage in other transactions; however, if it acquires any conflicting interest (as defined in the Indenture), it must eliminate such conflict or resign. In the ordinary course of its business, the Trustee provides, and may continue to provide, service to the Company as trustee for other debt securities of the Company.

### Book-Entry Delivery and Settlement

We will issue the Notes in the form of one or more permanent global securities in definitive, fully registered form. The global securities will be deposited with or on behalf of The Depository Trust Company, referred to as DTC, and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, or will remain in the custody of the trustee in accordance with the FAST Balance Certificate Agreement between DTC and the Trustee. DTC has advised us that:

- DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code and a "clearing agency" registered under Section 17Å of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;
- DTC holds securities that its direct participants deposit with DTC and facilitates the settlement among direct participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry changes in direct participants' accounts, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates;
- · direct participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and other organizations;
- DTC is owned by a number of its direct participants and by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange LLC and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.,
- access to the DTC system is also available to indirect participants such as securities brokers and dealers, banks and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a direct participant, either directly or indirectly; and
- the rules applicable to DTC and its direct and indirect participants are on file with the SEC.

#### Certificated Notes

We will issue certificated Notes to each Person that DTC identifies as the beneficial owner of Notes represented by the global securities upon surrender by DTC of the global securities only if:

- DTC notifies us that it is no longer willing or able to act as a depository for the global securities, and we have not appointed a successor depository within 90 days of that notice;
- an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; or
- we decide not to have the Notes represented by a global security.

Neither we nor the Trustee will be liable for any delay by DTC, its nominee or any direct or indirect participant in identifying the beneficial owners of the related Notes. We and the Trustee may conclusively rely on, and will be protected in relying on, instructions from DTC or its nominee, including instructions about the registration and delivery, and the respective principal amounts, of the Notes to be issued.

# Same-Day Settlement and Payment

Settlement for the Notes will be made by the underwriter in immediately available funds. So long as the Notes are represented by global securities registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, all payments of principal and interest will be made by us in immediately available funds. In addition, so long as the Notes are represented by such Global Securities, the Notes will trade in DTC's Same-Day Funds Settlement System, and secondary market trading activity in the Notes will therefore be required by DTC to settle in immediately available funds. No assurance can be given as to the effect, if any, of settlement in immediately available funds on trading activity in the Notes.

# **EXHIBIT 21**

# SUBSIDIARIES OF M.D.C. HOLDINGS, INC.

Name	State of Organization	Doing Business As
Allegiant Insurance Company, Inc., A Risk Retention Group	Hawaii	Borning Buomicoo 710
American Home Insurance Agency, Inc.	Colorado	AHI Insurance Agency
American Home Title and Escrow Company	Colorado	American Home Transaction Services Company
HomeAmerican Mortgage Corporation	Colorado	Home American Mortgage Corporation
M.D.C. Land Corporation	Colorado	MDC Land Flight Operations Co. Richmond Developments Limited
RAH of Florida, Inc.	Colorado	
Richmond American Construction, Inc.	Delaware	
Richmond American Construction NM, Inc. (formerly known as Richmond American Homes Five, Inc.)	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes Corporation	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes of Arizona, Inc.	Delaware	
Richmond American Homes of Colorado, Inc.	Delaware	
Richmond American Homes of Florida, LP	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes of Idaho, Inc. (formerly known as Richmond American Homes of Illinois, Inc.)	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes of Maryland, Inc.	Maryland	Richmond American Homes of California, Inc.
Richmond American Homes of Nevada, Inc.	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes of New Mexico, Inc. (formerly known as Richmond American Homes Three, Inc.)	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes of Oregon, Inc.	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes of Pennsylvania, Inc.	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes of Tennessee, Inc. (formerly known as Richmond American Homes of New Jersey, Inc.)	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes of Texas, Inc. (formerly known as Richmond American Homes Four, Inc.)	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes of Utah, Inc.	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes of Virginia, Inc.	Virginia	
Richmond American Homes of Washington, Inc.	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes Six, Inc.	Colorado	
Richmond American Homes Seven, Inc.	Colorado	
Richmond Realty, Inc.	Colorado	
Richmond Realty of Washington, Inc.	Colorado	
StarAmerican Insurance Ltd.	Hawaii	

# Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

- (1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-232327) of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc.,
- (2) Registration Statements (Form S-8 No. 333-174110, Form S-8 No. 333-18311, Form S-8 333-203863, Form S-8 No. 333-203864, Form S-8 No. 333-217796, and Form S-8 No. 333-231174) pertaining to the M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan and the M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2020 Equity Plan for Non-Employee Directors, and
- (3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-255657) pertaining to the M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan;

of our reports dated February 1, 2022, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2021.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Denver, Colorado

February 1, 2022

### CERTIFICATIONS

### I, Larry A. Mizel, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles:
  - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. /s/ Larry A. Mizel

Date: February 1, 2022

Executive Chairman (principal executive officer)

### CERTIFICATIONS

### I, Robert N. Martin, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles:
  - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. /s/ Robert N. Martin

Date: February 1, 2022

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer)

# CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned principal executive officer of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. (the "Company") hereby certifies that the Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2021 accompanying this certification, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in the periodic report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 1, 2022

/s/ Larry A. Mizel
Larry A. Mizel
Executive Chairman
(principal executive officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 1350 of Title 18, United States Code, and is not being filed as part of the report or as a separate disclosure document.

# CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned principal financial officer of M.D.C. Holdings, Inc. (the "Company") hereby certifies that the Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2021 accompanying this certification, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in the periodic report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 1, 2022

/s/ Robert N. Martin
Robert N. Martin
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 1350 of Title 18, United States Code, and is not being filed as part of the report or as a separate disclosure document.